A NNUAL REPORT
2003 – 2004

Vision
To create and provide world-recognised botanic gardens and parks to inspire the conservation of
biodiversity.

Mission
To conserve and enhance Kings Park and Botanic Garden and Bold Park with the community.

Core Business
n

To care for, control and manage botanic gardens, urban bushland and parks;

n

To enhance cultural heritage;

n

To conserve and enhance biodiversity through research and education; and

n

To provide quality recreational and tourism services and facilities.

Guiding Principles
n

Striving for excellence through continuous innovation and improvement;

n

Exceeding the expectations of visitor, partner and stakeholders;

n

Building and sustaining a cooperative and dedicated community of staff, volunteers and
stakeholders;

n

Achieving environmentally sustainable practice; and

n

Working with our land and heritage with due respect.
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CHAIRMAN ’S

report
I have pleasure in presenting this fifth Botanic Gardens and Parks Authority
Annual Report.
The 2003/2004 year was both challenging and rewarding for the Authority with the completion of a
number of significant capital works and other restoration activities. With visitor numbers increasing to over
5 million during the period, Kings Park and Botanic Garden has continued to establish itself as one of the
most important cultural and heritage icons in the State. For the Western Australian community and
visitors, the “People’s Park” delivers quality and diverse range of activities and experiences from concerts
and festivals to bushwalks and guided tours.
The projects completed (or near completion) during the year include the:
n

n

Lotterywest Federation Walkway, Bali Memorial and Pines picnic area, Stage 2 of the Western Power
parkland and upgrade of the Law Walk in Kings Park and Botanic Garden; and
Western Australian Ecology Centre and Reabold Hill Summit Boardwalk in Bold Park.

Other achievements during the year include the Authority’s involvement in the breakthrough discovery of
a novel compound, identified as the germination-active principal in smoke, which could have significant
benefits in the fields of restoration ecology and horticulture.
On behalf of the Board, I would like to commend the superb efforts and enthusiasm of our staff and
volunteers of the Authority. It is a pleasure to be involved with such a dedicated and professional
collection of individuals and groups whose harmonious working relationships and tireless efforts are an
inspiration to us all. The end result is the impressive condition of the Parks and Botanic Gardens and the
high standard of the services provided to the public.
Whilst the Authority is well positioned to continue to deliver such high quality services, it has lost the
services of our Chief Executive Officer, Dr Stephen Hopper. After twelve years of outstanding service,
Steve has resigned effective 30 June 2004 to assume the new position of Chair of Plant Conservation
Biology at The University of Western Australia. Steve has made an enormous contribution to the Authority
through his scientific and management achievements. On behalf of the Board I would like to thank Steve
for the leadership and commitment he has provi ded the Authority during his tenure and wish him well in
the next chapter of his professional life.
The Authority has also enjoyed the active commitment, support and involvement of the Hon. Dr Judy
Edwards, Minister for the Environment and her staff. On behalf of the Board, I would like to extend my
sincere appreciation to the Minister and her staff.
The Authority is delighted to work with five volunteer groups active within Bold Park and Kings Park and
Botanic Garden. These groups deliver invaluable services through the many thousands of volunteer
hours to the Authority, without which the Parks could not efficiently function. The Board owes a great debt
to the Kings Park Guides, the Friend of Kings Park, the Master Gardeners, the Friends of Bold Park
Bushland and the Honour Avenue Committee. On behalf of the Board, I would like to extend my sincere
appreciation for the outstanding community service provided by these volunteer groups.
The Authority continues to enjoy the support of major sponsors listed at the front of this Annual Report.
We gratefully appreciate their generous contribution towards many important programs undertaken for the
community.

4

ANNUAL REPORT 2003 - 2004

The coming year promises to continue to be an exciting and challenging period. The recently completed
Kings Park and Botanic Garden Management Plan for 2004 to 2009 sets out the priorities in the coming
years including:
n
n
n
n
n

Ongoing bushland restoration work;
Focus on continued quality of the Botanic Garden and displays;
Assessment of redevelopment options for the Royal Kings Park tennis club;
Completion of the Fraser Avenue retail outlet; and
Upgrade of the Lotterywest Family Area.

The Board is also excited about the coming year and I would like to extend my thanks to all the members
of the Board for their tireless efforts and valuable contributions throughout the year. I look forward to
continue working with the Board to ensure we represent and deliver effective outcomes for the Western
Australian community.

Mr Richard Simpson
Chairman
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BOARD OF M ANAGEMENT

appointments
The Board of Management (“The Board”) has been the governing body of the Botanic Gardens and Parks
Authority since the Authority was established in 1999.
Board members are appointed by the Minister for the Environment and are eligible for re-appointment at
the end of their term.
Members of the Board are appointed according to their experience in areas relevant to the Botanic
Gardens and Parks Authority’s activities. The Board membership as at 30 June 2004 was:

Mr Richard S F Simpson
Chairman
In December 2002, Mr Simpson was appointed Chairman of the Board of Management for a period
expiring on 30 December 2005. Mr Simpson has over 15 years experience in providing investment
banking advice to a range of corporate and government clients in both Australia and internationally. He
has worked with investment banks in London, Sydney, Melbourne and Perth. More recently, he is
Managing Director and Head of Corporate Finance at Hartleys Limited.
Mr Ross J Willcock
Deputy Chairman
In September 1999, Mr Willcock was appointed Deputy Chairman of the Board. Mr Willcock is the
immediate past Mayor of the Town of Cambridge, and has a background in business development and
management.
Professor John A Considine
In September 1999, Professor Considine was appointed to the Board. Professor Considine is professor of
horticulture and viticulture at The University of Western Australia.
Mr Farley Garlett
In December 2002, Mr Garlett was appointed to the Board. Mr Garlett is a Commissioner with the
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Commission.
Dr Pauline Grierson
In December 2002, Dr Grierson was appointed to the Board. Dr Grierson is a senior lecturer in the School
of Plant Biology at The University of Western Australia.
Mrs Patricia J Hart
In September 2001, Mrs Hart was appointed to the Board. Mrs Hart is a member of the Swan River Trust
Board, the Swan Catchment Council and Araluen Botanic Park Board. She is also Chairperson of the
South East Regional Landcare.
Ms Clare Power
In December 2002, Ms Power was appointed to the Board. Ms Power is a solicitor and partner of the legal
firm Fearis Salter Power Shervington.
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Mrs Corinne MacRae
In June 2003 Mrs MacRae was appointed to the Board. Mrs MacRae is Deputy Mayor of the Town of
Cambridge and is a member of the Western Australian Planning Commission.
Membership
Membership of the Botanic Garden and Parks Authority Board of Management from 1 July 2003 to
30 June 2004:
Members Name

Term Commenced

Term Expires

Richard Simpson
Chairman

16 December 2002

31 December 2005

13

Ross J Willcock
Deputy Chairman

31 August 2003

31 August 2005

13

John Considine

16 December 2002

31 December 2004

10

Farley Garlett

15 December 2003

31 December 2004

1

Pauline Grierson

15 December 2003

31 December 2005

7

Patricia Hart

31 August 2003

31 August 2005

12

Clare Power

16 December 2002

31 December 2004

11

Corinne McRae

23 June 2003

31 December 2005

12

Members (left to right):
Corinne MacRae, Pauline Grierson, John Considine,
Pat Hart, Richard Simpson, Ross Willcock.
Clare Power (front). Absent: Farley Garlett.
Photo: Peter Maloney
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HIGHLIGHTS

report
An estimated 5.2 million visitors came to Kings Park
and Botanic Garden in 2003/2004, ensuring it remains
the State’s top tourist and local attraction and much
loved Western Australian icon.

ν Work Commenced on the Fraser Avenue

ν A number of major events were held in

the upgrade of the Lotterywest Family Area
at Hale Oval. Lotterywest have now provided
$1.2 million for the upgrade, which will be
completed in 2004/2005.

Kings Park and Botanic Garden to enhance
visitor enjoyment. The concerts, cinema,
festival and theatre performances attracted
approximately 136,000 visitors compared
with 128,500 people the year before. The
regular major events including ANZAC Day,
New Years Eve and Skyworks attracted
another 85,000 visitors to the tally.
Fraser Avenue:
A magnificent entry
to Kings Park and
Botanic Garden

ν An upgrade of Law Walk, one of the most
scenic and unique walks in the Perth
metropolitan region, was completed.

ν Completed in August 2003, the Lotterywest
Federation Walkway has created an access
way to parts of the Western Australian
Botanic Garden previously less well visited.
This is a key element in the ongoing
implementation of the pedestrian pathway
system throughout the Garden by linking
other completed initiatives and facilitating
access to the southern end of the Garden.

ν A site adjacent to Fraser Avenue was
chosen for the construction of the Bali
Memorial. The Memorial was completed by
October 2003 in time for the first anniversary
of the Bali tragedy. As part of the project, the
adjacent Pines Picnic Area was substantially
renovated.

ν Construction of the Western Australian
Ecology Centre in Bold Park was almost
completed (with practical completion due
mid July 2004). Construction of the Reabold
Hill Summit Boardwalk and Lookouts was
also well advanced this year.

ν Stage 2 of the Western Power Parkland
works commenced and is due for completion
in early July 2004. The new works comprise
a boardwalk across the lake leading to
Lycopod Island, with solar powered replica
stromatolites positioned in the lake to assist
with the powering of a water misting system
in a calamite forest located on the island.
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Retail Outlet and the Plant Conservation
Centre.

ν Discussions continued with Lotterywest on

ν The Wildflower Festival celebrated its 40th
Anniversary in 2003 and the floral displays
reflected display techniques from the 1960’s
through to the current day. The displays
demonstrated that each past Festival has
consistently celebrated the diversity and
uniqueness of the Western Australian flora.

ν The development of the Western Australian
Display at Pacific Flora 2004 International
Garden and Horticulture Exhibition, to be
held in Japan with an expected attendance
of five million people.
This included planning and managing the
development of a landscape in Japan from
Australia, along with logistics such as:
exporting to Japan 40 tonnes of Western
Australian rocks, plants, materials and
artefacts; sourcing around 5000 local
perennial plants or seedlings; coordinating
four staff members to live in Japan for up to
one month in order to complete the final
exhibit;
and
managing
landscape
contractors in Japan.
The exhibit has been judged to be one of the
best at this International Exhibition. To the
end of June 2004, it has received one
honour award, two best awards, six gold
medals, 18 silver and 31 bronze medals.

ν A new entry statement for the Nature Trail
was constructed to raise the profile of this
interpretive bushland trail to visitors in Kings
Park and Botanic Garden.

ν Ecological restoration works continued on
the scarp and on the bushland plateau with
30,000 seedlings planted in Kings Park and
Botanic Garden and over 33,000 plants local
to Bold Park were planted there in winter
2003.
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ν New plant species continue to be discovered
with the most recent finds including
Caladenia arrecta, Haemodorum loratum,
Diplolaena dampieri, and Levenhookia
pusilla. The locations of species in low
numbers or restricted in distribution were
accurately mapped and intensively managed
to ensure no species are lost within Kings
Park and Botanic Garden.

ν A

comprehensive flora survey was
undertaken of over 70 hectares in Bold Park.
A fungi survey recorded 60 species, of which
15 are new records for Bold Park. This
survey brings the total number of fungi
species recorded in Bold Park to 180.

ν The

WA Seed Technology Centre’s
collaboration with the Millennium Seed Bank
project has enabled increased numbers of
seed collections to be made during the year
with over 300 botanical collections made.

ν The Authority continued to collaborate and
attract major research funding, with the
group applying for, or being awarded, a
record $3 million of nationally competitive
and industry grants with a total of nine
Australian Research Council grants received
and more than 20 industry and allied grants
from across the State.

ν Currently there are more than 20 PhD and
honours programs active with an additional
two PhD degrees awarded and three
honours
programs
concluded
over
2003/2004. The School of Plant Biology at
The University of Western Australia (UWA)
and the AUTHORITY initiated a Plant
Conservation and Restoration Biology unit in
2004.

ν Twenty

five publications appeared in
international journals, in addition to one
book launched in September 2003 (Orchid
Conservation; Natural History Publications).
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ν Testing of a novel compound, identified as
the germination-active principal in smoke on
a wide range of Australian species is
continuing. The use of this compound is a
major breakthrough and its use in seed
germination, soil seedbank auditing and
broadscale land restoration is now under
development.

ν A definitive field guide to the native and
weedy plants of bushland and coast Kings
Park and Botanic Garden and Bold Park is
nearing completion and represents the first
comprehensive guide for both bushland
areas.

ν The comparison of DNA sequences has
shed new light on the relationships and
genetic similarity of species in the
horticulturally significant fan-flower family
(Goodeniaceae). This ARC funded research,
in collaboration with industry partner
Western
Australian
Department
of
Agriculture, underpins the efficiency of the
horticultural breeding program of plants such
as Scaevola and Lechenaultia at Kings Park
and Botanic Garden. DNA fingerprinting is
also efficiently identifying novel hybrids from
the breeding program.

ν The first production of substantial seedling
numbers (approx. 150 seedlings) of the
critically endangered underground orchid
under controlled conditions was achieved.

ν The

translocation
of
the
critically
endangered Corrigin Grevillea has seen for
the first time, natural recruits on one of the
three translocation sites. Also for the first
time in Australia, cryostored material has
been successfully propagated, transplanted
and grown on, while plants have also
flowered and produced viable seed. New
clones from wild populations are continually
placed in tissue culture and resulting plants
are added to sites. At present, over 1,600
mature plants are growing on the three
translocation sites.
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STRATEGIC

plan 2003 - 2006
THE STRATEGIC CONTEXT
n

The Botanic Gardens and Parks Authority Act 1998 charges the Authority with the care, control and
management of designated lands.

n

The Act identifies functions and powers that underpin the management of the State’s Botanic Garden
and requires conservation of natural landscapes, biodiversity management, research and educational
programs.

n

Kings Park and Botanic Garden is the major ceremonial and cultural heritage venue in Western
Australia and the most popular Western Australian tourist destination. Both Kings Park and Botanic
Garden and Bold Park have extensive areas of unique urban bushland.

n

The Strategic Plan is endorsed by the Board of Management and the Minister for the Environment.

n

The Botanic Gardens and Parks Authority works within the Strategic Planning Framework for the
Western Australian Public Sector (“Better Planning: Better Services”, November 2003).

OUTPUTS, OUTCOMES AND STRATEGIES
The Botanic Gardens and Parks Authority provides and inspires ‘care, control and management’ of the
land through the delivery of two key outputs:
Output 1 – Customer Services and Cultural Heritage
This Output and Outcome links directly with Goal 1 (People and Communities) and Goal 3 (The Environment) of the Strategic
Planning Framework for the Western Australian Public Sector (“Better Planning: Better Services”, November 2003).

OUTCOME

World-recognised recreation, cultural heritage and tourism experiences within
the context of very special urban bushlands, parklands and botanic garden
environments.

THIS O UTCOME IS
ACHIEVED THROUGH:

ν Providing a range of visitor opportunities and experiences;
ν Providing a safe and accessible environment;
ν Providing high standard public services and facilities;
ν Developing and delivering appropriate events and venues;
ν Maintaining and improving urban bushland, parklands and botanic gardens with a
focus on Western Australian heritage;
ν Improving and promoting knowledge and enjoyment of Kings Park and Botanic
Garden and Bold Park through public awareness and education initiatives;
ν Conserving, promoting and developing Aboriginal, colonial and contemporary
cultural heritage; and
ν Undertaking and promoting research and investigation in matters relating to this
output.
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Output 2 – Biodiversity Conservation and Scientific Research
This Output and Outcome links directly with Goal 3 (The Environment) of the Strategic Planning Framework for the Western
Australian Public Sector (“Better Planning: Better Services”, November 2003).

OUTCOME

THIS O UTCOME IS
ACHIEVED THROUGH:

Conservation and enhancement of Western Australian bushland and other
flora.
ν Implementing publicly reviewed management plans;
ν Displaying and undertaking research on Western Australian and other flora;
ν Conserving, developing and managing collections of Western Australian and
other flora;
ν Promoting the use of flora for the purposes of horticulture, conservation and
education; and
ν Undertaking and promoting research and investigation pertinent to integrated
conservation of flora and biodiversity.

EFFICIENCY AND EFFECTIVENESS
n

Providing good resource planning, management and reporting systems;

n

Seeking opportunities for improvement in consolidated funding, and seeking new revenue
opportunities, through appropriate sponsorships and business initiatives;

n

Providing a balance in activities sympathetic to biodiversity conservation;

n

Attracting, retaining and valuing quality staff;

n

Supporting and delivering volunteer services as appropriate;

n

Providing a rewarding and productive work environment;

n

Seeking new strategic alliances, while retaining and refreshing existing alliances and fostering good
working relationships with Government and private organisations;

n

Upholding good corporate governance principles and complying with relevant legislation; and

n

Encouraging and maintaining mutually beneficial partnerships with relevant communities and
community organisations.

EVALUATION
This Strategic Plan sets the direction for 2003 to 2006, and is reviewed annually.
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CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER ’S

report
“I am looking forward to the Botanic Gardens and Parks Authority achieving world class standards across
all its facilities and services in its first five years of operation. The opportunities provided by the new Act,
combined with the realisation of funding for major works and programs and the additional responsibility of
care and management of Bold Park, all signal significant new challenges to staff, volunteers, the Board of
Management and others helping us care for these special places.
By 2004, Kings Park and Botanic Garden will undergo major capital improvements in the Fraser Avenue
and Western Australian Botanic Garden precincts. In addition, subject to successful negotiations with
sponsors,
Lakeside
and
Arthur
Fairall
Playground
will
also
be
refurbished.
The
Mt Eliza Scarp Restoration Project will be well advanced. Our programs in visitor services, cultural
heritage, living collections, natural heritage, corporate development and plant science will all be delivered
at world-class standards.
For Bold Park, in five years we will be well on the way towards implementation of the foundation
management plan. Ecological restoration works will be a prominent activity. There is also the potential for
Bold Park to become a centre for ecological field studies and a unique opportunity to raise community
1
understanding, appreciation and involvement of coastal landforms and biodiversity.”
It is pleasing to report that these predictions have been met or exceeded by the extraordinary team of
staff and volunteers working for the Botanic Gardens and Parks Authority.
KINGS PARK AND BOTANIC GARDEN
The Fraser Avenue precinct has had the predicted capital improvements, with the State War Memorial
refurbishment almost ready to commence, the retail outlet and Plant Conservation Centre now under
construction and completed works including the Flame of Remembrance, automatic irrigation project,
restaurant precinct landscaping project, new directional and interpretive signage, and the new entrance to
the Western Australian Botanic Garden.
The latter precinct has had the wonderful addition of the Lotterywest Federation Walkway, shortly to
receive its millionth visitor just one year after opening, and completion of stage 1 of the Conservation
Garden, including the Wildflower Pavilion and associated Volunteer’s Garden. Tenders for the Tuart
Pavilion will soon be let.
Lakeside has become Western Power Parkland, now receiving final touches to stage 2 that will deliver a
new boardwalk and stromatolite artwork experience as well as a calamite artwork forest on Lycopod
Island complete with a child-activated misting system and new surface matting embedded with the
outlines of ancient plants and animals that first lived on land. Doubts have long since dissipated that there
would be problems in refurbishing this popular precinct to a world class playground and community picnic
area themed on the link between energy and Western Australia’s fossil biodiversity. Western Power
Parkland has exceeded predicted visitation levels by three-fold, and Café Zamia has been a real success,
its popularity helping boost through overflow visitation other areas in Kings Park and Botanic Garden such
as Sticky Beaks Playground Café in the Lotterywest Family Area at Hale Oval.
The latter Family Area received a welcome boost on 29 June 2004 when the Minister for the
Environment, Dr Judy Edwards, on behalf of the Premier, presented a cheque from Lotterywest for $1.2
million to the Friends of Kings Park for a major refurbishment themed around families and Western
Australian biodiversity.
1

Hopper, S.D. 1999 ‘Chief Executive Officers Report’ Kings Park and Botanic Garden Annual Report 1999
– Final Report of the Kings Park Board 1895 – 1999. P7
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Final interpretive signage is being placed along Law Walk to complete Stage 1 of the Mt Eliza Scarp
Project, and plans are now under development for Stage 2. This project has delivered major
improvements to public safety, bushland restoration and public enjoyment of the Scarp, as well as a
significant scientific contribution that will help other similar projects in Australia and overseas. Everywhere
you look in Kings Park and Botanic Garden, world-class services and infrastructure are now evident. It
has been a remarkable five years, testament to the power of giving skilled and imaginative people
sufficient resources combined with professional teamwork to deliver high quality outcomes in the context
of strong public support through consultative planning.
Of special note has been the award-winning display of Western Australian flora managed and presented
by the Authority at Pacific Flora 2004 in Japan. Also, the Science team has played a key role in coediting
the book arising from the First International Orchid Conservation Congress hosted by Kings Park and
Botanic Garden. Moreover, three significant international science papers are in press at the time of
writing: “A compound from smoke that promotes seed germination”, by Gavin R. Flematti, Emilio L.
Ghisalberti, Kingsley W. Dixon, Robert D. Trengove (Science, in press), Mark Brundrett’s “Diversity and
classification of mycorrhizal associations” (Biological Reviews , in press), and S.D. Hopper and P. Gioia’s
“The Southwest Australian Floristic Region: Evolution and Conservation of a Global Hotspot of
Biodiversity” (Annual Revi ew of Ecology, Evolution and Systematics, in press).
A NEW MANAGEMENT PLA N FOR KINGS PARK AND BOTANIC GARDEN
The new plan, described in detail elsewhere in this report, was launched by the Minister for the
Environment on 29 June 2004. This occurred at the culmination of more than two years of consultative
planning. Completion of projects detailed in the plan over the next few years will achieve all objectives of
the 10-year Centennial Enhancement Project launched in 1995.
BOLD PARK
A strong research front-end to the Bold Park bushland restoration project is placing this 30-year program
on an informed footing. Although it is very much early days, restoration works already undertaken show
considerable promise, and highlight the need to develop unique local approaches given the
extraordinarily rapid turnover of plants and some animals across southwest Australian landscapes. It is
evident that what might work in Kings Park’s bushland may not be appropriate in Bold Park, even though
the two reserves are just 10 km apart.
The Western Australian Ecology Centre is almost constructed at the time of writing, and the Reabold Hill
Summit Boardwalk is well advanced. These projects will greatly enhance use of Bold Park as a centre for
ecological field studies. The unique opportunity to raise community understanding, appreciation and
involvement of coastal landforms and biodiversity is slowly being realised by the professional team of staff
and volunteers at Bold Park.
FAREWELL
On this, the last day of my twelve years service as CEO of the agency, I am moved by a mixture of pride,
humility and some sadness. Pride in the historic achievements of all involved in caring for Kings Park and
Botanic Garden, and more recently for Bold Park, over these past 12 years. Humility in the realisation that
both Parks are much bigger than individuals and their time spent with these eternal lands. Sadness in
leaving such a fine group of people, staff and volunteers, Minister and Board, lessees, colleagues and
visitors.
My departure is in response to a call to play a role in learning, researching and hopefully teaching about
the special challenges all people face today in living sustainably with biodiversity on an increasingly
crowded Earth. Much that I have to offer in this field I owe to the people, parks and gardens I have come
to know and care for during my time with the Kings Park Board and the Botanic Gardens and Parks
Authority.
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I owe a tribute to all involved in this journey. I wanted to pay special thanks to Liz Suttie, Executive Officer
of outstanding flair, empathy and an inspiration to so many, an irreplaceable work partner and thoroughly
professional in all endeavours. Her commitment to providing high quality public service and enjoying work
typifies the team at THE AUTHORITY. A Lizless working life in my next career is a daunting prospect
indeed.
There are many others, past and present, leaders and doers, staff, Board members, volunteers,
Ministers, colleagues, each of whom has contributed to our ultimate strategic goals these past 12 years of
achieving world-class parks, gardens and services, and inspiring the conservation of biodiversity. I thank
them all. Both Kings Park and Botanic Garden and Bold Park are better places for their collective efforts
and it has been my privilege to serve as part of the team in achieving this. It is a credit to all involved,
delivering outcomes on which we can all reflect proudly for years to come.
I am delighted that an ongoing research collaboration with THE AUTHORITY is planned for my new role
as Professor of Plant Conservation Biology at the University of Western Australia.
I wish the Authority a bright future, and will maintain a keen interest in its activities.

Dr Stephen Hopper
CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER, 1992 - 2004

Dr Stephen D Hopper
Photo courtesy of Post Newspapers
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BOTANIC GARDENS

parks and recreation

DIRECTORATE OBJECTIVES

ν To conserve, enhance and promote recreational and tourist resources and cultural heritage for visitor
enjoyment.

ν To provide a quality horticultural experience for visitors to Kings Park and Botanic Garden.
ν To enhance, conserve, understand and appreciate Western Australian and other flora.
ν To conserve and enhance the urban bushland managed by the Botanic Gardens and Parks Authority.
OVERVIEW
This year has continued to be a busy time in both Kings Park and Botanic Garden and Bold Park. The
enthusiasm and dedication of staff, who have continued to manage and maintain existing assets, while
planning and implementing a range of capital works programs, is to be commended.

CUSTOMER SERVICES
Major events
A number of major events were held in the past year to enhance visitor enjoyment in designated lands
managed by the Authority. The concerts, cinema, festival and theatre performances attracted
approximately 136,000 visitors compared with 128,500 people the year before. The regular major events
ANZAC Day, New Years Eve and Skyworks contributed another 85,000 visitors to the tally.
The main visitor experiences included:
September 2003
th
The Wildflower Festival celebrated its 40 Birthday in 2003
and attracted 24,000 people over five days. The Festival
continues to provide a stunning annual showcase of the
beauty and intricacies of the State’s indigenous flora
through massed displays in garden beds, various
presentations, and interpretative events.
December 2003
Sunset Live presented Alex Lloyd in concert in the Botanic
Garden to a capacity audience of 5,400 people.
Presented by Mellen Events, Joan Armatrading and Boz
Scaggs performed to a relaxed crowd of 4,200 people.
More than 6,000 people attended Kings Park and Botanic
Garden to celebrate New Year.
December 2003 to January 2004
The theatrical performance of Shakespeare’s comedy A
Midsummer Night’s Dream was presented by Deckchair
Theatre in the Botanic Garden and attracted 12,639 people.
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December 2003 to March 2004
Movies under the stars presented by Sunset Cinema attracted 56,978 people at the Western Power
Parkland. For the next five years, management of the cinema will be undertaken by Moonlight Cinema.
January 2004
The annual Australia Day Skyworks on the Swan River attracted approximately 35,000 to various vantage
points in Kings Park and Botanic Garden.
Prompt Corner presented Peter Pan and Wendy at the Saw Avenue Amphitheatre. This children’s
production attracted 3,269 children and adults during its summer season.
February 2004
Mellen Events presented Jewel in concert to 4,200 people in the Botanic Garden.
The four Western Australian Symphony Orchestra (WASO) Concerts in the Botanic Garden attracted
close to 15,000 people. WASO with the Whitlams was a huge success with two sell-out concerts to a
younger demographic.
April 2004
Sunset Live presented the Botanic Blues and Roots Festival in the Botanic Garden over two days,
attracting 7,108 people. Michael Franti and James Brown were the main attractions.
The annual ANZAC Day Dawn Service attracted over 20,000 people.
Information brochures
Two new brochures promoting weddings and functions in Kings Park and Botanic Garden were produced
to assist visitors with planning their special function in the Park.
A Lotterywest Federation Walkway brochure was produced to coincide with the opening of the Walkway.
Thousands of brochures were distributed to Walkway visitors between August 2003 and February 2004.
Over 5,000 Summer Events postcards were distributed in Perth to inform the community about the range
of events on offer over the summer period.
In excess of 25,000 Wildflower Festival brochures were distributed throughout Perth, regional WA and the
Eastern States.
The Bali Memorial brochure was produced for the launch of the Memorial on 12 October 2003.
A new Education poster featuring a range of new programs was designed and emailed to all schools in
the State.
Visitor Liaison
The Park Management Officers (PMOs) play a vital role in visitor liaison. The PMOs had daily contact
with the Kings Park Guides and weekly interactions with all lease operators through the distribution of
weekly booking sheets for functions held in the Park. The PMOs are playing a more active and accessible
role in liaising with Park visitors.
Part of the PMOs role is to ensure visitors comply with AUTHORITY Regulations. This year they issued
464 Regulation Infringement Notices, with 423 being for parking offences and 41 for other offences
including speeding.
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Two hour parking on weekdays (excluding public holidays) was implemented on Fraser Avenue to reduce
the incidence of people parking in Kings Park and Botanic Garden and then walking to work in West Perth
or the CBD, effectively reducing the number of car parking places available for visitors. The availability of
car parking places available for visitors has noticeably increased on Fraser Avenue since the two-hour
was introduced in June. Car parking in Kings Park and Botanic Garden remains free.
Function bookings
The Visitor Services staff processed 856 bookings, with 408 being for weddings. Approximately 42,969
people visited Kings Park and Botanic Garden as a result of these booked functions. The PMOs also
liaised closely with people attending the majority of functions.
Visitor Feedback and Research
Visitor feedback plays a critical role in general management and planning. Communication books are
used in the Kings Park Guides Information Centre and at Sticky Beaks Playground Café. The Authority
checks these daily to ensure timely action is taken to address any complaint or concern.
Annual visitor surveys indicated more than 90% of visitors spent more than an hour on average on each
visit to Kings Park and Botanic Garden, and more than 75% visited more than twice over the twelve
month period.
Additional survey information on visitor satisfaction with services and facilities, and visitor experiences in
the Botanic Garden are also reported in the Performance Indicators at the end of this report.
Conservation Awareness Education Programs
The Discover Kings Park Education Officers delivered 164 lessons during the year. Approximately 5,500
students attended Kings Park and Botanic Garden as a result of these education programs.
There were an additional 267 visits to the Park with an educational component, consisting of 15,000
participants.
New lessons have been developed, with accompanying Teacher’s Resource Notes have been developed
specifically for the Lotterywest Federation Walkway, Kokoda Track and Western Power Parkland.
Public Education and Interpretation
A Speakers’ Program was successfully delivered during the 2003 Wildflower Festival offering a
comprehensive range of talks and demonstrations on the theme of Western Australian flora.
Guided walks offered twice daily by the Volunteer Guides attracted 4336 walkers, 1219 people
participated in Wildflower bushwalks during the Wildflower Festival and 1436 people joined specially
booked guided walks; a total of 6991 people enjoyed guided walks in Kings Park and Botanic Garden.
New Interpretive Signage for visitors has been developed for the Lotterywest Federation Walkway
highlighting the story of Federation, the trees of the Swan Coastal Plain and the Nyoongar stories of the
local plants and six seasons.
Interpretive signs highlighting the plight of rare and critically endangered flora and the restoration plans
for their survival have been prepared for installation in the new Conservation and Volunteers Garden.
160 new tree labels for Fraser Avenue and 1,400 new plant labels for the Botanic Garden were written,
produced and installed this year.
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Eight new interpretive signs for Fraser Avenue have been developed covering areas such as the State
War Memorial, the Court of Contemplation, the history of the Fraser Avenue Lemon-scented Gums and
the Honour Avenues.
Cultural Heritage and Tourism Outcomes
Training to promote a better understanding of Aboriginal, especially Noongar history was provided to all
staff this year.
VOLUNTEERS
The Botanic Gardens and Parks Authority is very fortunate to have the dedicated involvement of five
volunteer groups:
n
n
n
n
n

Kings Park Guides;
Friends of Kings Park;
Honour Avenue Maintenance Group;
Master Gardeners; and
Friends of Bold Park.

Their commitment means the Authority can offer outstanding customer services well in excess of those
offered solely by Authority staff. In supporting the volunteers, the Authority provides training, information
and some administrative support. For further information about specific achievements and activities,
please see the reports from each of the volunteer groups in this Annual Report.
PROGRAMS FOR YOUTH
The Botanic Gardens and Parks Authority attempts to provide for all age groups and has no specific
program to identify in relation to the reporting requirements of the Office of Youth Affairs. However, the
Authority host’s events and concerts in Kings Park and Botanic Garden that aim to attract younger
people, such as The Western Australian Symphony Orchestra with the Whitlams. A unique, themed play
and educational experience aimed specifically at 7 to 14 year old children in the Western Power Parkland
has been developed, with Stage 2 just being completed. The Discover Kings Park Educational program
provides for children from kindergarten through to high school.
CULTURAL DIVERSITY AND LANGUAGE SERVICES OUTCOMES
The Botanic Gardens and Parks Authority attracts millions of visitors annually to lands it manages. An
estimated 5.2 million people visited Kings Park and Botanic Garden in 2003/2004.
Recent improvements in signage have included the use of international symbols for directions and
information about facilities. Most publications and signage are in English and some carry interpretations
based on local indigenous languages. The free guided walks are also conducted in English. Over the next
two years, the Botanic Gardens and Parks Authority intends to investigate the language needs and
cultural diversity of visitors to better tailor specific services and facilities as required.
DISABILITY SERVICES PLAN
Since the adoption of the original Disability Services Plan in December 1995, the Authority has continued
to progress the implementation of the Plan to ensure a high standard of visitor facilities and services for
all visitors.
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Outcome 1 - Existing services are adapted to ensure they meet the needs of people with disabilities.
ACHIEVEMENTS TO DATE:

ν Parking and set down areas were provided for people with disabilities, and
those accompanying them, during 2003 events including the Sunset Events,
Sky Works Evening and Anzac Day. On Anzac Day the Authority, in
collaboration with the RSL, put out notices informing participants of disability
parking and set down areas.
ν In order to better cater for people with disabilities at events, areas are set
aside for chairs, deck chairs and wheelchairs and space for people to assist
people with disabilities.

FURTHER ISSUES
IDENTIFIED AND
STRATEGIES P ROPOSED:

ν The old style drinking water fountains are too high for wheelchair access and
a barrier to services and facilities. Drinking water fountains in the Fraser
Avenue Precinct have been identified as an issue and could be resolved by
replacement with installation of drinking water fountains similar to those
provided in Western Power Parkland.
ν As hire vehicles are not generally available for people with disabilities,
investigations are under way to encourage the Kings Park and Botanic
Garden Bike Hire lessee to include motorised electric vehicles for hire.
ν The feasibility of a service whereby Authority staff would drive people with
limited mobility in electric motorised Authority vehicles, is being investigated.

Outcome 2 - Access to buildings and facilities is improved. .
ACHIEVEMENTS TO DATE:

ν

The Lotterywest Federation Walkway was designed to ensure it is
accessible for people with disabilities. Assistance is provided on request by
Botanic Gardens and Parks Authority staff for those people who need
assistance with the glass and steel arched bridge within the Walkway,
(signage is provided to notify visitors of this).

ν

Western Power Parkland includes a disability access ramp at the Cafe
Zamia. The Interpretative Windy Walk at the Western Power Parkland has
disability access, and part of the play equipment provided has been
designed for children with disabilities. Wheelchair height drinking fountains
have been provided.

ν

Law Walk has been upgraded from concrete slabs to laid concrete to enable
better access for all.

ν

Fraser Avenue Precinct developments have included provision for improved
disabled access with additional paths and ramps.

ν

The Kings Park Road/Thomas Road entry to Kings Park and Botanic Garden
has been upgraded to include safer access provision for people with
disabilities.

ν

The Lotterywest Family Area upgrade planning has included negotiations for
the incorporation of disability access initiatives, including more areas
accessible for children with disabilities.
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continued…
ν

The Bali Memorial planning has included access for people with disabilities.

ν

Access to the Court of Contemplation of the War Memorial is being
investigated by the Botanic Gardens and Parks Authority staff and the RSL
via a portable hand rail lift mechanism, to be fitted and removed as
appropriate for specific events.

ν

The designs for the Western Australian Ecology Centre, the Reabold Hill
Enhancement Project, the Fraser Avenue Retail Outlet and the new Plant
Conservation Centre have all incorporated access for people with disabilities.

ν

As access to the Water Garden may be difficult for some people, Daily Living
Products provides motorised vehicles to assist people to get into such areas
during the annual Wildflower Festival.

ν To improve accessibility, one entrance to the Wildflower Festival has been
developed close to the main displays, with close, accessible parking for
people with limited mobility.

FURTHER ISSUES
IDENTIFIED AND
STRATEGIES P ROPOSED:

ν Lack of wheelchair access to the Royal Kings Park Tennis Club facilities and
the Main Lodge Visitor Services Buildings is a barrier to services and
facilities. These could be resolved by the installation of either lifts, handrail
lifts or ramps.

Outcome 3 - Information about facilities is provided in formats that enhance the communication needs of
people with disabilities.
ACHIEVEMENTS TO DATE:

ν

New signage in Kings Park and Botanic Garden has been installed including
directional, informational, interpretative and educational signage using
international signage standards, such as using designs specific for the
visually impaired.

ν

The Wheelchair Access Self-Guided Memorials Tour brochure has been
developed to include disabled access information for the 1.7 kilometre route.

ν

New tactile initiatives for a kinaesthetic feel experience have been provided,
including on the ground murals, interactive sculptures and artwork.

ν For convenience, and for people with visual impairment, recorded information
is available on the telephone.

FURTHER ISSUES
IDENTIFIED AND
STRATEGIES P ROPOSED:

ν

“Access for All” programs are being considered including signage for those
who cannot read English.

ν

Planning for the Lotterywest Family Area Upgrade has included
considerations for people with various sensory disabilities.
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Outcome 4 - Ensure advice and services are delivered by staff who are aware of and understand the needs
of visitors with disabilities.
ACHIEVEMENTS TO DATE:

ν Another Experiencing Disability Workshop is being planned for staff and
volunteers.
ν The Disability Services Plan annual review of implementation and update is
providing a mechanism for increasing staff awareness and understanding of
the needs of visitors with disabilities.
ν Police representatives were consulted as part of the Kings Park and Botanic
Garden’s Security Review 2003 by Authority staff on the handling of people
with intellectual disabilities in difficult situations.
ν The Botanic Gardens and Parks Authority has sought to employ staff
through programs which provide employment for people with disabilities and
there are similar work experience placements heightening Authority staff
awareness and understanding of people with disabilities.
ν In the interest of improving communication services, communication skills
with people with hearing and vision disabilities is part of Kings Park Guide
Training.
ν In order to promote limited mobility access initiatives, volunteer group
newsletters regularly remind members of existing and new paths that have
been built for people with limited mobility.

Outcome 5 - Opportunities are provided for people with disabilities to participate in public consultations,
grievance mechanisms and decision-making processes.
ACHIEVEMENTS TO DATE:

ν

Public consultation and decision making opportunities are provided through
the Kings Park and Botanic Garden Management Plan which is in an easy to
read, user friendly format and includes improving access in Kings Park and
Botanic Garden.

ν

A system for recording any grievances by people with disabilities, their
carers or family, is being implemented by the Botanic Gardens and Parks
Authority staff.

ν A random visitor survey is conducted annually, as a mechanism for
participation in public consultations, grievance mechanisms and decisionmaking processes.
BIODIVERSITY CONSERVATION
Works have continued within this branch this year towards achieving the objectives set in the
Environmental Management Plans for both Kings Park and Botanic Garden and Bold Park. Significant
progress has been made in the capital works program, including infrastructure development and
ecological restoration activities in both Parks that are described in more detail in the following pages.
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Fire Management
The Authority continued with its integrated approach to fire management in both Parks reducing fuel loads
through extensive veld grass control using herbicides, maintaining a comprehensive network of tracks as
fire breaks and emergency vehicle access and ensuring early detection and rapid suppression of fires.
There were no fires recorded for Bold Park and only one small fire (less than half a hectare in area)
occurred within Kings Park bushland during the fire season. This is the least number of fires recorded
since fire history has been documented for Kings Park and Botanic Garden over the past 60 years and, to
some extent, reflects the Authority’s commitment to comprehensive fire prevention measures.
Liaison continued with the Fire and Emergency Services Authority in relation to fire response and staff
training. Seven staff completed a two-day Incident Control System training course, six new staff were
trained in basic fire fighting and 37 staff successfully completed health and fitness assessments for fire
fighting.

MT ELIZA ESCARPMENT AND KINGS PARK BUSHLAND
Risk Management
An upgrade of Law Walk, one of the most scenic and unique walks in the Perth metropolitan region, was
completed this year as part of the Mt Eliza Escarpment Risk Management project. This pathway, which
traverses the crest of the escarpment for 2.25 kilometres and offers spectacular views of the rivers and
beyond, has been resurfaced to improve pedestrian access and provide a uniform pavement throughout.
Soak wells have been installed within the pathway to better manage stormwater runoff and reduce the
risk of erosion of the cliff face. Fencing has been erected for visitor safety along the steeper sections. A
fire control system has also been installed along the escarpment as part of this project.
A quantitative risk assessment of the escarpment was completed, the results of which are guiding
decision-making on management of geotechnical risks. The program of biannual geotechnical monitoring
of the scarp continued and remedial works were undertaken to minimise public risk associated with the
scarp.
Tree hazards along bushland tracks were identified as part of the Authority’s ongoing risk management
strategy. Pruning of trackside vegetation was completed to provide safe access for visitors and fire
emergency vehicles and roadside vegetation on Kings Park boundaries were pruned to improve sight
lines for drivers.
Conservation and Restoration
Ecological restoration works continued on the scarp and on the bushland plateau with 30,000 seedlings
planted across a range of sites, including a prominent area near the Forrest Roundabout, beneath the
Lotterywest Federation Walkway and adjacent to the Western Power Parkland. Irrigation was installed at
three of the sites to assist in the establishment of plantings over the first three years.
A range of industry and community groups assisted in the bushland restoration program, particularly the
Friends of Kings Park weekend and weekday Bushland Carers, who conducted a half-day activity every
fortnight.
Restoration monitoring was undertaken on the scarp to evaluate the progress of restoration across the
escarpment, understand the process of ecosystem recovery, identify appropriate follow-up restoration
measures and recommend best management practices currently known to maximise restoration success.
The seed collection program continued with 85 species collected, cleaned and recorded on database.
Seed from a total of 116 species local to Kings Park bushland is now held in storage for conservation and
restoration purposes.
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New plant species continue to be discovered with the most recent finds including Caladenia arrecta
(Reaching Spider Orchid), Haemodorum loratum, Diplolaena dampieri (Southern Diplolaena), and
Levenhookia pusilla (Midget Stylewort). The locations of species in low numbers or restricted in
distribution were accurately mapped and intensively managed to ensure no species are lost within the
Park.
A number of highly invasive weeds were targeted for control on the scarp and the plateau with 101
hectares sprayed for veld grass and 32 hectares on the plateau sprayed for bulbous weeds (primarily
freesias and sparaxis) to halt their spread into bushland areas. The systematic removal of woody weeds
from the bushland was ongoing with 33 species targeted, including a number of particularly invasive
eucalypt and acacia species from eastern Australia. The tree removal sites have progressively been
planted with local native trees and shrubs to enhance the native canopy structure that has been in decline
since the proliferation of introduced tree species.
A well-researched, integrated weed control program has significantly reduced bridal creeper populations
on the escarpment. Other exotic weeds which once dominated much of the cliff face, such as Agave
americana, are now well under control.
Visitor Facilities
A new entry statement for the Nature Trail was constructed to raise the profile of this interpretive
bushland trail to visitors to Kings Park and Botanic Garden. The entry features a striking open mia-mia
structure with artwork incorporated into the steelwork, new seating and signage and new paved areas
that link to the carpark and other facilities.
The surrounds to Rotunda Two overlooking the Swan River were upgraded as part of the Law Walk
project to complement the heritage style of the structure and entice visitors to take in the view.
Design of a lookout to be constructed adjacent to the Swan Carpark overlooking the Swan River and the
escarpment was completed. The design includes timber decking and a leaf shaped shelter and works
should commence in August 2004.
People counters were installed along bushland tracks to determine levels of visitor use and a visitor
survey was designed to measure visitor satisfaction, assess perceptions and understanding of the
bushland and explore opportunities to increase visitation to the bushland. The survey will be undertaken
during next financial year.

BOLD PARK
Western Australian Ecology Centre
Construction of the Western Australian Ecology Centre was almost completed with practical completion
due mid July 2004. Located off Perry Lakes Drive, just south of the historic Perry House, this new centre
will foster awareness and appreciation of biodiversity conservation in Bold Park in particular and
throughout Western Australia in general. The Ecology Centre provides a venue for environmental groups,
land managers and researchers to conduct workshops and other activities within the Tamala Room, a
large meeting room and associated facilities that seats up to 120 people. The project also incorporates
new administration offices, a new entry road off Perry Lakes Drive, paved car parking and expanded
depot facilities for the ongoing management and ecological restoration of Bold Park.
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Donaldson + Warn Architects designed the building to blend in with the natural backdrop of limestone
outcrops and remnant bushland and to minimise its environmental impact and visual intrusion in the
landscape. The building features a stunning external artwork that interprets the biodiversity of Bold Park,
with more artwork incorporated inside that follows the same theme. Authority staff have landscaped the
surrounds with planting comprised entirely of native plants local to Bold Park.
Reabold Hill Enhancement
Construction of the Reabold Hill Summit Boardwalk and Lookouts was also well advanced this year with
completion due by the end of July 2004. This new development forms part of the Reabold Hill
Enhancement project, which also incorporates over two hectares of ecological restoration as well as a
new entry statement, two-way vehicle access and a pedestrian pathway to the summit carpark.
The new boardwalk will provide access for all to the summit, the highest point on the Swan Coastal Plain
in the metropolitan area, with sweeping views to the ocean and across the city to the Darling Scarp. The
raised steel and timber pathway will enable visitors to become safely immersed in a bushland experience
without ongoing impact to a sensitive environment. Artwork and signage have been incorporated along
the way to interpret the surrounding biodiversity, its ecology and elements of the area’s history.
Design development of the entry statement, road and pedestrian pathway was completed and
construction will take place during the latter half of 2004. Vehicle access to the carpark was closed for the
duration of all construction activities. Restoration works for this project continued and incorporated weed
control, seed collection, planting of local native seedlings and ongoing monitoring. Temporary irrigation
was installed at Reabold Hill to improve survival of planted seedlings during a three-year establishment
phase.
Conservation and Restoration
Ecological restoration activities continued in focus sites throughout the Park including the Eastern
Gateway, Reabold Hill and the Oceanic precinct that was burnt by wildfire in 2000. Many volunteers
assisted with the restoration program throughout the year including the Friends of Bold Park, work
experience students from universities, TAFE Colleges and schools, and interested individuals.
Over 33,000 plants local to Bold Park were planted in the winter of 2003 in these sites as well as various
sites selected for research. To protect plants from rabbit predation, all plants were tree guarded at
planting time, which increased planting costs significantly. Most of the guards were removed during the
year to enable unrestricted plant growth (rabbits permitting) with ongoing monitoring to measure the
merits of using guards. The temporary rabbit proof fence surrounding the Eastern Gateway area was
removed due to its limited success in excluding rabbits. Monitoring of 2002 planting continued with
survival rates varying from 2.7% to 77% depending on the site.
The seed collection program was the most successful recorded to date with a total of 175 species
collected, cleaned and stored, including 28 species not previously collected. Eleven of the top 15 priority
species were collected and a further 15 of the remaining 25 priority species were also collected. Priority
species are those that generally have the lowest representation in the park and therefore have the
highest conservation significance.
Weed control activities continued with over 50 hectares sprayed for veld grass control in focus restoration
sites and over 50 hectares within the Oceanic precinct sprayed for pelargonium control. Other targeted
weeds included Geraldton carnation, bridal creeper and black flag, which has been targeted for research
due to its highly invasive characteristics and lack of successful control measures.
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Research and management staff jointly undertook a comprehensive flora survey of over 70 hectares to
enhance our records of species present within Bold Park. This survey will continue next year in prioritised
areas and data analysis will also be undertaken. A fungi survey recorded 60 species, of which 15 are new
records for Bold Park. This survey brings the total number of fungi species recorded in the Park to 180.
Visitor Facilities
A consultancy to review surface options and design track improvements to address erosion problems on
several tracks was let, and the design process completed. Works will be implemented on high priority
tracks during the next financial year. Tree hazards were assessed in prioritised areas and trees pruned as
part of the ongoing risk management program. Pruning works were completed in the grassed areas
adjacent to Perry Lakes Drive including the car parks, the Ecology Centre precinct and along the Reabold
Hill access road.
A visitor survey was conducted at Bold Park to measure visitor use and satisfaction with the visitor
experience and to provide information for future planning and management. The results indicated a high
level of overall satisfaction (97%) with 75% rating their satisfaction level as high or very high. The
bushland experience and park cleanliness were rated as satisfactory or higher at 99% with track
conditions scoring the lowest levels of satisfaction (65%). This latter situation should improve next year
with the implementation of track upgrades. The most common activity undertaken was walking and the
most popular features enjoyed in the park were those elements inherently linked with a bushland
environment.

HORTICULTURE AND ASSETS
The operational structure within Horticulture and Assets continues to work well with cross sectional
communication and collaboration improving as sections are better defined and leaders settle into their
role. The general standard of maintenance has improved in all areas during the year especially as some
of the capital works projects have finished, releasing staff to focus back on maintenance work.
The Lotterywest Federation Walkway, Bali Memorial and Volunteers Garden Stage 1 projects were
completed during the year. The Western Power Parkland Stage 2 is due for completion in early July and
work commenced on the Fraser Avenue Retail Outlet and the Plant Conservation Centre.

Kings Park and Botanic
Garden Retail Outlet:
Due to open December 2004.

A tender has been advertised for a new pavilion and toilets in the Botanic Garden and a consultant
appointed to implement a Deep Sewerage installation program for Kings Park and Botanic Garden.
As part of the ongoing maintenance program, the control system for the irrigation system continues to be
fine tuned to reduce water and power use and still deliver a quality parkland experience.
The upgrade to BG-B ase™, the botanical records database, caused some initial concerns but these have
been resolved and it is now providing the essential information required to manage the living collections.
The assets management database, Confirm®, has been installed and data is now being entered. Further
work on the GIS system is providing more reliable data as ground truthing progresses and consistent
location information is provided across the three systems.
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A review of radio communications within Kings Park and Botanic Garden and Bold Park has been initiated
to resolve safety, communication and coordination issues both in day-to-day management and in
emergency situations.
Herbarium
The Botanic Gardens and Parks Authority Reference Herbarium continued to provide essential
identification and classification services to the Authority, ensuring that seed and plant material is properly
identified before being added to the collections or sent to other agencies. Linked through the botanical
database, this service ensures that plant names are correct and current.
Western Australian Seed Technology Centre (WASTC)
The prime focus of the Seed Centre remains the collecting, cleaning, testing and storing seed in response
to the requirements of the Western Australian Botanic Garden. Further progress has been made with
testing all seed and moving the long-term collections to low temperature storage.
The Centre is internationally recognised for its advanced delivery of field collections through the use of
BG-Base™ in the field and is developing storage protocols to international standards for long-term
conservation seed collections.
The Centre’s collaboration with the Millennium Seed Bank project has enabled increased numbers of
seed collections to be made during the year with over 300 botanical collections made (the vast majority
being seeds) and 73 days were spent by staff in the field. This is the most significant number of
collections made in at least a decade by the Authority, with many species unknown in cultivation. In
addition, a partnership with Greening WA has provided new collections, training and field trip
opportunities for both agencies.
The first phase of the Millennium Seedbank Project ended at 30 June 2004 and a new contract for the
second phase is being negotiated. In three years, 400 species have been collected and sent to the
Millennium Seed Bank in the United Kingdom with duplicate collections also held at the WASTC at Kings
Park and Botanic Garden. The Technical Assistant, in part funded through the Millennium Seedbank
Project, resigned and was replaced with a new appointee during the year.
Editing of the book “Australian Seeds” continued and it is expected to be published in 2005.
The Centre is aiming to become a centre of excellence in extension and training services for Australian
and international collectors.
Eco-Tours, part of the WASTC, organised a Kimberley Expedition that was very successful with 15
paying volunteers traveling throughout the Kimberley region. Seeds from all known species of Kimberley
palms were collected and later germinated at Kings Park and Botanic Garden.
Park Engineer
A new transformer and high voltage network have been installed to provide an adequate power supply for
the new Plant Conservation Centre, Retail Outlet and the new bore that was installed in 2002/03. Pumps,
storage tanks and distribution systems have been installed to provide the necessary fire services for the
Plant Conservation Centre.
The entire irrigation system performed well without significant breakdown throughout the season
providing water with low iron content to the parklands and botanic garden.
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The roof of the Main Lodge was retiled and other minor building maintenance completed. To improve
safety, one of the existing sheds in the depot is being upgraded to provide a chemical store with proper
facilities for storage of the different classes of agricultural chemicals. Speed humps were installed in the
depot and at Western Power Parkland. The Engineer has also been involved in developing energy and
water use strategies for Kings Park and Botanic Garden.

PARKLAND AND TURF
The Parks and Turf staff worked hard to achieve quality outcomes, particularly in the delivery of high
quality turf and surrounds while having close involvement with some capital works projects.
The Parks Team have also replanted areas throughout Kings Park and Botanic Garden, including the
South African Memorial Garden, Queen Victoria Garden, Hale Oval, around the Administration building
and the garden near the Aboriginal Art Gallery.
Bali Memorial
A site adjacent to Fraser Avenue was chosen for the construction of the Bali Memorial. The Memorial was
completed by October 2003 in time for the first anniversary of the Bali tragedy. Designed by Donaldson +
Warn Architects, the Memorial is a place for victims’ families and the public to reflect and enjoy quiet
contemplation. As part of the project, the adjacent Pines Picnic Area was renovated to include new
electric barbecues, a drinking fountain, two shelters with seats and tables and a new lawn area. The
Department of Housing and Works was responsible for overseeing the project. Construction undertaken
by John Holland, with assistance from Authority staff who also undertook the landscaping works. Grass
Trees Australia provided 16 grass trees commemorating those Western Australians whose lives were
taken on 12 October 2002.
Western Power Parkland – Stage 2
Stage 2 of the Western Power Parkland works commenced in May 2004 and is due for completion in
early July 2004. The new works will comprise a boardwalk across the lake leading to Lycopod Island, with
solar powered replica stromatolites positioned in the lake to assist with the powering of a water misting
system in a calamite forest located on the island. Replacing pine bark with rubber safety matting will
improve children’s safety, reduce the maintenance of the area and improve water quality. Two new
electric barbecues, seating and a drinking fountain have been installed on the southwest side of the
Parkland near the Vietnam Veterans Memorial.
The Wollemi pine continues to grow well within its new location next to the Windy Walk, supplementing
the Gondwana Land theme of the area.
New signage will be added to the island, boardwalk and at the three key entry points to the Parkland.
Queen Victoria statue
th

To celebrate its 100 anniversary, the Queen Victoria statue was restored by a heritage builder, which
included a clean up of the marble, new gold gilt lettering, repainting of the granite and replacement of the
surrounds to match the original. Old plants were removed and Victorian style plants were incorporated
into the garden at the back. Due to damage done to the steps by a large vehicle, these were repaired in
situ including new granolithic work.

28

ANNUAL REPORT 2003 - 2004

Turf Technician
The Turf Technician has continued to work with the focus group for turf research at The University of
Western Australia to promote best practice in turf management. Specialised turf works were undertaken
th
to the Bali Memorial site, the area around the 10 Light Horse Memorial and the old exhibition site, whilst
the team continued to maintain other areas and renovate after events held in the Botanic Garden and
cinema site within Western Power Parkland.
PARK OPERATIONS
The Operations Team continued to attend to ongoing Park emergencies, vandalism and repairs and
maintenance to pumps, bores, buildings and other infrastructure. Maintenance of playgrounds was high
especially with the ongoing wear and tear due to high demand at Lotterywest Family Area. The event
season was extremely busy during the summer where staff once again assisted with set ups and the
dismantling of temporary facilities. The upgrade to Bovell toilets commenced with new basins, taps, tiling
and painting being contracted. Other toilet blocks have had work done including replacement of worn out
and broken basins, sinks, taps and door locks. Repairs to road edges and cycle paths continued with the
assistance of the Department of Justice Community workers. New signage was placed along Fraser
Avenue with staff assisting with the ordering of other road signs that comply with Australian and Main
Roads Western Australia requirements.

BOTANIC GARDENS AND DISPLAY
The Botanic Garden Team continued to implement the Thematic Plan and Botanic Garden Masterplan,
resulting in significant plantings being incorporated throughout the gardens. The focus this year was on
Wheatbelt flora, Banksia display, the Botanic Garden Entrance Statement displays, Karri Forest flora,
Wax and Kangaroo Paw display, Verticordia display and Northern Sandplains flora.
Completed in August 2003, the Lotterywest Federation Walkway has created an accessway to parts of
the Western Australian Botanic Garden previously less well visited. This is a key element in the ongoing
implementation of the pedestrian pathway system throughout the garden by linking other completed
initiatives and facilitating access to the southern end of the garden.
The official launch for the commencement of works to the Volunteers Garden occurred in December
2003. This event was followed by the restoration of the Wildflower Pavilion (previously the roof and
supports of the staff workshop in the Botanic Garden), basic landscaping of the area and planting of 14
critically threatened Western Australian species. This inaugural planting was a joint activity, including staff
and representatives from all voluntary groups supporting the Authority. The Volunteers Garden will form a
focus within the broader concept of the Conservation Garden (a future development).
Automatic people counters in the Western Australian Botanic Garden indicated that 190,000 people
visited the high profile area around the Pioneer Women’s Memorial Fountain and 395,000 people visited
the Water Garden. Over 522,000 people visited the area opposite John Forrest
Memorial. Since the opening of the Lotterywest Federation Walkway on 17
August 2003, 821,655 people have visited this new attraction.

Lotterywest Federation
Walkway:
Walk through the trees in
the Western Australian
Botanic Garden.
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The Wildflower Festival celebrated its 40 Anniversary in 2003 and the floral displays reflected display
techniques from the 1960’s through to the current day. The displays demonstrated that each past Festival
has consistently celebrated the diversity and uniqueness of the Western Australian flora.
The Kings Park Nursery continues to play a key role in ensuring the supply of high quality and diseasefree plants for projects within the Botanic Garden, Wildflower Festival and supply of plants for 14
threatened flora recovery programs for the Department of Conservation and Land Management. Their
specialist skills have made it possible to increase the diversity of the living collections in the Botanic
Garden. New acquisitions will be displayed to the public as the Thematic Plan continues to be
implemented. In addition, the Nursery continues to propagate specialty plants for bushland restoration
initiatives within Kings Park and Bold Park.
Arboriculture
Plant death continued in the ageing population of Pine trees, mainly due to a combination of natural
senescence and the effect of several years of below average rainfall. As a result this year’s tree program
concentrated on the removal of dead trees. There were heavy losses in the pine plantation on Fraser
Avenue and several trees removed from May Drive.
The remainder of the year’s program included remedial tree works in the Bush Arboretum, Hale Oval and
May Drive (between May Circle and Saw Avenue).
Research projects commenced to investigate a general malaise of various trees in Kings Park and
Botanic Garden. No results are currently available. This malaise has also been observed in other areas of
WA and the eastern states.
Energy Smart Government Program
In accordance with the Energy Smart Government policy the Botanic Gardens and Parks Authority is
trying to achieve a 12% reduction in non-transport related energy use by 2006/07 with a 6% reduction
targeted for 2003/04.
Energy Smart Government program

Baseline Data
7 780 010
$190 377

2003/2004
Actuals
6 264 951
$161 419

Energy Consumption (MJ)
Energy Cost ($)
Greenhouse Gas Emissions
(tonnes of CO2)

Variation %
-19
-15

1 319

1 471

+12

The baseline data was largely based on the figures for 2000/2001 to take account of a reduction in
electricity usage already achieved as a result of modifications to the water treatment and irrigation
systems in Kings Park and Botanic Garden. Th ere appear to be no nationally consistent activity based
energy performance indicators appropriate for the range of activities undertaken by the Botanic Gardens
and Parks Authority.
During the year energy and cost saving initiatives were largely focused on further refinements to
operation of the irrigation systems, and to the establishment of an energy conservation policy for the
agency. Some improvements to the efficiency of office lighting have also been made.
However, there have been many additional services and capital works programs implemented since the
baseline year. These include major improvements associated with the redevelopment of the Western
Power Parkland and Pines picnic areas, establishment of the Bali Memorial, an increased program of
events, and substantially increased public lighting. These improvements have caused an increase in the
use of electrical and gas energy, leading to the increase in greenhouse gas emissions.
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Energy costs have decreased because changes to the operation of the irrigation system have led to an
improved percentage of power used at off-peak rates. Overall, total energy used has decreased because
the number of wood barbeques has been reduced from 19 to 5 during the upgrades to the picnic areas,
and the energy cont ained in the firewood used was substantially more than the electricity consumed in
the replacement barbeques.
PLANT DEVELOPMENT
The Plant Development team is involved with the development of Australian native species for
horticulture, in order to derive a greater utility from the remarkable diversity present in our native flora. It
incorporates an active plant breeding program, the selection of desirable plants from the wild in order to
gain the best genetic material, as well as horticultural research into plant biology, plant breeding systems,
plant propagation, grafting and plant cultivation.
Production of new plant varieties and forms, horticultural products and techniques and the increased use
of native plants in the urban landscape are major objectives of the plant development program. The
opportunity to introduce new plant products into domestic and world markets offers a unique medium to
promote and utilise our flora. Traditional markets in horticulture are now seeking new products and the
diversity in Australian flora has caused attention to be focused on Australian plants as a source of new
material. It is anticipated that development of the flora in the long term will be linked with its conservation
for future generations, through improving the understanding and enjoyment of the local flora and by
supporting conservation programs.
On the basis of the Expressions of Interest developed in 2002, the Australian subsidiary of a major
international ornamental plant company, Ball Flora, has been selected to partner the Goodeniaceae
development program. Throughout the year, negotiations regarding the Agreement have occurred with a
final draft being presented to each partner. The aim of this activity is to provide support for the
Goodeniaceae development program in terms of capital inputs, royalty agreements, access to larger
ornamental plant markets and to position a number of plant products for possible commercial release.
The breeding program is still focused on the production of hybrid Scaevolas. Several new confirmed
hybrids have been produced and are being evaluated. Ongoing collection activities have been undertaken
to increase the genetic resource available for the development programs.
Over the past three years the Authority has been involved in the development of the Western Australian
Display at Pacific Flora 2004 International Garden and Horticulture Exhibition, to be held in Japan with an
expected attendance of five million people. The Midwest, Gascoyne and Goldfields/Esperance
Development Commissions, along with the Western Australian Tourism Commission, were the major
partners in the project, to promote regional Western Australia.
2

During the year, the major undertaking of developing the final exhibit – 400m of landscaped area being,
to our knowledge, the largest creation of an Australian Outback scene outside of Australia - occurred with
the opening of the completed Exhibit on 7 April 2004. This included planning and managing the
development of a landscape in Japan from Australia, along with logistics such as: exporting to Japan 40
tonnes of Western Australian rocks, plants, materials and artefacts; sourcing around 5000 local perennial
plants or seedlings; coordinating four staff members to live in Japan for up to one month in order to
complete the final exhibit; and managing landscape contractors in Japan.
The exhibit has been judged to be one of the best at this International Exhibition. To date, it has received
one honour award, two best awards, six gold medals, 18 silver and 31 bronze medals. The final judging
will be held at the close of the Exhibition in October 2004.

Mr Mark Webb
DIRECTOR, BOTANIC GARDENS, PARKS AND RECREATION
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KINGS PARK

guides

The Kings Park Guides had a full and exciting 2003/2004. They continued their regular duties staffing the
Information Centre and leading scheduled and special guided walks. In addition, many Guides were
involved in other activities within Kings Park and Botanic Garden. These activities included general
organisation; further education; establishing and running the Training program; establishing, defining and
recording Park-related information, and serving on committees when invited. Many more hours were
volunteered for the National Conference of Volunteer Guides in Botanic Gardens hosted by the Kings
Park Guides in October.
th

At 30 June 2004, there were 103 Guides (111 in 2002/2003) with 24 Guides in training. There have
been a total of 6867 (6818 in 2002/2003) hours of public contact.
INFORMATION CENTRE
The Information Centre is open daily (except Christmas Day) from 9.00am to 4.00pm with extended hours
during the Wildflower Festival. Two Guides are on duty at one time; two shifts cover the opening hours.
Visitor inquiries cover a very wide range of subjects from specific, Kings Park and Botanic Garden-related
botanical and/or historical queries to very general tourist queries on Western Australia and beyond.
Maps, self-guided walks sheets and a variety of information sheets on the Park's flora are given out as
well as brochures for other Kings Park and Botanic Garden services and for events within the Park.
Smoke Water and a self-guided Memorials and Memories brochure are sold; donations are sought for
other hand-outs.
A Communications book is kept to record unusual occurrences, comments and complaints made by the
public, and problems perceived by the Guides. This is perused and signed by Park Management Officers
so that prompt action can be taken when appropriate and suggestions for improvement of services to the
Visitors can be assessed. The Park Management Officers are readily contactable by telephone or radio to
respond to situations that require immediate attention.
A record is also kept of the visitor inquiries. A significant increase in the number of inquiries has been
experienced since the opening of the Lotterywest Federation Walkway in August 2003. There were
59,171 visitor enquiries this year (42,242 in 2002/2003). Of these approximately 30% were from Western
Australians, 31% from other interstate visitors and 38% from overseas visitors. The percentage of
inquiries from Western Australians has increased from previous years - presumably also reflecting the
opening of the Walkway.
GUIDED WALKS
Free Guided Walks are offered daily at 10.00am and 2.00pm. Walk routes are seasonal, with those in the
warmer months concentrating on the Botanic Gardens and the Fraser Avenue Precinct. In the cooler
months, walks in the bushland and along the Nature Trail are added to the program. The walks cover
botanical, ecological, cultural and historical aspects of Kings Park and Botanic Garden, with the main
focus of a walk being dependant on the route taken. Content is varied according to seasonal and other
variations within the Park and to the participants.
In addition, Special Walks are offered for larger community and school groups. These can be tailored to
specific interests or aspects of the Park or to the school curriculum. These walks are arranged through
Customer Services and a fee applies.
Number of Walkers: 4336 (4,454 in 2002/2003)
Number of Special Walkers:1,436 (1,156 in 2002/2003)
Total number of walkers for 2004: 5772
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SPECIAL EVENTS
Wildflower Festival
The regular walks program is suspended during the Wildflower Festival and more frequent walks through
the Nature Trail are offered from the Festival site. An information booth is also staffed in addition to the
Information Centre.
Festival Enquiries: 596 (539 in 2002/2003)
Festival Walks: 1,219 (1,108 in 2002/2003)
Skyworks
A number of Guides assisted the Friends of Kings Park during this event.
2003 National Conference of Volunteer Guides in Botanic Gardens
Following on from the 2003 Wildflower Festival, the Kings Park Guides hosted the biennial National
Conference of Volunteer Guides in Botanic Gardens - a highly successful 5-day event attended by 123
delegates from botanic gardens throughout Australia and New Zealand. The Conference included a
series of lectures on botanical and guiding subjects; workshops were held on presentation skills, guide
training and assessment, and guiding the disabled. A variety of walks was offered which showcased all
aspects of Kings Park and Botanic Garden - cultural, historical, botanical, scientific, the unique Western
Australia flora etc. Tours of the laboratories and nurseries were also popular. A day of outings in the Perth
environs took the delegates into bushland areas that overwhelmed them with the diversity of Western
Australia's flora.
Preparation for the Conference took 18 months and many Guides volunteered an immeasurable number
of hours to ensure the success of this event. The strong support received from many staff within the
Botanic Garden and Park Authority, and beyond, contributed greatly to the success of the conference.
Kings Park Guides 20

th

Anniversary

th

2004 marks the 20 Anniversary of the Kings Park Guides. Preparations are underway for the
Hon. Premier Dr Geoff Gallop to attend a large celebration, in early July 2004, at Mount Eliza House to
honour the contribution made by all Kings Park Guides, both past and present, with a special focus on the
long serving members. Of the current 103 Kings Park Guides, 41 have served for 10 years or more, with
four still serving from the original group established 20 years ago.
th

The celebration of the 20 Anniversary of the establishment of the Kings Park Guides will coincide with
the release by the Premier, of the Memorials and Memories booklet that has been a collaborative effort by
the Guides and Authority staff and funded by the Friends of Kings Park.
TRAINING, FURTHER EDUCATION AND PERFORMANCE MANAGEMENT
Natural attrition steadily reduces the number of Guides available for duties. At the time of this report, a
training program is in progress for 24 new Guides. The comprehensive program has been developed over
the years to accommodate the expanding duties of the Guides and the evolving expectations of visitors.
Monthly meetings include a program of guest speakers on subjects relevant and of interest to the Guides.
This is followed by an Extension Activity, a daytime outing to illustrate the guest speaker's talk, or to
familiarise the Guides with changes occurring within the Park.
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To maintain the quality of the service provided by the Kings Park Guides, an ongoing performance
evaluation of all the Guides has been in progress for over two years. In general, the process has been felt
to have had a positive effect on the Guides. This series of assessments is due for completion in August
and will be fully reviewed and revised before the process is recommenced.
ADMINISTRATIVE MATTERS
Several groups and sub-committees exist and meet, as required, to maintain the efficient operation of the
Guides and to ensure that necessary changes and adjustments are made. In April, the Guides, along with
The Friends of Kings Park and the Master Gardeners, moved in to the new Volunteers' House adjacent to
Visitor Services. This easily accessible and defined office has provided work space and a much needed
meeting area as well as adequate storage for the Guides' extended library, archives and artefacts.
A Procedures Manual has been formulated to ensure that all Guides are aware of the correct procedures
for dealing with the many situations they encounter in the course of their volunteer duties.
GUIDES AND STAFF RELATIONSHIPS
The Kings Park Guides have appreciated the considerable support that they have received from all the
staff of the Botanic Gardens and Parks Authority throughout the year. Without this accessibility, support
and the willing assistance of staff from all departments, the Guides would not be able to achieve as much
as they do. The many contributions were vital to the success of 'Conference 2003' and the amicable cooperation was remarked upon by others. Especial thanks to Mr. Mark Webb, Director, Botanic Gardens
Parks and Recreation, and the staff of Customer Services for their ongoing assistance and
understanding. The co-operation of the staff and of the other volunteer groups in the Park increases the
pleasures of volunteering as a Guide in Kings Park and Botanic Garden; the visitors are the ultimate
beneficiaries.

Mrs Rachel Craven
PRESIDENT
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FRIENDS OF

kings park

It is with considerable pride and satisfaction that I report that the achievements of our organisation
continue to grow and provide a positive impact to the people of Western Australia. The highlight of the
year was the opening of the Lotterywest Federation Walkway, extending along the top of the Scarp on the
eastern boundary of the Botanic Garden. This is an outstanding public facility offering a spectacular visitor
experience and enhances the reputation of Kings Park and Botanic Garden as one of the great parks of
the World. The Friends are extremely proud to have been strongly involved in this great project.
Plant sales at the 2003 Wildflower Festival also achieved a higher return on previous years and continues
to encourage a wide range of local visitors to purchase selected local flora for their home gardens. The
Festival Address presented by Professor Hans Lambers, Head of the School of Plant Biology at The
University of Western Australia, was another key occasion at the Festival.
Plant sales are our main fundraising activity and over the year, our sales totalled in excess of $100,000.
Our membership has continued to grow strongly and currently stands at 855 members, an increase of
33% on the 2003 total. Servicing members and ensuring they enjoy all the benefits available is an
important focus of the Management Committee’s activities throughout the year.
ACTIVITIES
The Growing Carers commitment to encouraging local gardeners to use more local flora in their gardens
is demonstrated by their offering of 51,000 plants at the four occasions at which the plants were sold –
the 2003 Wildflower Festival, 9 November and 14 March and 6 May 2004. Their dedication is matched
only by the skill they have acquired, through the support of Nursery Staff, to propagate and grow these
plants ready for sale.
The Bushland Carers are equally dedicated to restoring the bushland through their weeding, seed
collecting and plant replacement activities. They participated in 36 weekend and midweek events over the
past year, consisting of 18 herbaceous weeding sessions, eight woody weeding sessions, six planting
sessions and four seed collecting sessions. Sixty five different people were involved in these sessions
contributing over 1,000 hours to bushland rehabilitation. Outstanding work! Once again, this effort would
have been difficult to achieve without the assistance of Park staff, in particular Steve Easton, and the
continued dedication of team leaders Glenn Cook and Tony Scalzo.
The Botanic Garden Carers have consolidated their position within the Botanic Garden as they approach
their first anniversary and are making a valued contribution to the upkeep of the Garden. Our thanks to
Grady Brand, Matthew Dixon and the Botanic Garden team for their support and enthusiasm in ensuring
the success of this group.
The Orchid Carers are a new group this year and are providing support to Dr Andrew Batty in the Plant
Science laboratory to propagate and cultivate terrestrial orchids for planting out in the Botanic Garden.
Horticultural information on these orchids is sparse and Dr Batty and the Orchid Carers intend to expand
the body of information currently available.
Our newest group is the Herbarium Carers who assist with the management of the herbarium collection
with Luke Sweedman and his staff. The Friends are excited by the establishment of this new group in
terms of both the educational opportunities that this provides for our members and the assistance that we
are able to offer to the Seed Technology team.
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The Office Carers are our ‘quiet achievers’, always on hand to send out newsletters and magazines and
undertake clerical roles to our Secretary, Natalie Hartill and our Membership and Promotions Officer, Jo
Walker. Folding and inserting newsletters in envelopes is monotonous work and we have eased this
monotony somewhat with the purchase of a folding and inserting machine. However, our magazines must
still be inserted into envelopes manually.
MAGAZINE
“For People and Plants” continues to maintain its position as the leading Botanic Garden magazine in
Australia and also increases its reputation through recognition by many of the leading overseas Botanic
Gardens. This is due to the efforts of our Editor, Dr Tony Scalzo and his colleague, Graphic Designer,
Rosalie Okely. Their partnership strives to enhance the visual appearance of the magazine and this has
achieved wide acclaim. We are deeply indebted to their efforts and commitment.
I also wish to thank the contributors for their interesting topics and content. It is through learning more
about the science of our flora and bushland and its horticulture that we are able to obtain a greater
understanding of this precious asset.
KEY EVENTS
The official opening of the Lotterywest Federation Walkway by the Premier, Hon. Dr Geoff Gallop, MLA,
was a particularly special occasion and Dr Gallop praised the Friends for the participation in this major
project and made the plea that we continue to support Kings Park and Botanic Garden and make it a
greater attraction for West Australian, interstate and overseas visitors. Dr Gallop also highlighted the
uniqueness of the Park and our local flora.
The success of the Lotterywest Federation Walkway can be measured by the visitors that it attracts and
at the end of June, this year, 821,655 people had enjoyed this special walk and the stunning views that it
offers.
Orchid Walks
Two orchid walks were arranged last year, the first in mid August up on the Darling Scarp and the second
in the Park in mid September. Led by Dr Andrew Batty, numbers exceeded over 50 Friends and their
colleagues on each occasion and both sites were very special in displaying a wide range of species. I
hold the opinion that 2003 was the best year for orchids for some time.
Wildflower Festival
The 2003 Wildflower Festival was its usual success with some very spectacular displays of local flora put
together by Grady Brand and Amanda Shade. The Friends plant sale operation worked very smoothly and I
wish to thank everyone who contributed to this success through their participation. I emphasise that it is this
support from within our own ranks that contribute to these events being such a success.
New Member Orientation Day
Almost 50 new members attended our Orientation afternoon on Sunday, 23 November 2003. New
members met a number of senior staff members and were shown through the Plant Nursery, the Plant
Sciences Laboratory, and were also briefed on plant restoration activity along the Mt Eliza Scarp.
2004 Sky Show
This year’s Sky Show was very successful from our viewpoint with great support from Friends to station
the various entrances in the Park. Our collections raised over $11,500.
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2004 Sunset Cinema Benefit Screening
It was disappointing to both Sunset Cinema management and ourselves that the only rainfall to occur
during February this year happened on the night of our benefit screening. I sincerely thank the ‘faithful’
Friends who attended and sought refuge on a couple of occasions under tarpaulins and umbrellas as the
odd shower passed over.
We are indeed grateful to the management of Sunset Cinema for their support.
PLANNING
Planning is an important part of the work undertaken by the Management Committee and a Strategic
Planning Sub-Committee has been in operation for the past five years. Priority is always given to
servicing our membership and we welcome ideas on how this can be improved.
The Friends vacated the Nursery Cottage in early April to make way for its demolition prior to the
construction of a new Plant Conservation Centre for the Authority on the site. Our office and meeting
rooms are now in the Old Kings Park Board Building, adjacent to the Visitor Services Lodge at the
entrance to Fraser Ave. When the new building is completed, Visitor Services staff will move into it and
the Friends and other Volunteer Groups will move into the Lodge permanently.
The new Building will also achieve space in the Nursery area and the Friends will benefit from this
through a space and glass house allocation next year.
FINANCES
Our finances are in a very strong position due to plant sale activities and the donations received from the
Walkway. I am pleased to advise that during the Volunteers Christmas Function in December, we
presented the Chairman of Botanic Gardens and Parks Authority Board of Management, Richard
Simpson with a cheque for $60,000 to be used for projects within the Park.
PROJECT INVOLVEMENT
We continue to be involved with the Lotterywest Federation Walkway as the final stage has yet to be
completed. This consists of the Tuart Pavilion and Toilet Block which will be built adjacent to the Banksia
Garden.
Discussions continued with Lotterywest on the upgrade of the Lotterywest Family Area at Hale Oval. This
came to fruition when the Minister for the Environment, Dr Judy Edwards MLA, presented me with a
cheque for $1.227million for the upgrade on 29 June 2004. Work to improve the very popular facility is
expected to commence in October this year.
We have also become a foundation member of the Western Australian Community Foundation which was
launched on 10 June 2004. The Foundation will provide mechanisms for accessing funding and to this
end we have two sub trusts, “Friends of Kings Park Community Bushland Fund” and “ Friends of Kings
Park (BGPA) Community Facilities Fund”.
RELATIONSHIPS WITH OTHER MEMBERS OF THE KINGS PARK FAMILY
The National Conference of Volunteer Guides in Botanic Gardens was held in Kings Park last September
and was organised and hosted by the Kings Park Guides. The Friends provided the Guides with a grant
to assist the funding of the Conference.
The Honour Ave Committee is a group of ex-servicemen belonging to the Highgate Branch of the RSL
who tend the Honour Ave trees and the commemorative plaques. For some years, the Friends have
made an annual donation to the Committee to assist in defraying their costs and more recently we have
been involved in organising a trailer for them.
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Val Gough and Tom Alford met with Stephanie Clegg and some of her members early this year to discuss
the challenges that face the Friends of Bold Park and methods to address them. We wish the Friends of
Bold Park well in their endeavours to involve the local community in their activities.
RELATIONSHIP WITH BOARD AND STAFF
We have enjoyed working with Richard Simpson, the Board’s Chairman, and appreciate his grip on the
issues the Authority faces and his approach to addressing them. We wish the Board every success in
achieving its mission.
On behalf of all Friends, I wish to sincerely thank CEO, Dr Stephen Hopper for his continued support to
the Friends and wish every success in his new position at The University of Western Australia. We have
appreciated the advice, encouragement and time he has given to us both in our foundation and over the
past 11 years. It is an indictment of his management of the harmony that exists between the staff and the
volunteer groups. I would also like to thank the members of staff for the cooperation and support that they
so freely provi de to us. It is a great pleasure for all Friends to work with such a splendid workforce and
benefit from their knowledge and advice.
MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE AND ADMINISTRATION
Achievements do not just happen; they need effort and dedication, and more particularly, talent. I have
had the fortune of inheriting a very talented committee and I wish to record my sincere thanks for their
contributions. Immediate Past President, Tom Alford; Vice Presidents, Gail White and Trish Bilsma;
Secretary, Natalie Hartill; Treasurer, Jim Rule; Magazine Editor Dr Tony Scalzo; Committee Members,
Valerie Gough, Frank Parrote, Ann Revell and Jill Rule; and Membership and Promotions Officer,
Jo Walker have all played vital roles on our Committee.
I also like to make special mention of our Immediate Past President, Tom Alford, as a lot of the success
that the Friends have enjoyed is due to the vision and hard work that he has put in over the past years
and I thank him for his dedication. I would also like to thank retiring committee member Chris Day, on
behalf of all Friends, I would like to extend our appreciation to them all.
SUPPORT FROM LOTTERYWEST
On behalf of the Friends of Kings Park and the people of Western Australia, I wish to recognise the
support received from Lotterywest for the facilities which assist in making Kings Park and Botanic Garden
one of the great parks of the world and we look forward to maintaining this relationship long into the
future.
CONCLUSION
Finally, I would like to thank all the Friends for their commitment to Kings Park and Botanic Garden. It is
as a group of individuals working together that we can assist the authority in enhancing a true Western
Australian icon.

Mr Martin Revell
PRESIDENT
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HONOUR AVENUE

maintenance group

At our Annual General Meeting of March 2004 it was agreed that the Honour Avenue Committee would
be retitled to reflect new organisational aims, which will be of benefit to all. As well as the new title, a set
of rules and procedures were also adopted and a new committee were voted in:
Chairman
Deputy Chairman
Secretary
Treasurer
Assistant Secretary

Norman Manners
Alf Till
Brian Martin
Ken Wood
Ken Jones

In addition to the above, there are ten working members who complete tasks each Tuesday morning
either in the workshop or out in the Honour Avenues. Several of our members also shape up posts and
complete the lettering on plaques in the workshops at home.
CEREMONIAL DUTIES
On Sunday 18 April 2004, A Squadron of 10 Light Horse, together with the Royal Australian Armoured
Corps Association and representatives of Highgate RSL Sub-Branch Honour Avenue Group, assembled
at the 10 Light Horse memorial on Fraser Avenue to pay honour to the fallen of the regiment. Following
this, a ceremony conducted by the Squadron’s Padre, dedicated a plaque in honour of Lieutenant Hugo
Vivian Hope Throssell VC.
Lt Throssell, a Western Australian, was the only Australian Light Horseman to be awarded a Victoria
Cross in the First World War. It was for gallantry during an action at Hill 60 on Gallipoli during 20/30
August 1915. The plaque, with its white post and regimental colour patch, is positioned at the base of the
large pine immediately behind the memorial.
On the day before ANZAC DAY, members of Highgate RSL Executive Committee and the Honour
Avenue Group, met on Fraser Avenue, with some 70 students and staff members from Carine Senior
High School. The Chairman addressed them on the history of the Honour Avenues, why the plaques were
there and of the work they carried out in keeping them well presented for the future. The students then
dispersed in groups and laid flowers on each serviceman’s plaque throughout the three Avenues. The
students of Carine Senior High School have been attending this ceremony since 1986.
POSTS AND INSIGNIA
Under the revised maintenance procedure, the Group is concentrating on the replacement of posts, which
are white ant damaged. These are being replaced with posts which have been chemically treated and
have received three coats of a special white paint. It is anticipated these posts will last for up to ten years
or more.
The Group are also replacing the existing tin unit colour patches with new plastic units, which are UV
resistant and promise a far longer life with a smarter appearance. Where in the past only Army patches
were affixed, arrangements have been made with the Royal Australian Air Force Association for a supply
of badges made from the same plastic. On arrival, the Group will attach them to the posts bearing the
plaques of Air Force personnel killed overseas. As there are only some 18 Royal Australian Navy plaques
in the Avenues, the Group will supply and fix these therefore ensuring that all services are equally
represented.
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THE FUTURE
Applications for plaques continue to be received by the Group, and following our investigations and
approval, are recorded for action when trees become available. To overcome the problem of a tree
shortage it has been decided, following discussions with the Botanic Gardens and Parks Authority, that
the best solution would be to double up on each tree currently displaying a plaque at its base. To this end,
the Group is now restructuring its computer records and planning to fall into line with this policy.
Although the labour question is currently well serviced by Highgate RSL, in looking to the future we have
contacted both the Army and Air Force cadets in this State with a view to involving the young boys and
girls within their ranks. This would come under the “Adopt a War Memorial” scheme and give a wider
understanding and meaning of the Honour Avenues to these young people, as well as contributing to the
maintenance of the Honour Avenues. Both services have acknowledged they find it to be an excellent
idea and are taking it further.
OUR APPRECIATION
It would be extremely difficult for us to carry out our work within the Honour Avenues without the full
cooperation of the Botanic Gardens and Parks Authority whose officers and staff contribute so much, and
willingly, to our operations. Their assistance, valuable advice and access to an on-site workshop are very
much appreciated by the Group and Highgate RSL as a whole.
To Dr Stephen Hopper we say thank you for all you have done to maintain the spirit of the Avenues and
we wish you well in your new career path.
To Tom Alford, the Immediate Past President of the Friends of Kings Park, the committee and members,
our deep appreciation for the funds you have contributed to maintain our work. It is difficult for a small
body to raise the money needed to purchase posts, paint and tools and your enthusiastic support over the
years has been outstanding.
A Closing Thought From the Honour Avenue Group:
When you go home
Tell them of us and say
For your tomorrow
We gave our today

Mr Norm Manners
CHAIRM AN
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M ASTER

gardeners

The past year has been a very active and busy one for the Master Gardeners. Striving to meet our
objectives of providing a public gardening advisory service on the cultivation of native plants, of their
beauty, diversity and the importance of preservation, this small group has registered some 1600 volunteer
hours.
MEMBERSHIP
One of our main aims this year has been to increase our membership by offering a comprehensive
course to 13 applicants. This course has been run between May and July 2004. The topics covered in the
course range from Soils and Plant Communities of the Perth Metropolitan Region, different Methods of
Propagation, Pests and Diseases, Bushland Management, aspects of Garden Planning and Maintenance,
using Water Wisely and Presentation Skills.
This has involved a large number of lecturers, from members of the Kings Park staff and Department
Heads to outside lecturers. We thank them for their contribution that has been both educational and
inspiring. Our special thanks must go to Ethel Lucas for her dedicated work in putting the course together
and ensuring its smooth running. Thanks go to Ratna Sulastin who has ensured the attendees have been
well looked after during their participation. After completion of the exam in July our new Master Gardeners
will serve a 12 month internship before qualifying as full members. During this time they will be introduced
to the weekly roster of telephone service. This year they will be paired with current members to assist the
transition.
WILDFLOWER FESTIVAL
This year again saw an increase in queries to those who staffed our information desk. For the first time,
we were also involved in the Perth Garden Show. A different type of participation to that at the Festival,
and worth considering in the future.
VOLUNTEER GROUP MEETING
At the request of the Master Gardeners a meeting was held with the Presidents of the four volunteer
groups in the Park and Mark Webb, Director, Botanic Gardens, Parks and Recreation. Generally we meet
as separate groups and we hope that such meetings will lead to increased consultation between groups
and from there, greater service to the Park.
VOLUNTEER GARDEN
The first planting in this garden took place with representatives from each of the Park’s volunteer groups.
We hope this will be the start of many opportunities for the groups to contribute to the Park.
CONTINUING EDUCATION
Visits to various areas, gardens and projects around Perth have been an essential part of our meeting
days. Of particular interest has been a visit to the Point Fraser Wetlands area on the Swan River. Our
own monthly magazine, edited by Ethel, gives valuable updates and insights into Park activities.
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PUBLIC AND COMMUNITY AWARENESS
Talks to various community groups have continued, with Ethel in particular talking to over 300 people in a
number of venues.
Thanks go to all Master Gardeners who generously give their time. Thanks go to Dr Kingsley Dixon and
Bob Dixon for their continued encouragement and assistance. We also must record a very special thanks
to Dr Steve Hopper for his wonderful contribution to Kings Park and Botanic Garden during his time with
us. We wish him well in his new position at The University of Western Australia.

Ms Kaye Crawford
PRESIDENT
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FRIENDS OF

bold park

The Friends of Bold Park Bushland Inc. (FoBP) have had another successful year with a mix of hands on
activities in the Park and behind the scenes monitoring of proposed developments in the surrounding
neighbourhood, that have the potential to impact on the conservation and other values of Bold Park. The
election of a new committee in April 2004 saw the appointment of Gerry Brennan as Chairman to follow
on from the excellent job done by Stephanie Clegg, the outgoing Chair. A new member to the committee,
Trisha Gregory, was appointed as Secretary. Membership numbers overall remained stable.
BUSHLAND REGENERATION GROUP
The Bushland Regeneration Group continued its active role in the Park, meeting on the first and third
Sundays of each month from April to November. Working to a schedule developed with the Bushland
Manager, the Group has concentrated its activities in the Eastern Gateway precinct adjacent to the Tuart
Carpark. This site was the focus of the project funded by the Natural Heritage Trust, and although
concluded in 2002, the Friends and the Authority have made a commitment to the ongoing restoration of
this site. Friends’ activities included weeding and planting, and a new monitoring group was established
to monitor survival of planted seedlings on the site.
A successful Bushland Care Day was held in July with assistance from the Authority and Ecoplan. A
group of around 70 volunteers attended, including senior school students and corporate groups, to assist
with the works and enjoy the social occasion. Significant outcomes included planting and tree guarding of
around 3,000 seedlings and removal of enough Pelargonium from the site to fill a ten cubic meter skip bin
on the day.
ADOPT A HIGHWAY PROGRAM
This project continued on a regular three monthly basis. Rubbish was collected from the road verges of
Rochdale Road and West Coast Highway, where they adjoin the Park, to assist with the visual upkeep
and minimise the potential for rubbish to spread into Bold Park. The FoBP acknowledge the support of a
small group of hardy members, the Town of Cambridge, the Keep Australia Beautiful Council and the
Authority.
STEPHENSON HIGHWAY ROAD RESERVE
The Friends of Bold Park Bushland were disappointed that there has been no move towards deleting the
Stephenson Highway Road Reserve, which is currently shown to cut through the northern section of
Bold Park. If the proposed highway were to be constructed, it would bisect and destroy a section of the
Park, which contains some very valuable and diverse flora, including some of the priority conservation
species within Bold Park. The Friends are concerned that in the last year, a review on costs and scope for
the northern end of the Highway has been commissioned and members are maintaining a vigilant watch
on any proposed developments in relation to this road.
NEIGHBOURING BUSHLAND
Remnant bushland everywhere is important to the Friends, because of the links and corridors they
provide to animal and plant communities. They also encourage diversity and continuity in species. Thus it
was pleasing to see a positive development in the Underwood Avenue Bushland debate. The Friends will
continue to argue the case for maximum bushland retention in the Metropolitan Area and to lobby to
minimise the impact of housing and other developments bordering Bold Park, such as the development of
the old quarry site near the Bold Park Aquatic Centre.
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BOTANIC GARDENS AND PARKS AUTHORITY
The Friends took the opportunity in June to thank and farewell Dr Steve Hopper, the CEO of the
Authority, for his efforts in establishing the Authority presence in the Park and in engaging the FoBP in
the ongoing development of the Park. The FoBP are also grateful to Ms Lesley Hammersley, Manager
Biodiversity Conservation, and her enthusiastic and dedicated staff, for their cooperation with, and
encouragement of the Friends work.
It is pleasing to see progress in the Park by the Authority in terms of research, management and
infrastructure. The Friends are very keen to see as much research as possible on an increasing basis,
because not only does it provide guidance to management strategies, but also it strengthens and
increases the Park’s status and importance.
THE FUTURE
The Friends look forward to the long term and meaningful development and restoration of Bold Park. The
Friends would hope to develop as a body, not only as a lobby group for the protection of the Park, but as
one that can become involved in both the research and growth of the Park.

Mr Gerald Brennan
CHAIRMAN
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CORPORATE AND

business services

DIRECTORATE OBJECTIVE

ν To contribute to the achievement of the goals of the Botanic Gardens and Parks Authority through the
provision of high quality support in the areas of strategic planning and business development,
executive support, employee services, financial management, budgeting and reporting services,
contractual and legal support, information technology, records management and administrative
services.

PLANNING
Machinery of Government
The Botanic Gardens and Parks Authority Act 1998, assented to by the Governor in 1998 and proclaimed
on 1 July 1999, clearly defines the role, functions and powers of the Botanic Gardens and Parks
Authority. Its legislation allows for designated lands, other than Kings Park and Botanic Garden and Bold
Park, to be placed under the care, control and management of the Authority. The Government resolved
through the Machinery of Government initiatives in 2001 to bring Whiteman Park and Araluen Botanic
Park under the same umbrella. Significant planning has occurred for the possible transition of
management for Araluen Botanic Park to the Authority. However, no final decisions have been reached
as to the management model that would be acceptable to all key stakeholders or regarding additional
funding required for the Authority to fulfil its legislative obligations if it were to manage Araluen Botanic
Park.
The Botanic Gardens and Parks Authority has also been involved in the whole of Government Functional
Review, particularly in the review of corporate services and procurement activities across Government.
The Botanic Gardens and Parks Authority has contributed to these reviews, whilst remaining confident
that the 8% of Authority staff dedicated to core corporate services, (costing approximately 7% of Authority
recurrent resources) deliver essential high quality and cost effective services tailored to the unique needs
of the Authority. Ongoing work is required to ensure the planned March 2006 “roll in” of the Authority to
Cluster 3 Shared Service Cent re is smooth and that the significant required budget reduction resulting
from this whole of Government reform does not impact on core service delivery.
Strategic Planning and Business Development
A review of the Authority’s Strategic Plan for 2000 - 2003 was completed, and the Board and the Minister
endorsed the new Strategic Plan 2003 - 2006 which took effect from 1 July 2003.
A revised Authority Business Plan 2003 – 2006 focusing on strategic revenue opportunities and the need
to accommodate the budget adjustments required of the Authority over the outyears was presented and
accepted by the Minister in December 2002. This formed part of the substantiation for the budget
submissions on forward estimates for consideration by the Estimates Review Committee.
The Fraser Avenue Retail Outlet is a new development scheduled for opening in December 2004. This
outlet will be owned, staffed and operated by the Authority, and will focus on providing high quality
educational experiences for visitors as well as eventually raising revenue. The outlet will be run as a
business unit within the Authority. The Authority has engaged the services of retail consultants Craftwest
to provide assistance in the planning and operation of the new outlet for the first three years of its
operations. A Business Plan has been developed for the new Retail outlet, and two Project Control
Groups have overseen the construction phase and the fit out / business development planning for this
new facility.
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Due to administrative costs and potential financial risks inherent in funds management, the Authority
decided not to establish its own stand alone Foundation, as originally envisaged in the legislation.
Instead, a Foundation Working Group consisting of representatives of the Authority, the Board and the
Friends of Kings Park determined the most effective way of raising revenue through a Foundation was to
establish two Friends of Kings Park sub trusts within the new Western Australian Community Foundation,
which was officially launched on 10 June 2004. These sub trusts will attract both tied and untied
donations and a joint Friends of Kings Park and Authority Advisory Committee will allocate funding
received to projects within the bushland and/or Botanic Garden areas.
Kings Park and Botanic Garden Management Plan 2004 - 2009
Every five years, the Authority must review plans for the management of all lands for which it is
responsible – as prescribed in Part Four of the Botanic Gardens and Parks Authority Act 1998. Following
extensive community consultation, the Kings Park and Botanic Garden Draft Management Plan 2003–
2008 was released for the statutory public submission period of two months from 6 June 2003 to 8 August
2003. An extension of one month was provided until September 2003 to allow for further submissions.
The majority of submissions supported the Kings Park and Botanic Garden Draft Management Plan 20032008 as presented and/or made comments that raised issues already considered during plan preparation.
There were a large number of very positive comments supporting past and current practices and future
plans.
An independent consultant analysed the 240 submissions as 57 separate comments. Of the comments
received, 238 (67%) supported the Plan or raised issues previously addressed during plan preparation
and therefore required no amendment; 63 (18%) offered opposing viewpoints to preferred management
strategies or offered options not considered feasible and subsequently no changes were made; and 56
(16%) provided additional information or highlighted inaccuracies and resulted in amendment to the Plan.
The Management Plan, launched by the Minister for the Environment on 29 June 2004, builds upon past
plans and achievements. It also identifies new initiatives for Kings Park and Botanic Garden for the 20042009 period including:
n

Development of the Fraser Avenue Ceremonial Walk;

n

World-class research-based ecological restoration to conserve an enhance native biological diversity;

n

Improved visitor services and parkland facilities;

n

Development of a new Retail Outlet;

n

Completion of stage one of the Plant Conservation Centre; and

n

Improvements to the Western Australian Botanic Garden.

The most significant issues addressed through public submissions and subsequent amendment to the
Plan were:
n

Concerns that the Fraser Avenue Ceremonial Walk may restrict access to the views – The Plan
was amended to clarify that dignity and function of the State War Memorial and restaurant precincts
would be enhanced by completing a ceremonial walk; diverting general traffic from the Southern end
of Fraser Avenue to an alternate route; refurbishing the Main Car Park; and restoring the State War
Memorial.

n

Concerns that fencing the Botanic Garden may limit access – The Plan was amended to clarify
that to increase public safety and protect the improved assets of the Western Australian Botanic
Garden, the installation of fencing will be investigated.
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n

Concerns that the Lemon-scented Gums on Fraser Avenue may be removed – The Plan was
amended to clarify that the intent is to conserve the centenary avenue of Lemon-scented Gums along
Fraser Avenue and plan for the replacement of individual trees.

n

Concerns over parking fees to fund improved security measures – Any mention of charging
parking fees has been removed from the final Plan.

As a result of the public consultation process, the statement of Strategic Policies and Guidelines was also
revised to provide a background document available for public viewing by request at the Authority’s
Administration Office on Fraser Avenue. The Audit of Public Submissions on the Kings Park and Botanic
Garden Draft Management Plan 2003-2008 is also a background document to the Management Plan and
details if, where, why and how the final Plan was amended as a result of the submissions process. This
Audit, along with a copy of the final Kings Park and Botanic Garden Management Plan 2004-2009, has
been distributed to all persons involved in the consultation process who provided their postal details.
The Authority is now seeking adequate funding opportunities to successfully implement the plans as
presented. An implementation program for the Management Plan will be reviewed annually by the
Authority’s Chief Executive Officer to reflect progress in reaching targets and timelines. Minor
adjustments to the Plan through the adaptive management may be required during the five-year term.
Should there be a major change in the direction or the intent of this Plan, an amendment requiring full
public consultation may be required.
A full copy of the plan is available on the Authority website and is included in this Annual Report.
Royal Kings Park Tennis Club (RKPTC) Redevelopment Proposal
The RKPTC has been in discussion with the Authority for some time regarding a proposed redevelopment
of its site. The RKPTC proposes to upgrade its clubhouse and associated amenities and provide
improved facilities and access for the general public and its members. It also proposes to renew its
current head-lease arrangement with the Botanic Gardens and Parks Authority, and enter into a sublease for the management of the proposed new facilities to a third party, Next Generation Clubs Australia.
In June 2004, in recognition of Kings Park and Botanic Garden being the People’s Park, the Botanic
Gardens and Parks Authority Board of Management decided to undertake a two month period of public
consultation on the new Royal Kings Park Tennis Club (RKPTC) concept plan. The proposal provides for
the conservation of heritage buildings and tennis courts, redevelopment of the aged Eastman Building
and ongoing maintenance of the 105-year-old heritage precinct. The public consultation period will be
from 30 July to 30 September 2004. The Board will then consider all the comments received and
recommend a final decision to the Minister for the Environment.
Risk Management Planning
The Authority’s Risk Management Policy was updated and endorsed by the Board of Management on 22
May 2003. The Risk Register was substantially updated using the Australian Standards, with a review
and reprioritisation of risks occurring on a quarterly basis. Detailed action planning has been undertaken
to mitigate, plan for and/or address each significant identified risk. Many of these risk management action
plans have important funding implications, and the annual review of the allocation of resources is guided
by the need to address high priority risk areas.
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Legislative Review
Section 54 of the Botanic Gardens and Parks Authority Act 1998 requires the Minister to carry out a
review.
54. (1)
(2)

The Minister is to carry out a review of the operations and effectiveness of this Act as soon as is
practicable after the expiry of 5 years from its commencement.
In the course of that review the Minister is to consider and have regard to –
(a) the effectiveness of the operations of the Authority;
(b) the need for the continuation of the functions of the Authority; and
(c) any other matters that appear to the Minister to be relevant to the operation and
effectiveness of the Act.

(3)

The Minister is to prepare a report based on the review and, as soon as is practicable after the
report is prepared, is to cause it to be laid before each House of Parliament.

This review was commenced in May 2004 and will be concluded by September 2004. The Authority has
contracted Hamilton Integrated Management to undertake this review. In addition, an internal review of
the wording of the Act itself has been undertaken, and suggestion for minor improvements and
amendments will be progressed with Parliamentary Counsel.

EXECUTIVE SUPPORT
Administrative and secretarial support was provided on an ongoing basis to the Executive and to the
Board of Management. The Board continues to meet on a monthly basis to determine matters of policy
and strategy.
A major initiative to improve decision-making and corporate governance was the reviewed and expanded
version of the Schedule of Reporting Requirements and Delegation of Authority. This Schedule is a
formal document approved under common seal of the Authority. It is based on the principles of good
governance, and is prescribed in part by the Botanic Gardens and Parks Authority Act 1998. The
Schedule provides a clear indication of what must be reported to whom, and the explicit delegation and
extent of authority to decide and to authorise certain acts (such as contracts, tenders and employment).
The Board of Management, at its April 2004 meeting, endorsed the reviewed schedule.

FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT
The Authority has increased its self-generated revenue from last financial year mainly due to the success
of summer events held at Kings Park and Botanic Gardens in 2003 - 2004. The Kings Park and Botanic
Garden summer events program provides an important revenue stream for the Authority.
With the completion of the Lotterywest Federation Walkway and the Bali Memorial Picnic area, new
pavilions and other new facilities have been available to hire to the public and have been extremely
popular.
The rent and the turnover of sales received by the Restaurant and Cafes were maintained at similar
levels from last year.
Sponsorships and donations received via the Friends of Kings Park have increased since the opening of
the Lotterywest Federation Walkway.
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With the new Finance Team structure in place, the financial system and other systems such as Ranger
have been significantly improved, resulting in improved effectiveness and efficiency in financial and
performance reporting.
A review of internal audit functions and a request for tenders for provision of audit functions led to the
Authority appointing Stamfords Advisors and Consultants as the new internal auditors. In addition, the
Audit Committee of the Board of Management was re-established and now meets quarterly, or as
required, to review a range of corporate governance matters including internal and external audit issues.
Leases, Licences and other Contracts
The Authority refined and improved its contract development and management processes over the past
year. Several new contract management ‘tools’ have been developed to assist managers and to ensure
more consistency, fairness and efficiency in administering the Authority’s contracts. These include a
‘Contracts Register’, new ‘Events’ guidelines, new ‘Supply Contracts Package’, comprising a ‘Supply
Guidelines’, ‘Standard Contract Template’ and ‘Standard Tender Template’ and a new ‘Activity’ licence
template.
Several major leases and licences have been finalised and registered, after many months of negotiation.
There has also been an increased emphasis on negotiating longer-term contracts, to provide greater
assuranc e of revenue and to decrease administrative costs. Several significant contract breaches have
been addressed and in some cases, further contract variations have been negotiated to address new
issues.
Tenders were called for the Outdoor Cinema and the Bike Hire Service. The related new contracts are
expected to deliver ongoing high quality services in these areas. The Authority is delighted to have
contracted Moonlight Palace Cinemas to conduct outdoor cinema in Kings Park and Botanic Garden for
the five years from 2004 to 2009.
Detailed research has also been undertaken into several matters likely to have major implications for the
Authority, including Bushfires Act liabilities, Mt Eliza Scarp liabilities, copyright liabilities, land acquisitions
at Bold Park, complaints and redevelopment proposals for the Royal Kings Park Tennis Club.

EMPLOYEE SERVICES
As at 30 June 2004, the Authority has 124 staff. Sixteen permanent vacancies were advertised in 2003 2004. Capital works programs and new external grants continued to require a varied number of fixed-term
employment contracts.
As part of central Government strategy, the Department of Consumer Employment and Protection
(DOCEP) resumed the maintenance of the Authority’s workplace agreements. This resulted in the
Authority liaising with DOCEP for the maintenance of the previous conditions enjoyed by: the Civil Service
Association; the Western Australian Shire Councils; Municipal Road Boards; Health Boards; Parks
Cemeteries and Racecourse; Public Authorities; and Water Boards Union (LGU) employees. Registration
of both agreements this year will see the Authority’s employees gain a pay increase of approximately 4%
per year for the next two years. The conditions for this increase have been brought largely back into line
with the Award conditions for the rest of the Public Sector.
Other services provided to employees throughout the year included ongoing essential payroll functions,
co-ordination of recruitment and selection processes, personal record keeping, co-ordination of
performance enhancement initiatives, facilitation of communication and assistance with individual human
resources processes related queries. Following a full audit of leave entitlements, training for staff and a
review of processes, a new payroll system was successfully and smoothly implemented in March 2004.
The staff induction process was reviewed and a more streamlined process for the commencement for
new employees was adopted. This includes an employee-endorsed record confirming the receipt of
required induction communication, which will be held on the employee’s personal file.
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Equal employment opportunity practices continue to be adhered to and this is reflected in a workforce,
which is culturally and linguistically diverse and has a balanced representation of women, at a range of
levels and in non-traditional occupations. A review of the Authority’s diversity was commenced with
several areas being identified for improvement. These areas include the recruitment of the indigenous
and employees with a disability. Training in cross-cultural awareness was undertaken along with refresher
sessions for employees who are required to sit on recruitment panels.
The Joint Consultative Committee has been instrumental in the review and implementation of a new
uniform policy for all employees of the Authority. The Committee provided a valuable forum for employee
input and consultation on a range of workplace reform, productivity and communication issues.
Training and assessments undertaken were designed to reduce some risks for the Authority. These
include: the computer literacy of the horticultural and operational employees to ensure that they are
equipped to meet future corporate direction; fire fighting fitness assessments have been carried out for all
employees who volunteer to be on the fire crew roster; a manual handling instruction will be arranged for
staff involved in the annual Wildflower Festival; and motor bike training was carried out for employees
who ride the Authority’s vehicles. The provision of free influenza vaccinations has been made available to
all Authority employees.

STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE WITH PUBLIC SECTOR STANDARDS
The Authority has complied with the Public Sector Standards in Human Resource Management and the
WA Public Sector Code of Ethics.
The Authority has put in place procedures designed to ensure such compliance and conducted appropriate
internal self-assessments and improved processes. For example, ongoing work is undertaken to ensure the
Public Sector Standards in Human Resource Management are applied to all human resource practices.
New staff are inducted using the revised induction process. Regular quarterly meetings are scheduled for
all staff, for the Chief Executive Officer to address general corporate issues, including required standards of
behaviour.
The applications made for breach of standards review and the corresponding outcomes for the 2003/2004
reporting period are:
Number
Number
Number
Number

lodged:
of breaches found:
of breaches claimed withdrawn after lodgement
still under review:

4
2
2
Nil

OCCUPATIONAL HEALTH AND SAFETY
The Occupational Health and Safety Committee continued to meet throughout the year and has
performed more of an active role within the Authority. The following range of safety and health issues
were discussed and addressed:
n

The identification and training of staff in appropriate use of scooters within Kings Park and Botanic
Garden and Bold Park;

n

Investigation of storage of chemicals. Chemical shed to be completed soon and sub committee for it
has been established;

n

Assessment of the safety of parking of work vehicles in the depot;

n

Flow chart of accidents / incident report and updated procedures. This includes the development of a
hazard report;

n

First aid training for staff;
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n

Traffic calming devices in the Western Power Parkland and Depot area in Kings Park and Botanic
Garden;

n

Safety check sheets were updated and turned into an active document;

n

Identifying that all areas require an evacuation plan;

n

The Committee is in the process of supplying all Directorates a hard copy of all policies and guidelines
so that all staff can access them; and

n

Re- election of Committee has occurred and a Chairperson will be appointed by next meeting.

Over half of the Committee ended their terms this year, with a range of nominees being appointed
through the bi-annual election process. The new representatives have received, or will be attending,
appropriate training in the near future.

INFORMATION SERVICES REPORT
From late 2002 the Authority embarked on a major project, based on a Strategic Information Technology
Plan (SITP) developed in 2001. This project saw the upgrading of IT infrastructure and System to a level
that provides the Authority a firm base for the future. Early in 2003/2004 financial year, the Authority
commenced implementation with a new network operating system, to bring it in line with the majority of
other Government departments. Judicious use of funds enabled further enhancements to IT systems,
beyond that envisaged in the scope of the SITP. A major emphasis has been encouraging users to take
on greater responsibility in effectively maintaining information integrity.
The major achievements for 2003/2004 are:
n

The implementation of Microsoft Windows based operating environment, which brings the Authority
into line with the majority of Government organisations;

n

Upgrade of the Local Area Network and Wide Area Network giving greater reliability, data storage and
speed of access to information;

n

Upgrade of existing Applications. These included a more reliable e-mail system, improved security and
file access and a faster, more reliable remote access capability that can handle future developments;
and

n

Standardisation of the Authority’s Macintosh research environment.

The Authority now has a fully integrated infrastructure platform for its information services delivery and an
upgradeable path for its future information services development. This platform will enable the Authority
to fulfil its Government requirement to deliver information by a web-based delivery system.

RECORDS MANAGEMENT AND ADMINISTRATION SUPPORT
The Authority’s Recordkeeping Plan (RKP) was approved by the State Records Office (SRO) on 29
January 2004. The Retention and Disposal (R&D) component of the RKP is currently being assessed by
the SRO pending its submission to the State Records Advisory Committee. Following approval of the
R&D Schedule, the RKP will be resubmitted for approval.
An outcome of the RKP was the development and implementation of a new agency specific thesaurus.
Training in the use of the new thesaurus was conducted by IMS Consultancy. In addition, in-house
training sessions will be conducted by the records management officer for individual staff members on an
as-needs basis.
As a result of the Authority’s major capital works program, off site storage for inactive and archival
records was implemented. These records (numbering approximately three hundred and fifty boxes) are
now located at the Ausdoc facilities in Welshpool.

51

ANNUAL REPORT 2003 - 2004

The Authority’s Administration Assistants team continues to ensure that the Authority’s three Directorates
receive effective and efficient administrative support. In addition to records management and general
administrative support functions undertaken, this team also assists in purchasing, resource management,
customer feedback, asset recording and other functions.

INFORMATION STATEMENT 2003
There were no formal Freedom of Information (FOI) requests received in 2003/2004.
Access to Information
The Freedom of Information Act 1992 provides a guarantee that members of the public can access the
vast majority of the records held by the Authority. Wherever possible the Authority will endeavour to
provide access to information as quickly and easily as possible without the client needing to submit a
formal FOI request.
Publications
The Authority has a small collection of botanical publications available for purchase from the
Administration Centre in Kings Park and Botanic Garden.
Submitting an FOI request
In the first instance, contact the Authority by telephone, email or in person, as it may not be necessary to
submit a formal FOI request. The Authority will endeavour to satisfy each information request as quickly
and comprehensively as possible.
Should an applicant wish to proceed with a formal application, a valid FOI application needs to:
n

be in writing;

n

give enough information so the documents requested can be identified;

n

give an Australian address to which notices can be sent; and

n

be lodged at our office with any application fee, if payable.

Applications and Enquiries
FOI Co-ordinator:
Director, Corporate and Business Services
Botanic Gardens and Parks Authority
Kings Park and Botanic Garden
Fraser Avenue
West Perth WA 6005
Telephone 08 9480 3600
E-mail
enquiries@bgpa.wa.gov.au

Applicants will be promptly acknowledged in writing and be informed of the decision within 45 days.
The best method of access to documents is determined by negotiation between the Authority and the
applicant. Documents may be inspected on our premises, posted, sent by facsimile or emailed.
Should an applicant be dissatisfied with an access decision, he/she can request an internal review of that
decision and subsequently, a review by the Information Commissioner if still not satisfied.
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Under FOI procedures, an individual may also apply to amend personal information about themselves if
they think that it may be inaccurate or misleading. To do this, applicants will need to contact the
designated FOI Co-ordinator as described above.
Access Charges
The Freedom of Information Act 1992 states that a valid FOI application must be accompanied by an
application fee of $30 plus GST, unless that request is entirely for personal information about the
applicant. The Authority can help applicants determine if their enquiry is likely to attract the application fee
if they contact us before submitting an application.
Fees may also apply for copying or transcribing information. These will be charged at cost depending on
the type and volume of copying required. Should photocopies be necessary, these will be charged at 20
cents per A4 page.
Concessions of 25% are available to applicants who can demonstrate financial hardship. No fee is
charged for a request to amend personal information.

WASTE PAPER RECYCLING
The Botanic Gardens and Parks Authority adheres to the State Government’s policy to recycle wherever
practicable, waste generated by Government metropolitan agencies and utilises the ‘Whole of State
Government Contract’ for Waste Paper Recycling.

STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE WITH THE ELECTORAL ACT 1907
In accordance with the requirements of Section 175ZE of the Western Australian Electoral Act 1907, the
Botanic Gardens and Parks Authority reports that it incurred the following expenditures in the financial
year ended 30 June 2004:
Media advertising organisations:
$285.00
$478.00
$1019.00
$170.00
$675.00
$400.00
$250.00
$163.00

Britel Enterprises
Concept Media
Templar
The Wedding Network
West Australian Publishers
Scoop Magazine
Lasso Kip Pty Ltd
Senior Post

There was expenditure of $1,290.00 for Julia Berney and $4,914.00 for Media Decisions WA for
advertising agencies and no expenditure in the market research, direct mail and polling areas by the
Authority.
Total expenditure was $9,641.10.

Ms Marcelle Broderick
DIRECTOR, CORPORATE AND BUSINESS SERVICES
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SCIENCE

directorate

DIRECTORATE OBJECTIVE

ν To conserve and enhance Western Australian bushland and other flora.
OVERVIEW
The Directorate continues to focus efforts on the application of a multidisciplinary research and adaptive
management approach to plant species and community conservation and restoration. A key feature of the
research remains the integration of research areas for effective delivery of conservation and restoration
outcomes. Each research area therefore represents the outcomes of a multi-disciplinary team approach.
For example, the recovery of a threatened species typically involves research into seed dormancy
(restoration ecology), conservation genetics, cryo-conservation, seed banking (germplasm conservation),
propagation science (tissue culture) and community liaison (Extension and Biodiversity Officer). An
additional key feature of the research programs is an adaptive management approach, linking science
and operations to enable timely application of research outcomes to conservation and restoration
programs.
Postgraduate and higher learning research remains a significant component of research outputs for the
Directorate: currently there are more than 20 PhD and honours programs active with an additional two
PhD degrees awarded and three honours programs concluded over 2003/2004. Cementing the
significance of higher learning in the conservation and restoration sciences, The School of Plant Biology
at The University of Western Australia (UWA) and the Authority initiated a Plant Conservation and
Restoration Biology unit in 2004. The development of the unit is in recognition of the specialist expertise
and skills of Authority staff in the areas of conservation and restoration biology and involves staff
delivering what is widely anticipated to be a successful program and partnership based on student
interest to date.
The Directorate continued to collaborate and attract major research funding, with the group applying for,
or being awarded, a record $3 million of nationally competitive and industry grants with a total of nine
Australian Research Council (ARC) grants received and more than 20 industry and allied grants from
across the State. Of most significance, the Millenium Seedbank (MSB) funding has been extended to
cover the period 2005-2010, providing in partnership with the Authority, two senior scientist positions.
These grants build the intellectual infrastructure for addressing issues ranging from genetic diversity to
species recovery and seed banking of threatened species.
The Directorate continues to promote the application of sound scientific principles in the conservation,
restoration and management of biodiversity. Publications in reputable and international scientific journals
remains an important tool in establishing the international importance of the science programs in the
Authority. Twenty Five publications appeared in international journals, in addition to one book launched in
September 2003 (Orchid Conservation; Natural History Publications).
Communication of research findings via conferences, workshops and seminars remained a significant
focus of the research group. Authority scientists were invited to present at prestigious international and
national forums including the:
n
n
n

nd

2

World Botanic Gardens Congress, Spain 2004;

th

10 Mediterranean Ecosystems Conference, Greece, 2004;
7th International Conference on the Ecology and Management of Alien Plant Invasions in conjunction
with Invasive Plants in Natural and Managed Systems: Linking Science and Management, USA, 2003;
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n

XIX International Congress of Genetics, Victoria, 2003;

n

International Botanical Gardens Conference, Indonesia, 2003;

n

5 Australian Workshop on Native Seed Biology, Queensland, 2004; and,

n

Greening Australia’s National Vegetation Knowledge Service, Queensland, 2004.

th

Research collaboration remains an integral part of the success of the research programs. Key statebased research partners include: The University of Western Australia; Murdoch University; Department of
Conservation and Land Management (CALM); Curtin University and the Department of Agriculture. Links
with local and international conservation groups and botanic gardens are sustained with active
participation by Authority scientists in the Australian Network for Plant Conservation (ANPC) and Botanic
Gardens Conservation International and representation by the Director, Science on a number of national
and international science and conservation advisory committees. As a testimony to these strong linkages,
the Authority and collaborative research partners CALM, CSIRO, Curtin University, Murdoch University,
Zoological Gardens and Parks Authority, WA Museum, and The University of Western Australia and
collaborative extension partners ANPC, ACMER and WWF collaborated on an application under the WA
Major Research Facility Program out of the Office of Science and Innovation in the Department of
Premier and Cabinet. The Authority and consortium application is for development of the State’s first
Biodiversity Conservation Research Institute (BCRI) incorporating a new Australian Plant Conservation
Facility (APCF) in Kings Park and Botanic Garden, with a decision on funding expected later this year.

RESTORATION ECOLOGY
The Authority has custodianship of significant urban bushland remnants in the Perth metropolitan area,
and undertakes appropriate research and operations to enhance the conservation values of bushland at
Kings Park and Botanic Garden and Bold Park. The Authority’s restoration ecology research group has
employed an adaptive management approach to restoration research and management involving links
with other disciplines in the Science Directorate and operations staff; as well as industry, community
groups, practitioners, researchers and government agencies. Together with examining protocols for urban
bushland restoration, the group continues to research a wide spectrum of innovative methods for tackling
restoration of bio-diverse ecosystems throughout the state. As a testimony to their broad restoration skills,
the group undertook sponsored research for the mining sector: Anaconda Nickel, Cawse Nickel, Rocla
Quarry Products, Straits Resources, Hammersley Iron, Alcoa Australia, Apache Energy, Chevron Texaco;
these programs encompass a diversity of plant communities from the Kimberley, Great Sandy Desert,
Goldfields, deep south-west and Swan Coastal Plain regions of Western Australia. During the year, the
group expanded its network of sponsored research within the mining and government sector to include:
Shark Bay Resources, Department of Defence and Fire and Emergency Services Authority (FESA).
Key research areas in restoration ecology include: seed quality standards and dormancy release;
developing integrated weed management strategies; developing ‘best practice’ restoration techniques;
deriving completion criteria for ‘best practice’ in urban bushland and post-disturbance restoration;
recovery of rare and threatened species after mining; understanding and ameliorating edaphic,
microclimatic and ecophysiological constraints on species establishment; and plant community
development and sustainability of restoration.
Restoration Research in Bold Park
The Authority’s restoration research team was recently expanded and is guiding management to enable
‘best practice’ restoration of the Bold Park bushland. The release of the Bold Park ‘Environmental
Management Plan’ (EMP) in 2001 committed the Authority to restoration of sixty hectares of degraded
Bold Park bushland. The project currently represents one of the most significant and challenging urban
bushland restoration projects being undertaken in Australia. To facilitate successful restoration, several
areas of intensive research were undertaken. As such, the research program involves the integration of a
variety of science disciplines (conservation genetics, weed ecology, propagation science, floristics and
germplasm storage), with the expected outcomes being the restoration of Bold Park to a more complete
and self-sustaining ecosystem.
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Highlights for 2003/2004 in Restoration Ecology are:
n

The group was commissioned by FESA to undertake an independent preliminary research study to
investigate the effects of fire fighting foams (typically used to assist in fi re suppression) on vegetation
communities characteristic of the Swan Coastal Plain. It is envisaged that the preliminary study will
develop into a longer-term doctoral post.

n

The Authority was commissioned by the EPA to undertake an independent review of the scientific
literature on the effects of prescribed burning on the Western Australian biodiversity. The resulting
document will form part of an EPA public discussion paper.

n

Seed dormancy research is making significant progress with dormancy issues being resolved for a
number of difficult to germinate species e.g. Dilleniacae and Sapindaceae families. The positive
outcomes will result in the introduction of these species to restoration sites in the bushlands of Bold
Park and Kings Park and Botanic Garden. Similarly, tissue culture research is making significant
advances with four dominant restoration species successfully placed into tissue culture conditions in
the Restionaceae and Cyperaceae families.

n

Six honours students joined the Bold Park Restoration Ecology Group for 2004, in seed dormancy and
disturbance ecology. It is anticipated that the six projects will make significant headways towards
improving restoration practises in Bold Park.

n

A definitive field guide to the native and weedy plants of bushland and coast of Kings Park and
Botanic Garden and Bold Park is nearing completion and represents the first comprehensive guide for
both bushland areas.

n

The annual Bold Park Restoration Research Workshop attracted attendees from the Authority,
stakeholder groups, government departments, universities and the mining sector. The workshop
promoted research on the restoration of Bold Park to a wider community, while simultaneously
providing an opportunity for community and stakeholder feedback on Authority programs in Bold Park.

n

The Kings Park Scarp Restoration Monitoring and Reporting Project is now in its second year, under
the guidance of the Restoration Ecology team for the Biodiversity Conservation branch. An annual
report was recently completed, providing recommendations for ongoing works in the scarp bushland.

n

The group attracted more than 30 volunteers, students and work experience personnel through the
year.

Students
n

Mr Brett Neasham recently submitted a thesis on a study to investigate the effects of fire disturbance
and weed management on native and weed species recruitment in Bold Park.

n

Ms Olivia Davies is undertaking a social study entitled “Visitor’s perspectives of Bold Park as a multi
purpose recreational resource”.

n

Ms Malin Kordes is undertaking a field study entitled “Investigation into the efficacy of bait stations for
the control of the European wild rabbit (Oryctolagus cuniculus) in the urban bushland reserve of Bold
Park”.

n

Mr Brett Pearce is undertaking a study that investigates optimising seed broadcasting techniques for
effective land restoration.

n

Ms Alice Claughton is investigating the ecology and management of the invasive black flag (Ferraria
crispa) in Bold Park.
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Industry, Government and Internal Grants
The Restoration Ecology group received eleven industry, government and internal grants:
1.

Rocla Quarry Products: Developing sustainable restoration of Banksia woodland communities
disturbed through sand quarrying activities. (2000-ongoing).

2.

Anaconda Nickel: Monitoring and assessment
Murrin-Murrin Operations. (1999-2004).

3.

Cawse Nickel: Prospectus for research development and monitoring of rehabilitation requirements for
Cawse Nickel. (2000-2004).

4.

FESA (Fire and Emergency Services Authority): A project to investigate the effects of fire fighting
foams (typically used to assist in fire suppression) on vegetation communities characteristic of the
Swan Coastal Plain. (2003/2004).

5.

Department of Defence: A project to develop conservation of two rare plant species; Centrolepis
caespitosum and Eleocharis keigheryi, on the RAAF Base, Pearce. (2003/2004).

6.

Department of Defence: A project to understand impacts of urban bushland fragmentation on fauna
populations, namely avifauna. (2003/2004).

7.

Kings Park and Botanic Garden: A project to provide scarp restoration monitoring and reporting
services at Kings Park. (2001-2005).

8.

Hammersley Iron Pty Ltd: Undertaking seed quality assessments for Hammersley Iron Pty Ltd.
(2003/2004).

9.

Shark Bay Resources: A program to research and develop integrated restoration of borrow pits for
Shark Bay Resources Pty Ltd. (2004-2007).

of

native

flora

restoration

at

Anaconda

10. Chevron Texaco: Coastal Restoration. (2003/2004).
11. Apache Energy: Restoration of Airlie Island. (2000-ongoing).
Nationally Competitive Grants
An ARC Linkage grant was awarded to a research member of the Bold Restoration Research Project
totalling $200,000 over a period of three years. The research will further our understanding of seed
dormancy issues in Bold Park species.

CONSERVATION GENETICS
The Conservation Genetics team is applying molecular markers for research and practical outcomes in
native plant conservation, restoration, breeding and phylogenetics. The laboratory is equipped with a
state-of-the-art automated DNA sequencer, enabling the rapid application of fluorescent-based DNA
fingerprinting and DNA sequencing techniques. Key research areas include the genetic delineation of
provenance for plants targeted for restoration, the identification of levels of genetic variation within and
among natural populations of native plants, the identification of taxonomic rank and evolutionary
relationships in native plant groups, the detailed analysis of realised mating patterns in natural
populations, as well as the application of DNA fingerprinting for more efficient native plant breeding for
horticultural markets.
Highlights for 2003/2004 in Conservation Genetics are:
n

Five nationally competitive ARC grants currently are held by the conservation genetics team through
the Discovery and Linkage Grants Schemes with researchers at The University of Western Australia,
Curtin University, Murdoch University, the University of Melbourne, CALM, Royal Botanic Gardens
Sydney (RBGSYD) and industry partners Landcare Services Pty Ltd and the Western Australian
Department of Agriculture.
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n

Significant progress is being made towards a provenance atlas for native plant community restoration
in SW Western Australia, with genetic provenance information for more than 30 species now
completed. This information helps identify seed collection zones of the local provenance, making
restoration more efficient and conserving local genotypes. This project is currently funded by two ARC
Linkage grants and industry partners LandCare Services Pty Ltd, Alcoa World Alumina Australia and
Worsley Alumina Pty Ltd.

n

The comparison of DNA sequences has shed new light on the relationships and genetic similarity of
species in the horticulturally significant fan-flower family (Goodeniaceae). This ARC funded research,
in collaboration with industry partner Western Australian Department of Agriculture, underpins the
efficiency of the horticultural breeding program of plants such as Scaevola and Lechenaultia at Kings
Park and Botanic Garden. DNA fingerprinting is also efficiently identifying novel hybrids from the
breeding program.

n

A significant impact on reproductive success, that potentially threatens the long-term viability of
populations, has been identified in an ARC Discovery grant funded analysis of realised mating
patterns and inbreeding depression in small and recently fragmented WA wheatbelt species gimlet
(Eucalyptus salubris) and salmon gum (E. salmonophloia), in contrast to the granite rock endemic
species E. caesia and E. crucis.

n

An ARC Discovery grant funded project on the population dynamics and genetic variation of plants
varying in fire response has shed new light on disturbance and the increased occurrence of hybrids
between B. hookeriana and B. prionotes, on the phylogeographic history of B. hookeriana, on patterns
of mating and levels of genetic variation in aerial seed banks over many years of mating, and has
identified a surprisingly high frequency of long distance seed dispersal in B. hookeriana, which
presumably plays an important role in the continued existence of this fire-sensitive species in a fireprone environment.

n

Continued an ARC and AusAid funded project, on factors influencing the restricted distribution of rare
species through a comparison of genetic variation and nutrient acquisition between narrowly endemic
and widespread Banksia species. Recent results indicate that the holly leafed Banksia (Banksia
ilicifolia) demonstrates strong selection against the seed and seedling products of self-fertilization.

n

Completed a project, funded by the American Orchid Society, on genetic specificity of native terrestrial
orchids and their endophytic fungi using DNA fingerprinting: essential information for the restoration of
orchids in urban bushland remnants.

n

Continued a research program, commissioned by Alcoa World Alumina Australia and Worsley Alumina
Pty Ltd, on genetic provenance delineation of key species targeted for post-mine site revegetation in
the Jarrah forest south of Perth.

n

Completed research, commissioned by CALM, identifying the extent of clonality in the Declared Rare
Flora (DRF) species Grevillea pythara. DNA fingerprinting showed that this plant, which only occurs
along one 500m road verge, is a single clone.

n

Commenced a major 3-year research program, commissioned by Portman Iron Ore Pty Ltd, on the
biology of the DRF Tetratheca paynterae for on and off-site conservation.

n

Assessed genetic fidelity of ex situ material of the DRF species Grevillea scapigera, and identified key
issues for the management of genetic variation in translocations.

n

Completed research, commissioned by Western Australian Department of Agriculture, utilizing DNA
fingerprinting for the genetic characterisation of elite apple cultivars.

n

Completed molecular phylogenetic and population genetic studies in native and introduced orchids
and their mycorrhizal fungi. Projects include genetically assessing the specificity of the associated
fungus of widespread and endemic orchids and the evolutionary relationships of the underground
orchid and its fungus.
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Students and Externally Funded Staff
st

n

Mr Luke Barrett was awarded a 1 class honours project investigating the within-population spatial
and seed bank genetic structure of Banksia hookeriana using Amplified Fragment Length
Polymorphism (AFLP).

n

Ms Yumi Bonnardeaux was awarded a 1 class honours project which identified the evolutionary
relationships of the orchids Pyrorchis and Monadenia and their fungi from DNA sequences.

n

Mr Kacung Hariyono completed his PhD thesis on the development of micropropagation techniques
and assessment of levels of genetic variation with Corynanthera flava.

n

Mr Matthew Barrett is working on his PhD thesis on population genetics of the genus Chamelaucium.

n

Ms Eleanor O’Brien is working on her PhD thesis researching the significance of genetic provenance
for restoration of native plant communities.

n

Mr Bambang Heliyanto is working on his PhD thesis contrasting genetic variation within and among
common and rare Banksia species using AFLP techniques.

n

Ms Elefhtheria Dalmaris has recently commenced her PhD on Wandoo decline, which includes an
assessment of genetic variation within and among populations.

st

The following post-doctoral fellows or research scientists are, or have been part of, or recently joined, the
conservation genetics team:
n

Dr TianHua He is working on an ARC funded project assessing genetic variation and population
dynamics of Banksia hookeriana.

n

Dr Grace Zawko is involved in the genetic delineation of provenance of Jarrah forest species.

n

Dr John Bussell was involved in the genetic delineation of provenance for the rehabilitation of urban
bushland remnants.

n

Dr Liz Sinclair replaced Dr Bussell in June 2004.

n

Dr Penny Butcher commenced in June 2004 on the conservation of the DRF Tetratheca paynterae
project.

n

Dr Janet Anthony is assessing genetic variation in the DRF sedges Centrolepis caespitosa and
Eleocharis keigheryi.

Industry Grants Received
The Conservation Genetics team received five industry grants:
n

CALM: Genetic testing for clonality of DRF species Grevillea pythara ($5,000).

n

Worsley Alumina/Alcoa Alumina Australia: Provenance delineation of 12 Jarrah forest species. (20032004, $59,000).

n

American Orchid Society: Genetic specificity of native terrestrial orchids and their endophytic fungi
using DNA fingerprinting, essential information for the restoration of orchids in urban bushland
remnants. ($23,000).

n

Portman Iron Ore Pty Ltd: An integrated research program focussed on the on- and off-site
conservation of the DRF Tetratheca paynterae. (2004-2007, $360,000).

n

Western Australian Department of Agriculture: DNA fingerprinting of elite apple cultivars.
($6,500).

59

ANNUAL REPORT 2003 - 2004

Nationally Competitive Grants Received
The Conservation Genetics team had five ARC grants active in 2003/04 as follows:
n

Rapid delineation of genetic provenance for rehabilitation and revegetation of native plant
communities. ARC Linkage grant (2002-2004, total funds $225,000). Chief Investigators: Dr Siegy
Krauss (BGPA) and Prof. Mike Johnson (UWA). Industry Partners: BGPA, LandCare Services Pty Ltd.
Post-doctoral fellow: Dr TianHua He.

n

A biological basis for the efficient breeding of native plants for export markets: a case study with the
Australian Goodeniaceae. ARC Linkage grant (2002-2004, total funds $210,000). Chief Investigators:
Dr Siegy Krauss (BGPA), Prof. John Considine (UWA), Dr Peter Weston (RBGSYD). Industry
Partners: BGPA, AgWA.

n

Managing the evolutionary potential of fragmented native plant populations. ARC Discovery grant
(2002-2004, total funds $153,000). Chief Investigators: Dr Siegy Krauss (BGPA), Dr Stephen Hopper
(BGPA), Dr David Coates (CALM).

n

Population dynamics and genetic variation within plants varying in fire response. ARC Discovery grant
(2002-2004, total funds $180,000). Chief Investigators: Dr Siegy Krauss (BGPA), Prof. Byron Lamont
(Curtin University), Prof. Neal Enright (University of Melbourne). Post-doctoral fellow: Dr TianHua He.

n

Rapid genetic delineation of provenance for effective restoration of urban bushland remnants. ARC
Linkage grant (2003-2005, total funds $340,000). Chief Investigators: Dr Siegy Krauss (BGPA), Prof.
Richard Hobbs (Murdoch University). Post-doctoral fellows: Dr John Bussell, Dr Liz Sinclair, Dr Grace
Zawko.

SEED BANKING AND GERMPLASM CONSERVATION
The seed biology team has continued to lead in research on seed biology and ecology of Australian
plants. Key research areas include developing and optimising seed storage procedures for long-term
conservation (including cryostorage); developing dormancy alleviation techniques for propagation of
difficult to germinate species (including pioneering research into the use of the recently isolated chemical
in smoke responsible for seed germination); developing priming methods to increase the rate and
synchronicity of germination under nursery and field conditions; and researching methods to improve the
efficiency of use of seeds in broadcasting activities and increase seedling survival in the field during
restoration operations.
Highlights for 2003/2004 in Seed Banking and Germplasm Conservation include:
n

Physical dormancy in six species of Rhamnaceae has been identified, leading for the first time to
development of reliable germination techniques for species of this family.

n

Dormancy classification has been completed for many families with difficult to propagate species in
Epacridaceae, Dilleniaceae, Restionaceae and Cyperaceae.

n

The effects of storage environment on the dormancy state of seeds of Anigozanthos, Austrostipa,
Conostylis, Diplopetlis and Stylidium are currently being determined. Results demonstrate that the
storage environment has a significant effect on the germination of these species, particularly in
response to smoke cues.

n

Testing of a novel compound, identified as the germination-active principal in smoke on a wide range
of Australian species is continuing. The use of this compound is a major breakthrough and its use in
seed germination, soil seedbank auditing and broadscale land restoration is now under development.

n

Major trials are being undertaken in collaboration with a seed coating company to develop more
efficient use of broadcast seeds via the use of seed coating technology currently employed in
horticultural industries.
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n

A book chapter entitled “Seed Storage Characteristics and Dormancy of Australian Indigenous Plant
Species: from the Seed Store to the Field” was published in “Seed Conservation: Turning Science into
Practice”.

n

Finalisation of a major five-year research collaboration between the Authority, the Millennium Seed
Bank (Royal Botanic Gardens, Kew, UK) and the Department of Conservation and Land Management.
This collaboration will result in the addition of a further post-doctoral scientist to the seed research
team.

n

A three-day seed anatomy and morphology master workshop organised by Authority scientists was
held in March 2004, hosted by Dr Wolfgang Stuppy, Seed Morphologist at the Millennium Seed Bank
(Royal Botanic Gardens, Kew, UK).

n

A research member was invited to speak at the 2 World Botanic Gardens Congress, Barcelona, April
2004.

n

Two research members were invited to present at the ACMER 5 Australian Workshop on Native
Seed Biology, June 2004.

nd

th

Students
n

Katherine Baker is working on a PhD program on seed dormancy alleviation in fire ephemerals. Cosupervised by Associate Prof Julie Plummer (UWA), Dr Kathryn Steadman (UWA), Dr David Merritt
(BGPA) and Dr Kingsley Dixon (BGPA).

n

Jessica Daniels is working on low-temperature storage physiology of Banksia prionotes and
Eucalyptus gomphocephala. Co-supervised by Dr David Merritt (BGPA) and Dr Kathryn Steadman
(UWA).

n

Ellie Ridley is studying dormancy release techniques for the coastal species, Acanthocarpus preisii
and Scaevola crassifolia. Co-supervised by Dr David Merritt (BGPA) and Dr Shane Turner
(BGPA/UWA).

n

Rhys Thomas is researching dormancy release techniques for a range of taxonomically diverse
species, characterised by similar seed morphology and anatomy. Co-supervised by Dr David Merritt
(BGPA), Dr Shane Turner (BGPA/UWA) and Dr Beng Tan (Curtin University).

n

Brett Pearce is studying seed broadcasting methods, in particular the effects of seed coating on seed
predation rates. Co-supervised by Dr Shane Turner (BGPA/UWA) and Robert Dunn (Curtin).

Industry Grants Received
The seed banking and germplasm conservation team has attracted the following industry grants:
n

National Heritage Trust (2003/2004): A project to develop more efficient use of seed in restoration
activities within the Western Australian wheatbelt. This is a collaborative programs with Greening
Australia WA’s Seed Management Services.

n

Iluka Resources (2002/2005): A project to optimise seed storage and germination for species
employed in post-mining land restoration at the Iluka Capel and Eneabba minesites.

Nationally Competitive Grants Received
The seed banking and germplasm conservation team has received one nationally competitive grant:
n

ARC-Linkage (Plummer, Dixon and Bunn, 2003/2006): Overcoming deep dormancy in species used
for land restoration.
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PLANT BIOTECHNOLOGY (TISSUE CULTURE AND CRYOGENICS)
The Propagation Science group have been active in research areas critical to the success of ex situ
conservation and translocation of recalcitrant and endangered plant species including micropropagation,
advanced in vitro technology, cryogenics and production of plants for restoration/translocation projects.
Key areas of research include:
n

Investigation of in vitro propagation of new rare and threatened plant species.

n

Undertaking studies on advanced in vitro techniques such as somatic embryogenesis for mass
production of plant taxa important in restoration programs (in collaboration with industry partners).

n

Investigation of abiotic stress in native plant species (in collaboration with Dr T. Senaratna, UWA).

n

Undertaking research into cryogenic storage with rare native plants.

n

Researching new methods for improving the success of transfer of in vitro propagated plants to soil for
restoration programs.

Highlights for 2003/2004 in Plant Biotechnology are:
n

New additions of critically endangered taxa to the in vitro program. All species were initiated into tissue
culture from shoot material from mature plants and all three are new to in vitro science:
1. Eremophila resinosa
2. Dryandra montana
3. Roycea pycnophylla

n

Additional clones of Grevillea althoferorum and Grevillea scapigera were investigated for addition to
the tissue culture collection. These clones will enhance the genetic basis for the germplasm collection
and assist the ongoing restoration program for these species.

n

Research on micropropagation of the Eneabba mallee (Eucalyptus impensa) has continued with new
clonal material investigated for introduction to in vitro culture. Future recovery plans for this species
will depend on reliable and timely propagation of plants. At this stage it appears that tissue culture may
be the only feasible means of propagation.

n

The cryogenic program has achieved success with cryostorage of Ptchosema pusillum (a critically
endangered species) and Swainsona formosa (a rare white flowered form). In addition, new clones of
Eremophila resinosa, from Westonia as part of an in vitro project with Manager (Biodiversity and
Extension) and Westonia Mines Ltd, are undergoing trials to enable cryogenic storage. Other species,
including the critically endangered Symonanthus bancrofti, are also being prepared for the cryogenic
program, as are new clones (8) of Grevillea scapigera.

n

Two new restoration projects with rare and threatened plants using micropropagated plants are
imminent: the first is Symonanthus bancroftii which is due for re-inforcement planting to field sites in
June 2004. This is a collaborative project between the Authority, Bruce Rock Landcare, CALM
(Narrogin) with support from Threatened Species Network (TSN) and World Wildlife Fund (WWF). The
second translocation project is for Eremophila resinosa, a critically endangered species from Westonia
in the eastern goldfields. This project is in collaboration with Westonia Mines Ltd and the Authority and
aims to translocate five clones of E. resinosa (now extinct in their original location) that have been
successfully propagated through tissue culture at the Authority.

Students
n

Ms Carrie Buscomb has successfully completed her independent study contract on somatic
embryogenesis in Scaevola species. Her supervisors are Dr Tissa Senaratna (UWA, BGPA) and Dr
Eric Bunn (BGPA).

n

Mr Jason Stevens is working on his PhD involving aspects of abiotic stress tolerance in various native
and horticultural species and is supervised by Dr Tissa Senaratna (UWA, BGPA).
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n

Dr Eric Bunn graduated with a PhD thesis from UWA, entitled "Development of In Vitro Methods For
Ex Situ Conservation of Rare Australian Plants". The study resulted in successful development of
disinfestation and initiation protocols, in vitro propagation, methods for dealing with deleterious
phenolic exudates and progress towards improved cool storage methodology for four rare Eucalyptus
species. This work has produced significant outcomes for enhancing ex situ conservation of rare and
threatened mallees (Eucalyptus spp.) from south-west Western Australia.

Industry Grants Received
n

In partnership with the Biodiversity and Extension group (Mr Bob Dixon) two small grants ($20,000)
were received: Westonia Mines Ltd for micropropagation and translocation of Eremophila resinosa.

Nationally Competitive Grants Received
New grants received;
n

ARC-Linkage (LP0349302): Mechanisms for Release of Deep Dormancy in Seeds of Australian Plant
Species used in Land Restoration (2003-2006, Value $205,000). In conjunction with seed biology
research group (Dr S. Turner) and UWA Plant Science (Dr Julie Plummer).

n

Continuing grants:

n

Rural Industries Research and Development Corporation: "Development of synthetic seeds for clonal
propagation of Australian plants (somatic embryogenesis)" (2002-2005 Value $89,500). Principal
Investigator: Dr K. Dixon, BGPA.

n

Grants Applied for in 2004:

n

Threatened Species Network: Recovery of critically endangered wheatbelt plants in WA: in
collaboration with Bruce Rock LCDC and CALM.

ORCHID CONSERVATION
With an expansion in the orchid research group resulting from significant new external funding there has
been considerable advances in knowledge and conservation outcomes of Australian orchids.
Highlights for 2003/2004 in Orchid Conservation are:
Biodiversity Conservation of Australian Underground Orchids
n

The first production of substantial seedling numbers (ca. 150 seedlings) of the underground orchid
under controlled conditions was achieved. This now allows for progression of our scientific research
program and conservation activities for this critically endangered species.

n

Recovery plan for Rhizanthella gardneri is currently being implemented in conjunction with CALM and
landcare groups. The group has applied for additional funding for fencing, reticulation and mulching
trials to reverse habitat decline in the field.

Diversity of Orchid Fungi (Mycorrhizal associates)
n

The group continue to identify fungal associates of a number of rare and common orchids and to
resolve their phylogenetic position by DNA sequence comparisons. This information is being applied to
recovery plans for critically endangered taxa such as Caladenia huegelii.

n

The diversity of fungal associates of tropical western Australian orchids (from the Kimberlies) was
investigated by molecular methods.

n

Molecular fungal identification (DNA sequencing of the ribosomal gene) was shown to be a powerful
and reliable tool that allowed phylogenetic relationships of Australian orchid fungi to be compared with
a wide diversity of fungi in existing sequence databases.

n

The sexual states of the fungal associates of the western and eastern underground orchids were
discovered. Redescription of these fungal taxa is now underway.
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n

Investigations of the genetic diversity of fungal associates of orchids in the Caladenia and Drakaea
alliances using molecular method are complete.

n

A preliminary investigation of fungal diversity from several widespread orchid taxa has shown that they
have fungal associates with cosmopolitan distributions.

Ecology of Orchids and their Fungi
Innovative seed baiting methods developed by the group are now being used to identify receptor sites for
critically endangered orchids. These seed baiting techniques are also being used to investigate the
diversity of orchid fungi in urban bushland and post-mined habitats (Alcoa). The impact of weed invasion
in urban bushlands or post-mined sites is being measured through surveys of the diversity of orchids and
their fungi. Outcomes of scientific experiments using orchid seed baiting are directly and immediately
applicable to orchid conservation, since the knowledge gained is used to guide orchid recovery actions
such as propagation, translocation and habitat management. The group is currently using orchid seed
baiting to directly support orchid conservation initiatives by:
n

Identifying potential new habitats and locations within habitats for the translocation of rare orchids.

n

Understanding the roles of fungi in the distribution, fitness and recruitment of rare and common
orchids.

n

Measuring the impact of adverse factors such as disturbance and weeds on the essential symbiotic
associations of orchids.

n

Providing information about threats to the diversity of orchids and their fungi to help guide sustainable
management of remnant vegetation.

A comparison of the occurrence of orchids in post-mined sites and adjacent jarrah forest indicates that
some orchids established rapidly, while others failed to return after mining events. Research is underway
to determine underlying causes.
Orchid Conservation
n

Further advances in our development of technology for the propagation of terrestrial orchids for
translocation to field sites has occurred over the year. The methods have been laboratory, glasshouse
and field tested and described in a series of three papers submitted to the Australian Journal of
Botany.

n

A very productive collaboration with the Friends of Kings Park has resulted in propagation of orchids
for establishment in a Kings Park and Botanic Garden display area in 2004. This project combines
ecological research with educational objectives.

n

Collection of another twenty rare and endangered WA orchid species for the Millennium Seed Bank
Project with the project on target to achieve the 66 taxa required by 2004.

n

The propagation of two hundred seedlings of the critically endangered Caladenia huegelii for
translocation in 2004 to trial sites in bushland.

Biodiversity and Extensions
n

Nine presentations by our staff and students at the Second International Orchid Conservation
Congress hosted by Marie Selby Botanic Gardens in Florida highlighted the prominent position of the
group in orchid conservation.

Students
n

Danica Collins (Soil Science, University of Western Australia) is undertaking an honours project on
identification of critical habit for the critically endangered orchids Caladenia busseliana and C.
viridescens.

n

Nigel Swartz (Soil Science, University of Western Australia) recently completed an honours project on
the biology and conservation ecology of the endangered urban orchid Caladenia huegelii.
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n

Nura Abdul Karim (Soil Science, University of Western Australia) is nearing completion on the
identification of endophytes for the conservation of tropical Western Australian orchids.

n

Penny Hollick (Murdoch University) is nearing completion on a study of host specification of
mycorrhizal fungi of Australian terrestrial orchids.

n

Margaret Collins (Soil Science, University of Western Australia, Alcoa World Alumina Inc.) is working
on factors affecting the recovery of orchids in the post-mining landscape.

n

Nigel Swartz recently commenced a PhD on the biology and conservation ecology of the endangered
urban orchid Caladenia huegelii.

n

Jeremey Bougoure (Plant Biology, University of Western Australia and CALM) has commenced
research on the role of mycorrhizal fungi in nutrient supply and habitat specificity of the underground
orchid.

n

Belinda Newman (Murdoch University) will study the use of orchids as bio-indicators of urban
ecosystem sustainability.

Industry Grants Received
n

Brundrett, Dixon, Brown, Harper, Batty, Sivasithamparam, Krauss: Rescuing Critically Endangered
Wheatbelt Orchids (Lotterywest 4 year grant).

n

Several of our students received travel funds to attend the Second International Orchid Conservation
Congress in Florida, USA.

Nationally Competitive Grants Received
n

Grierson, Brundrett, Brown, Sivasithamparam: The role of mycorrhizal fungi in the nutrient supply and
habitat specificity of the underground orchid (Rhizanthella gardneri) (ARC- Linkage in collaboration
with UWA, APAI).

BIODIVERSITY AND EXTENSIONS
The core business of Biodiversity and Extensions is to underpin sound horticultural practices in
restoration and species recovery operations. Extension activities include:
n

Networking with local organisations, as well as serving on advisory groups including the Environmental
Weeds Action Network Australian and Association of Bush Regenerators.

n

Collaboration with local and state government agencies, in particular CALM, with translocation of
Declared Rare Flora, environmental weed control and managing natural ecosystems.

n

Environmental weed control, field and glasshouse trials, using a wide range of herbicides within the
Authority and sponsorship through mining companies.

n

Gardening advice to the general public using low nutrient and moisture efficient native plants through
the Kings Park Master Gardeners program.

Highlights for 2003/2004 in Biodiversity and Extensions are:
n

Successful management of four DRF species into a pre-mined area at Beenup sponsored by BHP
Billiton. This site, in a very hostile environment, has responded better than expected with few plant
losses and two of the species beginning to flower within one year of planting.

n

Presentation of a case study on the critically endangered Grevillea scapigera (Corrigin Grevillea) at a
workshop organised by ANPC on the Translocation of Declared Rare Flora held in Sydney. The
Authority was also represented at the same time during the launch of Translocation Guidelines, a
publication to which several staff contributed.
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n

The translocation of the critically endangered Corrigin Grevillea has seen for the first time, natural
recruits on one of the three translocation sites. Also for the first time in Australia, cryostored material
has been successfully propagated, transplanted and grown on, while plants have also flowered and
produced viable seed. New clones from wild populations are continually placed in tissue culture and
resulting plants are added to sites. At present, over 1,600 mature plants are growing on the three
translocation sites.

n

The Ruby Dock Control (Acetosa vesicaria) research project in the Pilbara (funded by Robe River) is
progressing well with a wide range of herbicides being tested on plants in old mine sites as well as
Karijini National Park, in collaboration with CALM.

Industry Grants Received
n

The Biodiversity and Extension team received one industry grant for the propagation and translocation
of the DRF Eremophila resinosa . Five clones have been propagated and will be translocated to a
secure site at Westonia. This one year project is funded by Westonia Mines. ($17,500).

Dr Kingsley Dixon
DIRECTOR, SCIENCE
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BOTANIC GARDENS AND PARKS AUTHORITY

publications
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Dixon, K.W., Kell, S.P., Barrett, R.L. and Cribb, P.J. (eds.) 2003. Orchid Conservation. Natural History
Publications, Kota Kinabalu, Sabah. 418 pp.
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mass propagation of Ericaceae – a case study with Leucopogon verticillatus’, in Plant Cell, Tissue and
Organ Culture 76: 137-146.
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initiation of somatic embryos with Conostephium pendulum (Ericaceae)’. Plant Cell, Tissue and Organ
Culture 78: 247-252.
Brundrett, M.C. 2004. ‘Diversity and classification of mycorrhizal associations’. Biological Reviews 79: 123.
Brundrett, M.C., Scade, A., Batty, A.L., Dixon, K.W., and Sivasithamparam, K. 2003. Development of in
situ and ex situ seed baiting techniques to detect mycorrhizal fungi from terrestrial orchid habitats.
Mycological Research 107: 1210-1220.
Chase, M.W., Cameron, K.M., Barrett, R.L. and Freudenstein, J.V. 2003. DNA data and Orchidaceae
systematics:
a
new
phylogenetic
classification.
In:
Orchid
Conservation.
Dixon, K.W., Kell, S.P., Barrett, R.L. and Cribb, P.J. (eds.) pp. 69-89. Natural History Publications
(Borneo), Kota Kinabalu, Sabah.
Cribb, P.J., Kell, S.P., Dixon, K.W. and Barrett, R.L. 2003. Orchid Conservation: a global perspective. In
Dixon, K.W., Kell, S.P., Barrett, R.L. and Cribb, P.J. (eds.) Orchid Conservation. pp. 1-24. Natural
History Publications, Kota Kinabalu, Sabah.
Dixon, B. and Krauss, S. (2004). The Grevillea scapigera case study. Chapter 9. In Vallee, L., Hogbin, T.,
Monks, L., Makinson, B., Matthes, M. and Rossetto, M 2004. Guidelines for the translocation of
nd
threatened plants in Australia (2 . Edn) pp. 65-69. Australian Network for Plant Conservation,
Canberra.
Enright, N.J., He, T. Krauss, S.L., Lamont, B.B. and Miller, B.P. 2003. Genetic variation and
biogeographic history in the restricted southwestern Australian shrub, Banksia hookeriana. Physical
Geography 24(3):
Fay, M. and Krauss, S.L. 2003. Orchid conservation genetics in the molecular age. In Dixon, K.W., Kell,
S.P., Barrett, R.L. and Cribb, P.J. (eds.) Orchid Conservation. pp. 91-112. Natural History
Publications, Kota Kinabalu, Sabah.
He, T., Krauss, S.L., Lamont, B.B., Miller, B.P. and Enright, N.J. 2004. Long distance seed dispersal in a
metapopulation allocation analysis of AFLP data. Molecular Ecology 13:1099-1109.
Hopper, S.D. 2004. South-western Australia, Cinderella of the world’s temperate floristic regions 2. Curtis’
Botanical Magazine 21:132-181.
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Hopper, S.D. and Brown, A.P. 2004. Robert Brown’s Caladenia revisited, including a revision of its sister
genera Cyanicula, Ericksonella and Pheladenia (Caladeniinae: Orchidaceaee). Australian Systematic
Botany 17: 171-240.
Koopowitz, H., Lavarack, P.S. and Dixon, K.W. 2003. The nature of threats to orchid conservation. In
Dixon, K.W., Kell, S.P., Barrett, R.L. and Cribb, P.J. (eds.) Orchid Conservation. pp. 25-42. Natural
History Publications, Kota Kinabalu, Sabah.
Krauss, S.L. 2004. Rapid genetic delineation of provenance for native plant community restoration in a
th
biodiversity hotspot. In Arianoutsou and Papanastasis (eds.) Proceedings of 10 MEDECOS
Conference, April 25-May 1, 2004, Rhodes, Greece. Millpress, Rotterdam.
Krauss, S.L., He, T., Barrett, L., Lamont, B.B., Miller, B.P. and Enright, N.J. 2004. Short- and longdistance seed dispersal in a metapopulation of Banksia hookeriana (Proteaceae). In Arianoutsou and
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Papanastasis (eds.) Proceedings of 10 MEDECOS Conference, April 25-May 1, 2004, Rhodes,
Greece. Millpress, Rotterdam.
Lamont, B.B., He, T., Enright, N.J., Krauss, S.L. and Miller, B. 2003. Anthropogenic disturbance promotes
hybridisation between Banksia species by altering their biology. Journal of Evolutionary Biology 16:
551-557.
Lamont, B.B., Enright, N.J., Groenveld, J. and He, T. 2004. Coping with fire in species rich heathlands –
is there an optimum fire interval for management? In Arianoutsou and Papanastasis (eds.)
th
Proceedings of 10 MEDECOS Conference, April 25-May 1, 2004, Rhodes, Greece. Millpress,
Rotterdam.
Lavarack, P.S. and Dixon, K.W. 2003. The role of legislation in orchid conservation. In Dixon, K.W., Kell,
S.P., Barrett, R.L. and Cribb, P.J. (eds.) Orchid Conservation. pp. 289-298. Natural History
Publications, Kota Kinabalu, Sabah.
Maunder, M., Guerrant, E.O. Jr, Havens, K. and Dixon, K.W. 2004. Realizing the full potential of ex situ
contributions to global plant conservation. In Guerrant, E.O. Jr, Havens, K. and Maunder, M. (eds.) Ex
situ Plant Conservation. Supporting species survival in the wild. pp. 389-418. Island Press,
Washington.
Merritt, D.J. and Dixon, K.W. 2003. Seed storage characteristics and dormancy of Australian indigenous
plant species: from the seed store to the field. In R.D. Smith, J.B. Dickie, S.H. Linington, H.W.
Pritchard and R.J. Probert (eds.) Seed conservation: turning science into practice. pp. 807-823. Royal
Botanic Gardens, Kew.
Nash, N., Barrett, R.L., Chalmers, I., Oakeley, H.F. and Richards, H. 2003. The role of orchid societies
and growers in conservation. In: Orchid Conservation. Dixon, K.W., Kell, S.P., Barrett, R.L. and Cribb,
P.J. (eds.) pp. 313-328. Natural History Publications (Borneo), Kota Kinabalu, Sabah.
Panaia, M., Senaratna, T., Dixon, K.W. and Sivasithamparam, K. 2004. The role of cytokinins and
thidiazuron in the stimulation of somatic embryogenesis in key members of the Restionaceae.
Australian Journal of Botany 52(2): 257-265.
Ramsay, M. and Dixon, K.W. 2003. Propagation science, recovery and translocation of terrestrial orchids.
In Dixon, K.W., Kell, S.P., Barrett, R.L. and Cribb, P.J. (eds.) Orchid Conservation. pp. 259-287.
Natural History Publications, Kota Kinabalu, Sabah.
Williams, M., Senaratna, T., Dixon, K.W. and Sivasithamparam, K. 2003. Benzoic acid induces tolerance
to biotic stress caused by Phytophthora cinnamomi in Banksia attenuata. Plant Growth Regulation 41:
89-91.
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NON-REFEREED PUBLICATIONS AND REPORTS
Barrett, L. 2003. Patterns of gene movement and genetic structure within a population of Banksia
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linearis, Tetraria octandra and Cyathochaeta avenacea. Report #25 from the Genetics Laboratory,
BGPA Science, commissioned by Alcoa World Alumina and Worsley Alumina Pty Ltd
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2. MAP OF BOLD PARK
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3. KINGS PARK AND BOTANIC GARDEN MANAGEMENT PLAN 2004-2009
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STATEMENT OF

compliance

FOR THE YEAR E NDED

30 JUNE 2004

Dr. Judy Edwards MLA
Minister for the Environment

In accordance with Section 66 of the Financial Administration and Audit Act 1985, we hereby submit for
your information and presentation to Parliament, the Annual Report of the Botanic Gardens and Parks
Authority for the financial year ended 30 June 2004.
The Annual Report has been prepared in accordance with the Western Australian Public sector Annual
Report Framework April 2004, Premiers Circular 2004/08 and the provisions of the Financial
Administration and Audit Act 1985 and other legislative requirements. At the time of signing, these
attached financial statements and performance indicators have not been audited by the Office of the
Auditor General.
The Botanic Gardens and Parks Authority is constituted under the auspices of the Botanic Gardens and
Parks Authority Act 1998 for the care, control and management of Kings Park and Botanic Garden
(reserve A1720 except Perth Lots 64 and 65) and other land including Bold Park (reserve A45409). The
Botanic Gardens and Parks Authority Regulations are created under the provisions of Part 8 of the Act.
The statutory responsibility of the Act is vested in the Minister for the Environment.
In the performance of its functions the Botanic Gardens and Parks Authority complies with the following
relevant written laws:
STATE ACTS
Disability Service Act 1993

Minimum Conditions of Employment Act 1993

Electoral Act 1907

Occupational Health, Safety and Welfare Act 1984

Equal Opportunity Act 1984

Public Sector Management Act 1994

Freedom of Information Act 1992

Salaries and Allowance Act 1975

Financial Administration and Audit Act 1985

State Records Act 2000

Government Employees Superannuation Act 1987

State Records (Consequential Provisions) Act 2000

Industrial Relations Act 1979

State Supply Commission Act 1991

Library Board of Western Australia Act 1951

Workers Compensation and Rehabilitation Act 1981

COMMONWEALTH ACTS
Environment Protection and Biodiversity Act 2000

Workplace Relations Act 1996
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CERTIFICATION OF KEY

performance indicators

FOR THE

YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE

2004
We hereby certify that the performance indicators are based on proper records, are relevant and
appropriate for assisting users to assess the Botanic Gardens and Parks Authority’s performance, and
fairly represent the performance of the Botanic Gardens and Parks Authority for the financial year ended
30 June 2004.
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KEY PERFORMANCE

indicators

FOR THE

YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2004
OUTCOME
Awareness and appreciation of recreation and tourist
resources, and cultural heritage for visitors’
enjoyment.

OVERALL SATISFACTION LEVEL OF
KINGS PARK AND BOTANIC GARDEN

100
80
100

91

100

99

100

EFFECTIVENESS INDICATOR

%

60
40

KINGS PARK AND BOTANIC GARDEN

20

1.1 The level of visitor satisfaction with Kings
Park and Botanic Gardens facilities

0
1999/00

2000/01

2001/02

2002/03

2003/04

This key indicator measures the extent of visitor
satisfaction on how recreational and tourist
resources have been conserved, enhanced and
promoted and how these activities affect the level of
visitor enjoyment.

SATISFACTION LEVEL OF PARKLAND AND PICNIC AREAS
IN KINGS PARK AND BOTANIC GARDEN

100

This indicator is derived from a customer survey,
administered in person, to 400 visitors to Kings Park
and Botanic Garden.

80
97

98

99
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100

%

60

A confidence level of 95% was used for the survey.
The sample size used for the survey was 400, which
equates to a response rate of 100%. The standard
error rate is -/+ 1.96.

40
20
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1999/00

2000/01

2001/02

2002/03

2003/04

The survey was conducted during the weekdays and
weekends over a six-week period.

1.2 The visitor satisfaction with the Western
Australian Botanic Garden

SATISFACTION OF PLANT LABELS IN WESTERN
AUSTRALIAN BOTANIC GARDEN

This key indicator measures the extent of visitor
satisfaction on how recreational and tourist
resources have been conserved, enhanced and
promoted and how these activities affect the level of
visitor enjoyment within the Western Australian
Botanic Garden.
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In 2003/04 a random survey of 400 visitors was
undertaken within Kings Park and Botanic Garden. A
confidence level of 95% was used for the survey.
The sample size used for the survey was 400, which
equates to a response rate of 100%.
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2001/02

2002/03

2003/04

A confidence level of 95% was used for the survey.
The sample size used for the survey was 400, which
equates to a response rate of 100%. The standard
error rate is -/+ 1.96.
The survey was conducted during the weekdays and
weekends over a six-week period.
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KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS
OVERALL SATISFACTION LEVEL OF
BOLD PARK

BOLD PARK
1.3 The level of visitor satisfaction with Bold
Park facilities.

100
80

This key indicator measures the extent of visitor
satisfaction on how recreational and bushland
resources have been conserved, enhanced and
promoted and how these activities affect the level of
visitor enjoyment within Bold Park.

60
%

97

97

98

40
20
0
ACTUAL

TARGET

TARGET

2003/04

2004/05

2005/06

This is the first time a customer survey for
performance measurement has been conducted in
Bold Park. A random survey of 103 visitors was
undertaken during the period from February to April
2004 with a 100% response rate.
The population of the survey has not been defined
due to the methodology of the survey.
Note:
The survey covered several criteria of customer
satisfaction including:

80

n

the bushland experience

n

conditions of walking or bridle trials

n

signage

n

cleanliness of the park

n

condition of the bushland
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PERFORMANCE INDICATORS
Output 1: Customer Service and Cultural Heritage
Output description
To enhance and promote recreational, tourist resources and facilities by maintaining Kings Park and
Botanic Garden; enhancing and promoting awareness and understanding of Kings Park, Bold Park and
the Western Australian Botanic Garden through customer awareness and education forums; and
conserving promoting and developing cultural heritage including indigenous, colonial and contemporary
heritage by staging events and displays of the Authority’s designated land.
Actual
2002/03
Total annual visitor numbers to Kings Park
and Botanic Garden

Actual
2003/04

Target
2004/05

Notes

5,200,000

5,200,000

5,910,681

1

231

244

230

2

Number attending customer awareness
and education forums held at Kings Park
and Botanic Garden

306,555

291,225

330,000

3

Average cost of visitor numbers to Kings
Park and Botanic Garden

$1.52

$1.79

$1.16

$707.21

$787.89

$790.02

$0.27

$0.33

$0.33

Number of cultural events held at Kings
Park and Botanic Garden

Average cost of cultural event held at
Kings Park and Botanic Garden
Average cost per education forum
attendee held at Kings Park and Botanic
Garden

Notes:
The 2002/03 cost per unit differs from 2002/03 Annual Report due to the changes of methodology of
calculating these indicators.
1. The methodology of calculating the total annual visitor numbers changed in 2001/02, resulting in a
significant change in the visitor numbers. In previous years the visitor numbers were based on the
1993/1994 Australian Bureau of Statistics (ABS) and the 1992 Western Australian Tourism
Commission. Since 2001/02, visitor numbers have been calculated by the vehicle count mechanism.
2. Cultural events are defined as memorial, military commemorative ceremonies and other community
organised events. These include the Anzac Day ceremony, summer events such as classical and
contemporary music concerts, Shakespeare theatre and community events such as The Wildflower
Festival, Children’s Week and Community Aid Abroad.
3. Customer awareness and education forums are comprised from a number of events and functions
within Kings Park and Botanic Garden that include special walks with the Volunteer Guides, education
programs for students and booked events such as weddings and functions.

81

ANNUAL REPORT 2003 - 2004

KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS
OUTCOME
Conservation and enhancement
Australian bushland and other flora.

of

Western

EFFECTIVENESS INDICATOR
NUMBER OF DECLARED RARE FLORA SPECIES IN LIVING
COLLECTIONS WITHIN THE TOTAL DRF SPECIES

KINGS PARK AND BOTANIC GARDEN
The effectiveness of ex-situ species conservation,
and botanic research assessed through the success
in collecting and maintaining living collections of
indigenous plants for research, display, public
education and restoration.

400
350
300
250

2.1 Number of Declared Rare Flora (DRF) species
in Living collections in Kings Park and
Botanic Garden.

200
150
100

This key indicator measures the effectiveness over
time of the DRF collecting and collections
maintenance program, bearing in mind that the
number and range of plants gazetted as DRF varies
from year to year, and species vary significantly in
their ease of collections.

50
0
1999/00

2000/01

Number of Rare Flora

2001/02

2002/03

2003/04

Total DRF species gazetted

A number of DRF species collected includes those
sent in by other collectors as well as those collected
by staff of the Botanic Gardens and Parks Authority.
Total DRF species gazetted is a number derived
from the list of species Declared as Rare Flora in the
Government Gazette 15 April 2003 by the Minister
for the Environment under the Wildlife Conservation
Act 1950.

Number Declared Rare Flora (DRF) species in Living
Collections/Total DRF species gazetted
No DRF species
Total DRF
in Living
species gazetted
Collections

%

2003/04

223

348

64

2002/03

222

348

64

2001/02

222

334

66

2000/01

224

331

68

1999/00

222

331

67

This measure is calculated by the number of
declared rare flora species in Living Collections
divided by the Total DRF species gazetted in the
Government Gazette.
The total collection of DRF has increased by one
species, which is not significant enough to change
the indicator. This means that the collections are
being maintained.
The limited increase in the
collection program reflects the Authorities coordinated approach with the Department of
Conservation and Land Management who are
currently more focused on the actual collection of
seeds of Rare and Threatened species.
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KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

2.2 Number of accessions in botanical display in
Kings Park and Botanic Garden.

NUMBER OF ACCESSIONS IN THE BOTANICAL DISPLAY IN
KINGS PARK AND BOTANIC GARDENS

This indicator measures the Authority’s effectiveness
in growing plants and moving plants from the nursery
to the public display areas.

16,000
14,000
12,000

An accession is a collection of material that can be
propagated from an individual plant be it flowers,
foliage, seeds, shoots, roots or the whole plant. This
indicator is also a measure of horticultural and
management skills in maintaining the living collection
of plants.

10,000
8,000
6,000
4,000
2,000
0
1999/00

2000/01

Number of accessions

2001/02

2002/03

This measure is calculated by the number of
accessions in a botanical display in Kings Park and
Botanic Garden over the total number of accessions
alive.

2003/04

Total number of accessions alive

Number of accessions in botanical display/Total number of
accessions alive
No of Accessions in
botanical display

Total number of
accessions alive

%

2003/04

5958

14,857

40

2002/03

5,820

14,022

42

2001/02

6,076

13,771

44

2000/01

6,242

13,301

47

1999/00

6,553

13,476

49

83

The increase in the number of accessions alive
indicates the substantial increase in the accessions
being grown to plant In the Botanic Garden, now that
the major redevelopments in this area have ceased.
The decrease in plants on display reflects the planting
removed during these major redevelopments.
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KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

2.3 Number of accessions lost in Kings Park and
Botanic Garden as at 30 June 2004.

NUMBER OF ACCESSIONS LOST IN KINGS PARK AND
BOTANIC GARDENS

This is a measure of horticultural and management
skills in maintaining the living collections of plants.

16,000
14,000
12,000

This indicator is derived by dividing the number of
accessions lost in Kings Park and Botanic Garden as
at 30 June 2004 over the total number of accessions
alive.

10,000
8,000
6,000
4,000

The change in this indicator reflects the continued
slowing down of plants removed from the Botanic
Garden and this phase of the renovation process is
almost complete and the increase in the number of
plants being grown for planting, breeding and
propagation.

2,000
0
1999/00

2000/01

Number of accessions lost

2001/02

2002/03

2003/04

Total number of accessions alive

Number of accessions lost until 30 June 2004/Total DRF
species gazetted
Number accession
lost 30 June 2004

Total number of
accessions alive

%

2003/04

295

14,857

2

2002/03

372

14,022

3

2001/02

607

13,771

4

2000/01

876

13,301

7

1999/00

1,007

13,476

7
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KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS
BOLD PARK
2.4 Number of common native plant species in
Bold Park in areas with high levels of
management compared to areas with low
levels of management.
This indicator measures the Authority’s effectiveness
in restoring areas of degraded bushland in Bold Park.
It is derived by annually surveying 15 nominated
common native plant species within representative
quadrats for two dominant community types, and
comparing presence in both low management zones
and high management zones.

PROPORTION OF COMMON SPECIES IN HIGH AND LOW
MANAGEMENT AREAS

Mean number of common species

6

5

4
3

Note:
High management zones are degraded areas
undergoing ecological restoration. Low management
zones are those areas not being actively restored at
this time.

2

1

0
Actual

Target

Target

2003/04

2004/05

2005/06

Low Mgmt

The dominant community types in Bold Park are
Banksia woodland and heath over sand. Ten quadrats
for each community type in both high and low
management zones have been established (total of
40), and the number of common species present in
each quadrat averaged to give a single figure for each
management regime.

High Mgmt

TARGET
2003/04 2004/05
Average number of common species
present in high management zones

4.3

4.3

Average number of common species
present in low management zones

2.95

2.95

Indicator value

1.46

1.46

The indicator is calculated by dividing the average
number of common species present in high
management zones by the average number of
common species present in low management zones,
as determined through annual monitoring of
representative quadrats within each zone. A figure
greater than 1 indicates a higher number of common
species in the high management areas.
The indicator is expected to increase over time and
then stabilise once the broad restoration objectives of
ecological stability and resilience are attained. New
plantings are not scored as present until they have
been established for a minimum of 30 months, due to
high mortality rates during the establishment period.

85

ANNUAL REPORT 2003 - 2004

KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS
2.5 Weed cover in high intensity management
areas compared to low intensity management
areas in Bold Park.
This indicator measures the Authority’s effectiveness
in bushland restoration. It is derived by annually
recording percentage weed cover within two dominant
community types and comparing results for both low
management zones and high management zones.

PERCENTAGE WEED COVER IN HIGH AND LOW MANAGEMENT
AREAS
80
70

Note:
High management zones are degraded areas
undergoing ecological restoration. Low management
zones are those areas not being actively restored at
this time.

60

%

50
40
30
20

The dominant community types in Bold Park are
Banksia woodland and heath over sand. Forty
quadrats for each community type in both high and
low management zones have been established (total
of 160) and percentage weed cover recorded in each.

10
0
Actual

Target

Target

2003/04

2004/05

2005/06

Low Mgmt

High Mgmt

The indicator is calculated by dividing the average
percentage weed cover in high management zones
by the average percentage weed cover in low
management zones. A figure less than 1 indicat es a
lower average percentage weed cover in the high
management areas.

TARGET
2003/04 2004/05
Average percentage weed cover in high
management zones

38.6%

38.6%

Average percentage weed cover in low
management zones

67.3%

67.3%

57%

57%

Indicator (38.6/67.3)

The indicator is expected to decrease over time and
then stabilise once the broad restoration objectives of
ecological stability and resilience are attained.
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PERFORMANCE INDICATORS
Output 2: Conservation and Scientific Research
Output description
Demonstrating leadership in urban bushland management, especially for Perth and regional communities,
horticultural services including new plants developed for the nursery trade, and undertaking and promoting
leading edge science and interpretation pertinent to integrated conservation of flora for present and future
generations.
Actual
2002/03

Actual
2003/04

Notes

Target
2004/05

Number of representative native plant taxa
in Kings Park and Botanic Garden

294

319

294

1

Number of representative native plant taxa
in Bold Park bushland

298

298

298

2

Hectare of declared land managed (Kings
Park and Botanic Garden)

404

404

404

3

Hectare of declared land managed
(Bold Park)

437

437

437

3

Number of research grant projects

70

82

55

Average cost of the number of
representative native plant taxa in Kings
Park and Botanic Garden

$5,652

$6,152

$6,352

Average cost per hectare of declared land
managed (Kings Park and Botanic Garden)

$4,701

$5,552

$5,600

Average cost per hectare of declared land
managed (Bold Park)

$1,638

$2,031

$2,234

Average cost per research grant project

$5,652

$5,698

$4,800

Average cost of the number of
representative native plant species in Bold
Park.

$2,218

$2,750

$2,800

Notes:
1. This indicator measures the total number of native plant taxa in Kings Park bushland.
It is measured by an annual survey of the presence or absence of 15 nominated perennially evident
native plant species, which are the most vulnerable taxa within Kings Park bushland. The continued
presence of these species in Kings Park bushland provides an appropriate scientific measure of
overall taxa present.
Note:
n

It is not practical or feasible to annually survey all native plant taxa in all lands managed.

87

ANNUAL REPORT 2003 - 2004

n

The total number of native plant taxa recorded has increased from 294 to 319 as a result of
verification of plant records and the discovery of new records. The total number may vary from time
to time as a result of these factors or as a result of genetic analysis of provenance, which may
show that some species considered native were in fact early introductions to the park from nearby
areas.

2. This indicator measures the total number of native plant taxa in Bold Park bushland.
It is measured by an annual survey of the presence or absence of 15 nominated perennially evident
native plant species, which are the most vulnerable taxa within Bold Park. The continued presence of
these species in Bold Park provides an appropriate scientific measure of overall taxa present.
Note:
n

It is not practical or feasible to annually survey all native plant taxa in all lands managed.

n

The total number of native plant taxa recorded may vary from time to time as a result of verification
of plant records, the discovery of new records or through genetic analysis of provenance which
may show that some species considered native were in fact early introductions to the park from
nearby areas.

3. In prior years, total hectares of declared land for Bold Park and Kings Park has been calculated as one
parkland. In 2003/04, it has been split between the two parks. This has been reflected in 2002/03.
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AUDITOR’S OPINION OF

financial statements

89

FOR THE

YEAR E NDED 30 JUNE 2004

ANNUAL REPORT 2003 - 2004

CERTIFICATION OF KEY

financial statements

FOR THE

YEAR E NDED 30 JUNE 2004

The accompanying financial statements of the Botanic Gardens and Parks Authority have been prepared
in compliance with the provisions of the Financial Administration and Audit Act 1985 from proper accounts
and records to present fairly the financial transactions for the financial year ending 30 June 2004 and the
financial position as at 30 June 2004.
At the date of signing we are not aware of any circumstances which would render the particulars included
in the Financial Statements misleading or inaccurate.
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STATEMENT OF

financial performance

FOR THE YEAR E NDED

30 JUNE 2004

BOTANIC GARDENS AND PARKS AUTHORITY
Note

2003-04
$

2002-03
$

6,695,692
1,641,268
237,570
1,112,434
515,449
2,982,930
13,203
1,050,135
1,743,719
15,992,401

6,426,117
1,080,133
251,784
531,631
386,165
2,663,500
4,552
987,499
1,170,213
13,501,594

37,794
89,553
907,525
92,711
372,222
61,065

49,400
80,700
1,363,601
101,251
356,804
16,166

295,703
816,332
2,672,905

360,183
1,043,801
3,371,906

(13,319,495)

(10,129,688)

10,987,000
23,737
11,010,737

7,941,000
30,305
7,971,305

(2,308,758)

(2,158,383)

COST OF SERVICES
Expenses from ordinary activities
Employee expenses
Supplies and services
Leasing costs
Depreciation expense
Administration expenses
Capital user charge
Cost of disposal of non-current assets
Other expenses from ordinary activities
Capital works expenses
Total cost of services

2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9

Revenue from ordinary activities
Revenue from operating activities
User charges and fees
Sale of goods and services
Rents and licence fees
Commonwealth grants and contributions
Grants and subsidies
Donations
Revenue from non-operating activities
Interest revenue
Other revenues from ordinary activities
Total revenues from ordinary activities

10
11
12
13
15

14

NET COST OF SERVICES
REVENUES FROM STATE GOVERNMENT
Revenues from State Government
Resources received free of charge
Total revenues from State Government

16

Change in net assets before extraordinary items
Loss from extraordinary items

17

CHANGE IN NET ASSETS

(1,108,291)
(3,417,049)

Net increase in asset revaluation reserve

(2,158,383)

505,000

Total changes in equity other than those resulting from transactions
with WA State Government as owners

(2,912,049)

261,700

(1,896,683)

The Statement of Financial Performance should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

91

ANNUAL REPORT 2003 - 2004

STATEMENT OF

financial position

FOR THE

YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2004

BOTANIC GARDENS AND PARKS AUTHORITY
Note

2003-04
$

2002-03
$

Current Assets
Cash assets
Restricted cash assets
Receivables
Amounts receivable for outputs
Other assets
Total Current Assets

18
19
20
21
22

3,348,205
503,054
349,845
52,116
4,253,220

6,986,908
533,431
268,992
608,000
35,322
8,432,653

Non-Current Assets
Property, plant, equipment and vehicles
Amounts receivable for outputs
Total Non-Current Assets

23
21

36,021,256
1,099,000
37,120,256

30,304,664
359,000
30,663,664

41,373,476

39,096,317

Total Assets
Current Liabilities
Payables
Provisions
Other liabilities
Total Current Liabilities

24
25
26

623,693
791,289
1,421,092
2,836,074

96,065
1,062,061
478,317
1,636,443

Non-Current Liabilities
Provisions
Total Non-Current Liabilities

25

506,672
506,672

1,477,385
1,477,385

3,342,745

3,113,828

38,030,730

35,982,489

16,772,289
16,283,994
4,974,447
38,030,730

11,812,000
15,778,994
8,391,495
35,982,489

Total Liabilities
NET ASSETS
Equity
Contributed equity
Reserves
Accumulated surplus
TOTAL EQUITY

27

The Statement of Financial Position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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STATEMENT OF

cash flow

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30

JUNE 2004

BOTANIC GARDENS AND PARKS AUTHORITY
Note
CASH FLOWS FROM STATE GOVERNMENT
Output appropriations
Capital contributions
Net cash provided by State Government

2003-04
$

2002-03
$

10,855,000
3,550,000
14,405,000

7,646,000
4,150,000
11,796,000

(6,492,422)
(253,210)
(2,982,930)
(1,695,682)
(1,170,773)
(1,803,155)

(6,122,891)
(882,850)
(2,663,500)
(1,487,622)
(665,716)
(1,625,448)

41,419
89,553
92,711
297,543
359,714
202,852
893,388
1,694,479
(10,726,512)

1,750,543
80,700
101,251
351,394
67,611
183,499
188,608
1,356,732
(9,367,689)

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from sale of non-current physical assets
Purchase of non-current physical assets
Net cash provided by investing activitie s

0
(7,347,568)
(7,347,568)

20,061
(2,935,415)
(2,915,354)

Net increase/(decrease) in cash held
Cash assets at the beginning of the financial year

(3,669,080)
7,520,339

(487,043)
8,007,382

3,851,259

7,520,339

Utilised as follows:
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Payments
Employee costs
Supplies and services
Capital user charge
Capital works expenditure
GST payments on purchases
Other payments
Receipts:
User charges and fees
Sale of goods and services
Commonwealth grants and contributions
Interest received
Grants and subsidies
GST receipt on sales
GST Receipts from Taxation Authority
Other receipts
Net cash used in operating activities

28 (b)

CASH ASSETS AT THE END OF THE FINANCIAL
YEAR

28 (a)

The Statement of Cash Flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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NOTES TO THE

financial statements

FOR THE

YEAR E NDED 30 JUNE 2004

BOTANIC GARDENS AND PARKS AUTHORITY
1. Significant Accounting Policies
The following accounting policies have been adopted in the preparation of the financial statements.
Unless otherwise stated these policies are consistent with those adopted in the previous year.
General Statement
The financial statements constitute a general purpose financial report, which has been prepared in
accordance Accounting Standards, Statements of Accounting Concepts and other authoritative
pronouncements of the Australian Accounting Standards Board, and Urgent Issues Group (UIG)
Consensus Views as applied by Treasurer’s Instructions. Several of these are modified by the
Treasurer’s Instructions to vary application, disclosure, format and wording. The Financial
Administration and Audit Act and the Treasurer’s Instructions are legislative provisions governing the
preparation of financial statements and take precedence over Accounting Standards, Statements of
Accounting Concepts and other authoritative pronouncements of the Australian Accounting Standards
Board, and UIG Consensus Views. The modifications are intended to fulfil the requirements of general
application to the public sector, together with the need for greater disclosure and also to satisfy
accountability requirements.
If any such modification has a material or significant financial effect upon the reported results, details of
that modification and where practicable, the resulting financial effect, are disclosed in individual notes to
these financial statements.
Basis of Accounting
The financial statements have been prepared on the accrual basis of accounting using the historical
cost convention, except for certain assets and liabilities, which, as noted, are measured at fair value.
(a) Output Appropriations
Output Appropriations are recognised as revenues in the period in which the Authority gains control of
the appropriated funds. The Authority gains control of appropriated funds at the time those funds are
deposited into the Authority’s bank account or credited to the holding account held at the department of
Treasury and Finance.
(b) Contributed Equity
Under UIG 38 “Contributions by Owners Made to Wholly-Owned Public Sector Entities” transfers in the
nature of equity contributions must be designated by the Government (owners) as contributions as
owners (at the time of, or prior to transfer) before such transfers can be recognised as equity
contributions in the financial statements. Capital contributions (appropriations) have been designated
as contributions by owners and have been credited directly to Contributed Equity in the Statement of
Financial Position.
(c)

Grants and Other Contributions Revenue

Grants, donations, gifts and other non-reciprocal contributions are recognised as revenue when the
Authority obtains control over the assets comprising the contributions. Control is normally obtained
upon their receipt.
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Contributions are recognised at their fair value. Contributions of services are only recognised when a
fair value can be reliably determined and the services would be purchased if not donated.
(d) Revenue Recognition
Revenue from the sale of goods and disposal of other assets and the rendering of services, is
recognised when the Authority has passed control of the goods or other assets or delivery of the service
to the customer.
(e) Acquisition of Assets
The cost method of accounting is used for all acquisitions of assets. Cost is measured as the fair value
of the assets given up or liabilities undertaken at the date of acquisition plus incidental costs directly
attributable to the acquisition.
Assets acquired at no cost or for nominal consideration, are initially recognised at their first value at the
date of acquisition.
Assets costing less than $3,000 are expensed in the year of acquisition (other than where they form part
of a group of similar items which are significant in total).
(f)

Depreciation of non-current assets

All non-current assets having a limited useful life are systematically depreciated over their useful lives in
a manner which reflects the consumption of their future economic benefits.
Depreciation is calculated on the reducing balance and straight line basis, using rates which are
reviewed annually. Expected useful lives for each class of depreciable assets are:
Buildings
Plant and Equipment
Motor Vehicles

20 to 40 years
10 to 15 years
3 to 7 years

Works of art controlled by the Authority are classified as heritage assets. They are anticipated to have
very long and indeterminate useful lives. Their service potential has not, in any material sense, been
consumed during the reporting period. As such, no amount for depreciation has been recognised in
respect of them.
(g) Revaluation of Land, Buildings and Infrastructure
The Authority has a policy of valuing land, buildings and infrastructure at fair value. The annual
revaluations of the Authority’s land and buildings undertaken by the Valuer General’s Office is
recognised in the Financial Statements.
(h) Leases
The Authority has entered into an operating lease arrangement for the lease of motor vehicles where
the lessor effectively retains all of the risks and benefits incident to ownership of the items held under
the operating leases. Equal instalments of the lease payments are charged to the Statement of
Financial Performance over the lease term, as this is representative of the pattern of benefits to be
derived from the leased property.
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(i)

Cash

For the purpose of the Statement of Cash Flows, cash includes cash assets and restricted cash assets.
These include short-term deposits that are readily convertible to cash on hand and are subject to
insignificant risk of changes in value.
(j)

Receivables

Receivables are recognised as the amounts receivable as they are due for settlement no more than 30
days from the date of recognition.
Collectability of receivables is reviewed on an ongoing basis. Debts, which are known to be
uncollectable, are written off. A provision for doubtful debts are raised where some doubts as to
collection exists and may event where the debt is 60 days overdue.
(k)

Investments

Investments are brought to account at the lower of cost and/or recoverable amount.
Interest revenues are recognised as they are accrued.
(l)

Payables

Payables, including accruals not yet billed, are recognised when the Authority becomes obliged to make
future payments as a result of a purchase of assets or services. Payables are generally settled within 30
days.
(m) Employee benefits
Annual Leave
This benefit is recognised at the reporting date in respect to employees’ service up to that date, and is
measured at the nominal amounts, expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled.
Long service leave
The liability for long service leave expected to be settled within 12 months of the reporting date is
recognised in the provisions for employee benefits, and is measured at the nominal amounts expected
to be paid when the liability is settled. The liability for long service leave expected to be settled more
than 12 months from the reporting date is recognised in the provisions for employee benefits and is
measured at the present value of expected future payments to be made in respect of services provided
by employees up to the reporting date. Consideration is given, when assessing expected future
payments, to expected future wage and salary levels including relevant on costs, experience of
employee departures and periods of service. Expected future payments are discounted using market
yields at the reporting date on national government bonds with terms to maturity and currency, that
match, as closely as possible, the estimated future cash outflows.
Superannuation
Staff may contribute to the Pension Scheme, a defined benefits pension scheme now closed to new
members, or to the Gold State Superannuation Scheme, a defined benefit lump sum scheme now also
closed to new members. All staff who do not contribute to either of these schemes become noncontributory members of the West State Superannuation Scheme, an accumulation fund complying with
the Commonwealth Government’s Superannuation Guarantee (Administration) Act 1992. All of these
schemes are administered by the Government Employees Superannuation Board (GESB).
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On June 30 2004, unfunded liabilities relating to the Pension Schemes and the pre transfer benefit for
employees who transfer to the Goldstate superannuation scheme were assumed by the Treasurer. The
amount assumed by the Treasurer is disclosed at note 27.
The liabilities for superannuation charges under the Gold State Superannuation Scheme and West
State Superannuation Scheme are extinguished by payment of employer contributions to the GESB.
The note disclosure required by paragraph 6.10 of AASB 1028 (being the employer’s share of the
difference between employees’ accrued superannuation benefits and the attributable net market value
of plan assets) has not been provided. State scheme deficiencies are recognised by the State in its
whole of government reporting. The GESB’s records are not structured to provide the information for the
Authority. Accordingly, deriving the information for the Authority is impractical under current
arrangements, and thus any benefits thereof would be exceeded by the cost of obtaining the
information.
(n) Employee benefit on-costs
Employee benefit on-costs, including payroll tax, are recognised and included in employee benefit
liabilities and costs when the employee benefits to which they relate are recognised as liabilities and
expenses.
(o) Accrued Salaries
Accrued salaries represent the amount due to staff but unpaid at the end of the financial year, as the
end of the last pay period for that financial year does not coincide with the end of the financial year. The
Authority considers the carrying amount approximates net fair value.
(p) Resources Received Free of Charge or For Nominal Value
Resources received free of charge or for nominal value, which can be reliably measured, are
recognised as revenues and as assets or expenses as appropriate at fair value.
(q) Comparative Figures
Comparative figures are, where appropriate, reclassified so as to be comparable with the figures
presented in the current financial year.
(r)

Rounding of amounts

Amounts in the financial statements have been rounded to the nearest thousand dollars, or in certain
cases, to the nearest dollar.
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BOTANIC GARDENS AND PARKS AUTHORITY
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2004
2003-04
$

2002-03
$

Note 2. Employee expenses
Wages and salaries
Superannuation
Long service leave
Annual leave
Other related expenses (i)

4,980,015
573,505
151,326
380,165
610,681
6,695,692

4,223,669
495,087
586,299
641,452
479,610
6,426,117

(i) These employee expenses include superannuation, workers compensation premiums and other
employment on-costs associated with the recognition of annual and long service leave liability. The
related on-costs liability is included in employee benefit liabilities at Note 24.
Note 3. Supplies and services
Consultants and contractors
Other professional services
Repairs and maintenance

381,806
530,885
728,578
1,641,268

295,443
344,147
440,543
1,080,133

176,791
31,878
28,901
237,570

199,312
25,474
26,998
251,784

5,662
240,166
17,123
679,431
170,052
1,112,434

5,662
231,893
18,457
194,031
81,588
531,631

Note 4. Leasing costs
Motor vehicles
Plant and equipment
Other

Note 5. Depreciation expense
Residences
Buildings
Motor vehicles
Plant and Equipment (i)
Monuments and special assets
Total Depreciation

(i) Bores, pumps and irrigation were first recognised in 2003-2004 resulting in an increase in
depreciation of $0.4m.
Note 6. Administration expenses
Communications
Insurance
Other

163,342
153,808
198,300
515,449
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2003-04
$
Note 7. Capital User Charge
Capital user charge

2,982,930

2002-03
$

2,663,500

A capital user charge rate of 8% has been set by the Government for 2003-04 and represents the
opportunity cost of capital invested in the net assets of the Authority used in the provision of outputs.
The charge is calculated on the net assets adjusted to take account of exempt assets. Payments are
made to the Department of Treasury and Finance on a quarterly basis.
Note 8. Net gain/(losses) on disposal of non-current assets
Gain on Disposal of Non-Current Assets
Motor Vehicles
Plant and Equipment

-

1,364
16,874

Loss on Disposal of Non-Current Assets
Plant and equipment
Monuments and Special Items
Buildings

(13,203)
-

(1,858)
(722)
(20,210)

Net gain/(loss)

(13,203)

(4,552)

811,581
182,643
55,912
1,050,135

751,005
187,317
49,177
987,499

37,794
37,794

49,400
49,400

9,217
17,401
62,935
89,553

6,760
42,505
31,435
80,700

Note 9. Other expenses from ordinary activities
Consumable supplies
Electricity
Plant and equipment less than $3,000

Note 10. User charges and fees
Infringements

Note 11. Sale of Goods and Services
Sale of plants, seeds, books, plans and diagrams
Other sales of goods and services
Consultancy fees received
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2003-04
$
Note 12. Rent and License Fees
Commercial restaurant rents
Licensees holders fees
Booking fees
Bond
Admission fees
Merchandising/direct sales
Direct cost recovery
Exhibitor fees

2002-03
$

280,604
68,531
104,257
11,000
347,183
47,932
35,193
12,826
907,525

836,488
37,774
103,719
25,500
234,510
91,157
24,529
9,924
1,363,601

15,725
56,226
20,760
92,711

15,000
77,251
9,000
101,251

227,624
491,016
97,692
816,332

123,778
604,429
315,595
1,043,802

372,222

356,804

Note 13. Commonwealth grants and contributions
Restoration of seagrass
ARC
RAAF Pearse

Note 14. Other revenues from ordinary activities
Recoups
Sponsorships
Miscellaneous revenue

Note 15. Grants and Subsidies
Grants and subsidies
Note 16. Extraordinary Items
Loss of Works in Progress expenses

(1,108,291)
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2003-04
$
Note 17. Revenues from State Government

2002-03
$

Appropriation revenue received during the year:
Output appropriations (i)

10,987,000
10,987,000

7,941,000
7,941,000

Resources received free of charge (ii)
Determined on the basis of the following estimates provided by agencies:
Office of the Auditor General (iii)
Crown Solicitors Office
Department of Health

5,237
18,500
23,737

18,500
8,305
3,500
30,305

11,010,737

7,971,305

(i) Output appropriations are accrual amounts reflecting the full cost of outputs delivered. The

appropriation revenue comprises a cash component and a receivable (asset). The receivable (holding
account) comprises the depreciation expense for the year and any agreed increase in leave liability
during the year.
(ii) Where assets or services have been received free of charge or for nominal consideration, the

Authority recognises revenues (except where the contribution of assets or services is in the nature of
contributions by owners, in which case the Authority shall make a direct adjustment to equity)
equivalent to the fair value of the assets and/or the fair value of those services that can be reliably
determined and which would have been purchased if not donated, and those fair values shall be
recognised as assets or expenses, as applicable.
(iii) Commencing with the 2003-04 audit, the Office of the Auditor General will be charging a fee for

auditing accounts, financial statements and performance indicators. The fee for the 2003-04 audit
($22,500) will be due and payable in the 2004-05 financial year.
Note 18. Cash Resources
General operating account
Term deposit
Cash on hand

347,055
3,000,000
1,150
3,348,205

1,485,758
5,500,000
1,150
6,986,908

454,504

484,992

48,550
503,054

48,439
533,431

Note 19. Restricted cash assets
External research grants
Donations account - tax deductible donations Fieldman
Foundation

Cash held to be used for the purpose of the specific projects provided.
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2003-04
$
Note 20. Receivables
Current
Trade debtors
Infringements
Grant debtors
GST receivable

2002-03
$

78,714
17,037
108,173
145,921
349,845

45,104
20,661
95,666
107,561
268,992

1,099,000
1,099,000

608,000
359,000
967,000

Note 21. Amounts receivable for outputs
Current
Non-current

This asset represents the non-cash component of output appropriations. It is restricted in that it can
only be used for asset replacement.
Note 22. Other assets
Current
Prepayments
Accrued Income
Other

5,852
33,552
12,712
52,116

5,692
16,918
12,712
35,322

5,606,704
(2,166,947)
3,439,757

2,758,885
(1,631,986)
1,126,899

298,926
(195,918)
103,008

284,572
(178,795)
105,777

14,555,000
14,555,000

14,050,000
14,050,000

9,667,174
(2,999,838)
6,667,336

9,450,694
(2,779,992)
6,670,702

Note 23. Property, plant, equipment and vehicles
Plant and equipment
At carrying value
Accumulated depreciation

Vehicles
At carrying value
Accumulated depreciation

Freehold land
At fair value (i)

Buildings
At cost
Accumulated depreciation
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2003-04
$
Residences
At cost
226,471
Accumulated depreciation
(85,310)
141,161
Monuments and special items
At cost
Accumulated depreciation

Assets under construction
Construction costs
Cost
Fair value
Accumulated depreciation

2002-03
$
226,471
(79,648)
146,823

7,507,450
(577,794)
6,929,656

3,708,096
(408,404)
3,299,692

4,185,337

4,904,771

27,492,062
14,555,000
(6,025,807)
36,021,256

21,333,489
14,050,000
(5,078,825)
30,304,664

(i) The revaluation of freehold land was performed in June 2004 in accordance with an independent

valuation by the Valuer General's Office. Fair value has been determined on the basis of current
market buying values The valuation was made in accordance with a regular policy of annual
revaluation.
Reconciliations
Reconciliations of the carrying amounts of property, plant, equipment, vehicles at the beginning and the end
of the current financial year are set out below.

Opening Carrying Value
Additions
Disposals/Transfers
Depreciation Expense
Revaluation Increments
Adjustment to Assets Under Construction
Carrying amount at end of year

Opening Carrying Value
Additions
Disposals/Transfers
Depreciation Expense
Revaluation Increments
Adjustment to Assets Under Construction
Carrying amount at end of year

Land
14,050,000
505,000
14,555,000

Residences
146,823
(5,662)
141,161

Buildings
6,670,702
270,385
(53,905)
(219,846)
6,667,336

Vehicles
105,777
14,354
(17,123)
103,008

Plant and
Equipment

Monuments
and Special
Items

Non-Current
Assets Under
Construction

TOTAL

1,126,899
2,995,059
(162,317)
(519,884)
3,439,757

3,299,692
3,801,819
(2,465)
(169,389)
6,929,657

4,904,771
7,225,514
(3,608,330)
(4,336,618)
4,185,337

30,304,664
16,209,848
(5,686,474)
(975,164)
505,000
(4,336,618)
36,021,256
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2003-04
$
Note 24. Payables
Current
Trade Payables
Other

2002-03
$

616,610
7,082
623,693

96,065
96,065

567,607
223,682
791,289

504,409
245,784
311,868
1,062,061

506,672
506,672

384,337
1,093,048
1,477,385

Note 25. Provisions
Current
Annual leave (i)
Long service leave (i)
Superannuation (ii)
Non-current
Long service leave (i)
Superannuation (ii)

(i) The settlement of annual and long service leave liabilities gives rise to the payment of employment
on-costs including superannuation, payroll tax and workers compensation premiums. The liability for
such on-costs is included here. Other related expenses (under employees expenses) at Note 2.
(ii) On 30 June 2004, unfunded liabilities relating to the Pension schemes and the pre transfer benefits
for employees who transferred to the Gold State Superannuation Scheme were assumed by the
Treasurer. An expense equivalent to the movement in this liability during the financial year has been
included in Employee Expenses in the Statement of Financial Performance.
The Authority considers the carrying amount of employee benefits approximates the net fair value.
Employee Benefit Liability
The aggregate employee benefit liability recognised and included in the financial statements is as
follows:
Provision for employee benefits:
Current
Non-current

791,289
506,672
1,297,961

1,062,061
1,477,385
2,539,446

113,532
1,135,345
172,215
1,421,092

100,185
240,184
137,747
200
478,316

Note 26. Other Liabilities
Accrued Taxation Liabilities
Accrued Expenses
Accrued Salaries
Other
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2003-04
$
Note 27. Equity
Contributed equity
Opening balance
Capital contributions (i)
Assumed liabilities by the Treasurer (ii)
Closing Balance

11,812,000
3,550,000
1,410,289
16,772,289

2002-03
$

7,662,000
4,150,000
11,812,000

(i) Capital Contributions have been designated as contributions by owners and are credited directly to
equity in the Statement of Financial Position.
(ii) Assumption of Superannuation liabilities by the Treasurer (refer notes 1(m) and 25.)
Reserves
Asset Revaluation Reserve: (i)
Opening Balance
Net revaluation increments:
Land
Other Non-current assets
Closing Balance

15,778,994

15,517,294

505,000

261,700

16,283,994

15,778,994

(i) The asset revaluation reserve is used to record increments and decrements on the revaluation of
non-current assets, as described in accounting policy Note 1.
Accumulated surplus
Opening Balance
Change in net assets
Closing Balance

8,391,496
(3,417,049)
4,974,447
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2003-04
$
Note 28. Notes to the Statement of Cash Flows

2002-03
$

(a) Reconciliation of cash
Cash at the end of the financial year as shown in the Statement of Cash Flows is reconciled to the
related items in the statement of Financial Position as follows:
Cash assets
Restricted cash assets (refer to note 17)

3,348,205
503,054
3,851,259

6,986,908
533,431
7,520,339

(b) Reconciliation of net cost of services to net cash flows used in operating activities
Net cost of services
Non cash items:
Depreciation expense
Resources received free of charge
(Profit)/loss on sale of property, plant and equipment
Other current assets
Increase/(decrease) in liabilities
Current payables
Current provisions
Other current liabilities
Non-current provisions

Net GST receipts/(payment)
Net cash provided by/(used in) operating activities

(13,319,495)

(10,129,688)

1,112,434
23,737
13,203

531,631
30,305
4,552

(16,794)

(3,099)

527,628
(270,773)
942,776
(970,713)

(368,418)
262,706
306,846
(18,578)

(97,949)
(12,136,801)

(340,943)
(9,367,690)

(c) At the reporting date, the Authority had fully drawn on all financing facilities, details of
which are disclosed in the Financial Statements.
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2003-04
$

2002-03
$

Note 29. Commitments for Expenditure
(a) Capital expenditure commitments
Capital expenditure commitments, being contracted capital expenditure additional to the amounts
reported in the Financial Statements, are payable as follows:
Within 1 year
Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years
Later than 5 years.

3,825,000
8,065,000
20,093,000

10,278,000
6,472,000
16,750,000

The capital commitments include amounts for all capital works projects.
(b) Lease Commitments
Commitments in relation to leases contracted for at the reporting date but not yet recognised as
liabilities, are payable as follows:
Within 1 year
Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years

78,267
50,505
128,772

116,911
61,940
178,851

Note 30. Events occurring after reporting date
No circumstances have arisen since the end of the financial year which significantly affected or may
significantly affect the operations of the Botanic Gardens and Parks Authority, the results of those
operations or the state of affairs of the Authority in subsequent financial years.
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Note 31. Explanatory Statement
(i) Significant variation between estimates and actual results for the financial year.
Details and reasons for significant variations between estimates and actual results are detailed below.
Significant variations are considered to be those greater than 10% or $1,000,000.

Supplies and services
Depreciation expense
Administration expenses
Net loss on disposal of non-current assets
Capital works expenses
Commonwealth grants and contributions
Grants and subsidies
Proceeds from disposal of non-current assets
Interest revenue
Other Revenues from ordinary activities

2003-04
Actual
$
1,636,092
1,112,434
507,959
13,203
1,743,710
92,711
372,222
295,703
866,787

2003-04
Estimates
$
2,509,000
740,000
106,000
2,000,000
550,000
20,000
200,000
173,000

Variance
$
(872,908)
372,434
401,959
13,203
(256,290)
92,711
(177,778)
(20,000)
95,703
693,787

Supplies and services
Due to delays in various capital works projects such as the Kings Park and Bold Park Bushland
Management Project, Plant Conservation Centre and Reabold Hill has resulted in a decrease in
expenditure in the area of supplies and services.
Depreciation Expense
The increase in actual expenditure in depreciation expense is due to the addition of assets such as
irrigation, pumps and bores in the current financial year, they had not been previously recognised as
assets.
Administration Expense
The significant increase in administration expense is due to the increase in insurance premiums and
grants and subsidies expenses which was not budgeted.
Net loss on disposal of non-current assets
The increase in net loss in disposal of non-current assets is due to the disposal of a John Deere Lawn
Mower.
Capital Works Expenses
The decrease in actual expenditure is primarily due to the delays in capital works projects such as
Bushland Management for Kings Park and Bold Park, Reabold Hill and the Ecology Centre whereby it
was anticipated that these projects would be completed within the financial year.
Commonwealth Grants
The increase in actual expenditure is due to the unbudgeted Commonwealth Grants received
throughout the year.
Grants and subsidies
The decrease in actual expenditure is due to the lower dollar value of external grants received.
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Interest Revenue
Actual expenditure is higher than budget due to the delays in the capital works program as funds for
these projects are held in the Term Deposit.
Interest Revenue
The actual increase is due to additional sponsorship funds received from Western Power and
Lotterywest.
(ii) Significant variation between actual revenues and expenditures for the financial year and
and revenues and expenditures for the immediately preceding financial year.
Details and reasons for significant variations between actual results with the corresponding times of
the preceding year are detailed below. Significant variations are considered to be those greater than
10% or $1,000,000.
2003-04
2002-03
Variance
$
$
Supplies and services
1,641,268
1,080,133
561,135
Depreciation Expense
1,112,434
531,631
580,803
Administration Expense
515,449
386,165
129,284
Net loss on disposal of non-current assets
13,203
4,552
8,651
Capital Works Expenses
1,743,719
1,170,213
573,506
User Charges and Fees
37,794
49,400
(11,606)
Rents and license fees
907,525
1,363,601
(456,076)
Donations
61,065
16,166
44,899
Grants and subsidies
372,222
356,804
15,417
Interest Revenue
295,703
360,183
(64,480)
Other Revenues from ordinary activities
816,332
1,043,801
(227,469)
Output Appropriation
10,987,000
7,941,000
3,046,000
Resources Received Free of Charge
23,737
30,305
(6,568)
Supplies and services
The increase in supplies and services is primarily due to the increase in spending in repairs and
maintenance of the cafes and restaurants within Kings Park and plant and equipment. Consultant
costs for the Mount Eliza Scarp, bushland management and the IT strategic review have also
contributed to the increase.
Depreciation Expense
The increase in depreciation expense is due to the addition of assets such as irrigation, pumps and
bores in the current financial year, they had not been previously recognised as assets.
Administration Expense
The increase in administration expense is due to the increase in insurance premiums and grants and
subsidies expenses as compared to the previous financial year.
Net loss on disposal of non-current assets
The increase in net loss in disposal of non-current assets is due to the disposal of a John Deere Lawn
Mower.
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Capital Works Expenses
The increase in capital works expenses is due to the increase in work completed in the area of
bushland management within Kings Park and Botanic Gardens and Bold Park.
User Charges and Fees
The reduction in user charges and fees is primarily due to a reduction in infringements revenue, this
has been a result of a change in the role of the Park Management Officers.
Rents and Licence Fees
The reduction in rents and license fees is primarily due to the finalisation of the ATR loan of $0.6m for
Frasers Restaurant in November 2002.
Donations
Donations has increased within the Authority since the opening of the Lotterywest Federation
Walkway, resulting in an increase in donations, through the Friends of Kings Park.
Grants and subsidies
The increase is due to an increase in the number of external grants received in the current financial
year.
Interest Revenue
the decrease in interest revenue earned, as compared to the previous financial year is primarily due to
the lower cash amount held in the Term Deposit Account for the capital works program.

Other Revenue from Ordinary Activities
The decrease in other revenue from ordinary activities is due to a decrease in sponsorships received
for various capital works projects.
Output Appropriation
The increase in output appropriation is due to the increase in funds provided by state government for
cost and demand pressures and expensing of capital works such as restoring and maintaining of
bushland management within Kings Park and Bold Park.
Resources Received Free of Charge
The decrease is primarily due to a decrease in legal fees provided free of charge by the State
Solicitors Office.
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Note 32. Financial Instruments
a) Net Fair Value of financial assets and liabilities
The Authority considers the carrying amounts of all financial instruments approximate their net fair value.
(b) Interest Rate exposure risk
The Authority's exposure to interest rate risk, repricing maturities and the effective interest rates on financial
instruments as at reporting date are:
Weighted
Variable
Less Than 1
Average
Effective
Interest Rate
Year
Interest Rate
%
$
$

2004
Financial Assets
Cash Assets
Restricted Cash
Assets
Receivables

4.75

348,205

0.05

Total Financial Assets

348,205

Financial Liabilities
Payables
Provisions

Financial Assets

-

503,054
-

-

-

3,503,054

Financial Liabilities

1,486,908
-

-

-

-

4.50

$

-

-

-

-

-

-

1 to 5
years
$
-

503,054
349,845

349,845

,201,104

623,693
1,297,960

623,693
1,297,960

1,921,653

$
-

-

268,992
2,635,509

(c) Credit Risk
The carrying amount of financial assets recorded in the financial statements, net of any provisions for losses,
represents the Authority's maximum exposure to risk.
d) Net Fair Values
The carrying amount of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded in the financial statements are not
materially different from their net fair values, determined in accordance with the accounting policies disclosed in
note 1 to the financial statements.
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3,348,205

349,845

More than 5 Non Interest
Years
Bearing
$

Total
$

-

-

6,033,431
-

$

-

Weighted
Average
Variable
Less Than 1
Effective
Interest Rate
Year
Interest Rate
%
$
$

2003

$

More than 5 Non Interest
Years
Bearing

3,000,000

-

Total Financial Liabilties

1 to 5
years

1,921,653

Total
$
7,789,331
2,635,509
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Note 33. Remuneration of Members of the Accountable Authority and Senior Officers
Remuneration of Members of the Accountable Authority
The number of members of the Accountable Authority whose total of fees, salaries, superannuation
and for the financial year, fall within the following bands are:
2003-04
$
$0 - $10,000
$10,001 - $13,000
The total remuneration of the members of the Accountable
Authority is:

2002-03
$
7
1

12
0

47,437

35,494

The superannuation included here represents the superannuation expense incurred by the Authority in
respect of members of the Accountable Authority.
No members of the Accountable Authority are members of the Pension Scheme.
Remuneration of Senior Officers
The number of Senior Officers other than senior officers reported as members of the Accountable
Authority, whose total of fees, salaries, superannuation and other benefits for the financial year, fall
within the following bands are:
$40,001 - $50,000
$80,001 - $90,000
$100,001 - $110,000
$110,001 - $120,000
$130,001 - $140,000
The total remuneration of senior officers is:

0
0
1
2
1

1
1
2
0
1

477,356

468,361

The superannuation included here represents the superannuation expense incurred by the Authority in
respect of Senior Officers other than senior officers reported as members of the Accountable Authority.
No Senior Officers are members of the Pension Scheme.
Note 34. Supplementary Financial Information
Write-Offs
Public property written off by the Minister during the financial
year
-
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Note 35. Output Information
Output 1
Output 2
Customer Services and Conservation & Scientific
Cultural Heritage
Research
2003-2004 2002-2003
$
$

2003-2004
$

COST OF SERVICES
Expenses from ordinary activities
Employee expenses
Supplies and services
Leasing costs
Depreciation and expense
Administration expenses
Capital user charge
Net loss on disposal of non-current assets
Other expenses from ordinary activities
Capital works expenditure
Total cost of services

3,877,389
1,080,044
142,559
1,000,093
190,372
2,185,295
13,203
575,389
531,792
9,596,136

3,920,870
852,608
157,045
448,078
208,128
1,959,718
2,182
663,867
767,894
8,980,390

2,818,303
561,224
95,011
112,340
325,077
797,635
474,747
1,211,927
6,396,265

Revenues from ordinary activities
User charges and fees
Goods and services
Rents and license Fees
Commonwealth grants and contributions
Interest revenue
Donations
Other revenues from ordinary activities
Grants and subsidies
Total revenues from ordinary activities

37,794
2,797
907,525
285,208
60,129
727,274
66,000
2,086,727

49,400
32,828
1,363,562
266,536
11,170
919,948
64,428
2,707,871

86,756
92,711
10,495
935
89,058
306,222
586,178

NET COST OF SERVICES

(7,509,409) (6,272,519)

REVENUES FROM GOVERNMENT
Appropriations
Resources received free of charge
Total revenue from Government

6,974,671
23,515
6,998,186

6,528,476
24,804
6,553,280

Change in net assets before extraordinary items

(511,223)

280,761

Adjustment recognised directly against equity

(1,108,291)

-

CHANGE IN NET ASSETS

(1,619,514)

280,761

Net increase in asset revaluation reserve
Total changes in equity other than those resulting
from transactions with WA State Government
as owners

435,000

204,335

(1,184,514)
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485,096

2002-2003
$

Total
2003-2004 2002-2003
$
$

2,505,247
6,695,692 6,426,117
227,525
1,641,268 1,080,133
94,739
237,570
251,784
83,553
1,112,434
531,631
178,037
515,449
386,165
703,782
2,982,930 2,663,500
2,370
13,203
4,552
323,632
1,050,136
987,499
402,319
1,743,719 1,170,213
4,521,204 15,992,401 13,501,594

47,872
39
101,251
93,648
4,996
123,853
292,377
664,035

37,794
89,553
907,525
92,711
295,703
61,064
816,332
372,222
2,672,905

49,400
80,700
1,363,601
101,251
360,183
16,166
1,043,801
356,804
3,371,906

(5,810,087) (3,857,169) (13,319,496)(10,129,688)

4,012,329
222
4,012,551

1,412,524 10,987,000
5,500
23,737
1,418,024 11,010,737

7,941,000
30,305
7,971,305

(1,797,536) (2,439,145) (2,308,760) (2,158,383)
-

-

(1,108,291)

-

(1,797,536) (2,439,145) (1,200,469) (2,158,383)
70,000

57,365

505,000

261,700

(1,727,536) (2,381,780) (2,912,049) (1,896,683)
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Note 36. The Impact of Adopting International Accounting Standards
The Botanic Gardens and Parks Authority is adopting international accounting standards in
compliance with AASB 1 First-time Adoption of Australian Equivalents to International Financial
Reporting Standards (IFRS).
AASB 1 requires an opening balance sheet as at 1 July 2004 and the restatement of the financial
statements for the financial statements for the reporting period to 30 June 2005 of the IFRS basis.
These financial statements will be presented as comparatives in the first annual financial report
prepared on an IFRS basis for the period ending 20 June 2006.
AASB 1047 Disclosing the Impacts of Adopting Australian Equivalents to International Financial
Reporting Standards requires financial reports for periods ending on or after 30 June 2004 to disclose:
1. How the transition to Australian equivalents to IFRS is being managed:
Staff training will be provided by the Department of Treasury and Finance.
2. Key differences in accounting policies that are expected to arise from adopting Australian
equivalents to IFRS.
The Botanic Gardens and Parks Authority is aware of the IFRS and is assessing the impact on the
Agency. In the near future training will be provided by the Department of Treasury and Finance.
Currently there are no key differences in the accounting policies that are expected to arise from
adopting Australian equivalents to IFRS.

114

ANNUAL REPORT

feedback form

The Botanic Gardens and Parks Authority is interested in your feedback and comments, regarding the
2003/2004 Annual Report. This will help us to improve the report in the future and make it more
informative to our readers.
In general terms, how would you rate the Annual Report?

Excellent

Very Good

Average

In what ways do you think the Annual Report could be improved?

Other comments?

Thank you for your feedback.

Please return this form to:
Director, Corporate and Business Services
Botanic Gardens and Parks Authority
Fraser Avenue
West Perth WA 6005
Facsimile: (618) 9322 5064
Alternatively, you can email your comments to: enquiries@bgpa.wa.gov.au

Poor

